
18 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT



DHG PHARMA RESPECTS
DHG PHARMA 
through stories

It has been 45 years, a period that is neither too short nor 
too long for the history of development of a company.  
Having established and developed since the Resistance,  
DHG Pharma’s solidarity has been featured as its pride.  
DHG Pharma’s profound gratitude goes to the previous 
generations who have made remarkable contributions to the 
present DHG Pharma - the Hero of Labor and the internationally 
certified pharmaceutical company.

To gain such a position, achievements, 
medals, certificates of world-class quality 
control system, DHG Pharma, with great 
honor, would like to show our sincere 
gratitude and gratefulness to all of our 
staffs, partners, shareholders, investors 
and especially our customers who 
have popularized and made the brand  
DHG Pharma an integral part domestically 
as well as globally. 

DHG Pharma always appreciates the past 
with brilliant historical milestones, with 
sweat - effort - will and the valuable 
present “Cultural Identity” inherited from 
one generation to another. DHG Pharma 
strongly believes that “We succeeded, so 
we will definitely succeed because we 
have already determined our development 
path appropriately”. Regardless of any 
phases, the will - intelligence - identity and  
DHG Pharma’s staffs have been cultivated 
and brightened so that we can pave the 
way to the everlastingness of the brand 
name DHG Pharma with the vision “For a 
more beautiful and healthier life”.
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WITH THE   DHG PHARMA  

Over the past 45 years, DHG Pharma, though 

functioning in pharmaceutical production and 

business, has always viewed itself a dynamic 

member of the public health industry. It is  

DHG Pharma’s pride and happiness to 

accompany the industry to commemorate 

many activities, especially the cheerful and 

meaningful events for our valuable customers 

on the Vietnamese Doctors’ Day, 27 Feb. 
More importantly, more than 3,000  

DHG Pharma’s staffs are living well, 

working efficiently for the scheduled 

remarkable objective “Cooperation and 

Prosperity” with our valuable clients, 

joining hands together for a more 

beautiful and healthier life.

It 
is vividly unforgettable that the three-year period starting from 2004 

witnessed the event called “DHG Pharma with Doctors’ Day” organized 

by the company right after Tet aiming to honor  “white blouse” heroes 

as well as heroines and respecting public healthcare career. Back then, 

the event organization was not as prominent as it is now; however,  

DHG Pharma was courageous enough to organize the “differently 

outstanding” event which thoroughly produced a stir in pharmaceutical 

industry in general and the media and events industry in particular.

The success of the event went far beyond 

what DHG Pharma had expected thanks to 

the enthusiastic participation of approximately 

6,000 customers including doctors, pharmacists, 

drug stores’ owners nationwide from Lang Son to 

Ca Mau province. The event left and impressed 

the participants with its large and imposing scale, 

Vietnamese traditional games and some smaller-

in size models simulating One-pillar Pagoda, 

Thien Mu Pagoda, Ben Thanh Market, Can Tho 

Bridge. Interestingly, these models were made 

from the popular products of DHG Pharma. The 

most noticeable differentiation of the event laid, 

perhaps, in intellectual and manual joint efforts of 

DHG Pharma’s staffs who closely managed every 

single thing from ideas, script, design, cuisine to 

stage decoration.  

DHG Pharma is always fully aware that there 

must be an urgent need of creating incomparable 

differentiation if the company would like to 

leap forward and succeed. The outstanding 

differentiation can be seen from labeling, sale 

service to customer care service; DHG Pharma 

continuously seeks for unique strategies, renews its 

image through each program and event, but never 

satisfies with what the company has achieved. 

These are really what DHG Pharma wish to share 

and keep a high hope of being even more stable on 

its development path. 

Spring has gently left its place for the other 

seasons, and the activities for our clients, partners, 

customers and staffs have been fulfilled. Hopefully, 

this story conveyed to all of you will be a meaningful 

gift, a special thanks to Vietnamese doctors.

2.9

OUTSTANDING         

DIFFERENTIATION 
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Building the whole personnel who are excellent at professional 
knowledge and characteristics fulfilment, bettering the staffs’ spiritual 
life, sharing with communities through meaningful and practical social 
activities are the typical culture of DHG Pharma. This serves as the 
company’s strength in competitions and the firm foundation for the 
sustainable development of DHG Pharma.

BUILDING THE DISTINGUISHING IDENTITY

For years, DHG Pharma has perseveringly 
built its unique corporate culture.  
DHG Pharma has promulgated and 
gradually perfected the regulations for 
the staffs’ ethical standards and culture 
such as ways of eating, dressing, living, 
word use, manner, etc. These regulations 
are well suited with our time-honored 
tradition like nodding heads, smiling 
when seeing each other; offering seats 
for the elderly or women accompanied 
with young children, men politely offering 
seats for women, saying sorry and thank 
you appropriately; avoiding swear words, 
seriocomic sentences to communicate 
with clients; avoid eating while walking; 
avoiding littering, etc. These compulsory 
regulations at the beginning have 
gradually formed the habit, awareness 
and reflexes amongst the staffs, creating 
a fine lifestyle and culture.

THE STAFFS’ RICH SPIRITUAL LIFE

At DHG Pharma, the Labor Union and 
other Unions are thoughtfully taking care 
of the staffs by frequently organizing 
picnics, games, health-related talks, art 
performances and sport competitions, etc. 
These activities strengthen the bonds and 
bring the staffs the sense of belonging to 
DHG Pharma.

The typical activity which has become a 
custom of DHG Pharma for years is the 
chain of activities to welcome Tet Holiday. 
Annually, the Company organizes the Year-
end Ceremony and Staff meeting, the year-
end meeting program aims at the summary 
report and information exchange between 
management boards and the staffs. 
Besides, there are art performances, sports 
competitions held for them after a hard 
working year and welcome a happy Tet.

Particularly, each staff is offered with a 
gift consisting of some necessities such 
as rice, sticky rice, cakes, jams, fish sauce, 
sausage, dried shrimp, etc. Additionally, 
some products of the company are 
indispensable in the gift basket.  
For example, Cozz candy helps keep 
a warm and unstuffed throat as well 
as maintain fragrant mouth; reduces 
coughing, sore throat and hoarse.  
Hati honey - ginger tea prevents flatulence, 
vomit, chill on the stomach. 

On this occasion, the Labor Union also visits 
and offers gifts to retired staffs, showing 
the company’s gratitude to the ones who 
made contributions to the achievement 
and development of DHG Pharma today.

CORPORATE CULTURE WITH
BUILDING 

DHG PHARMA 
through stories
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1974 

 
ESTABLISHED 
AND WAS 
FORMERLY THE 2/9 
PHARMACEUTICAL 
SOE FACTORY AT  
U MINH, CA MAU.

1997 

 
THE YEAR OF THE 
FOREMOST THINGS

The first year 
leading Vietnam 
pharmaceutical 
industry.

One of the first Vietnam 
enterprises having 
the factory with GMP 
ASEAN standard.

2004 

 
EQUITIZATION 
OF HAU GIANG 
PHARMACEUTICAL 
INTEGRATED 
FACTORY
 
Equitized to become 
DHG Pharmaceutical 
Joint Stock Company 
- a prelude to the 
development stage. 
Charter capital: VND 80 
billion.

Declared the mission 
and 7 core values.

2006 

 
LISTED ON HO 
CHI MINH STOCK 
EXCHANGE (HOSE) 
   
DHG Pharma’s brand 
reputation and value 
were enhanced through 
the successful issuance 
of 2 million shares.

Achieved WHO-GMP / 
GLP / GSP standards.

2014 

 
10 YEARS AFTER 
EQUITIZATION  
   
18 consecutive years 
leading Vietnam 
pharmaceutical industry.

Celebrated 40th years  
of establishing  
DHG Pharmaceutical 
Joint Stock Company 
and 10 years of 
equitization.

2018 

 
INTEGRATION WITH 
STRATEGIC PARTNERS  
   
Lifting the foreign 
ownership limit (FOL) 
at DHG Pharma from 
49% to 100% of charter 
capital.

PIC/s - GMP and Japan 
- GMP standards were 
granted for production 
lines.

45 years for the mission of improving 
people’s health. DHG Pharma has proudly 
become a pioneer in social activities that 
have made meaningful contributions to the 
society. Its journey to become a symbol of 
humanity, through endlessly challenging, 
has never been an obstacle to  
DHG Pharma. Such a strong determination 
has been fueled by a firm belief that the 
construction of a sustainably strong 
company with sufficient internal strengths 
must be well established on the foundation 
of the community.

45 YEARS - THE JOURNEY
FOR A MORE BEAUTIFUL AND HEALTHIER LIFE
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Promoting the creative 
strength, the spirit of  
enthusiasm of all employees 
with the cooperation with 
domestic and foreign strategic 
partners will open for  
DHG Pharma new opportunities 
in production and business, 
aiming at the development goal 
that is strong growth and 
outreach to international markets. 

Chairman of the Board of Directors

NGUYEN CHI THANH

quality certification, DHG Pharma products will soon 
be available in Japan - the second largest consumer 
of drugs in the world - as well as accessible across 
Southeast Asia. In the near future, DHG Pharma 
will continue to upgrade a series of its remaining 
production lines to match international standards, 
in order to increase the Company’s pharmaceutical 
portfolio to outreach the global market. In 2018, 
DHG Pharma also received many noble prizes such 
as Top 10 Best Annual Reports; 1 in 3 companies 
that won the ASEAN Best Corporate Governance 
Award; The only Pharmaceutical Company in the 
Top 40 Most Valuable Brands in Vietnam.

Entering 2019, DHG Pharma will continue to promote 
its spirit of initiative, creativity, research and 
application of scientific advances; confidently bring 
advanced technology into production and business 
activities; constantly improve corporate governance 
capacity and service quality to meet the increasing 
demands of customers. The Company will also strive 
to achieve a net revenue target of VND 3,943 billion. 
With the determination of all employees along with 
the close direction of the Board of Directors and the 
Board of Management, DHG Pharma believes that 
it will achieve positive achievements in 2019.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of DHG 
Pharma, I would like to thank our valued customers, 
shareholders, the authorities of Can Tho City and 
the Ministry of Health for their support, contribution 
and trust in DHG Pharma in the past year. We wish 
to continue receiving your positive support in the 
future.

Best regards.

In 2018, the global economy in general and the 
pharmaceutical industry in particular still faced 
many challenges when the international trade 
market featured numerous hidden and unpredictable 
changes; as such, domestic Pharmaceutical 
companies encountered highly competitive pressure 
from foreign pharmaceutical companies. In this 
context, all employees of DHG Pharma have actively 
strived to fulfill the targets assigned by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of Directors 
has always closely cooperated with the Board 
of Management to direct closely production and 
business activities, which enabled the Company 
to achieve encouraging results. At the end of 2018, 
the net revenue was VND 3,882 billion, with profit 
before tax reaching VND 732 billion. With such an 
accomplishment, DHG Pharma continued to hold 
the leading position in Vietnam’s pharmaceutical 
industry for 22 consecutive years.

In conjunction with these achieved results from 
production and business activities, DHG Pharma, 
with a long history of 45 years, confidently affirms 
its position to deal with the ups and downs of 
historical milestones. The Company is brave 
enough to overcome the challenges of the market, 
reputable enough to affirm the brand identity 
with continuous changes, and especially strong 
enough to continuously and steadily develop in 
a sustainable manner. All of these confidently 
lead its ways towards the future. Along that road, 
DHG Pharma has accumulated strong foundation 
values that few enterprises have experienced: a 
well-experienced human resource working with 
dedication and strong commitment; a widespread 
and deep distribution system across the country, 
a professional management system that is close 
to international standards. All of these are great 
motivation for DHG Pharma to continue its 
development in the next period to reach further on 
its journey to expand in international markets.  

In the past year, DHG Pharma has established a 
product introduction channel specialized in clinics, 
currently present in 34 provinces and cities. Product 
quality of DHG Pharma is strictly complied with 
domestic and foreign standards. With international 

Dear Shareholders, Investors, Customers, 
Partners and Employees, 

2 018 has come to an end with 
constant efforts of all employees of  
DHG Pharma, aiming to celebrate 

the 45th anniversary of its foundation - 
marking an important milestone of nearly 
half a decade of delivering whole-hearted 
services and commitment from the medical 
sector to the community with the mission   
“For a more beautiful and healthier life”.

MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN OF  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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FROM THE HISTORICAL VALUE

Over 45 years of establishment and development, the historical 
values that constitute DHG Pharma brand have marked important 
milestones in the development of the Company, featuring its ups and 
downs. Until today, these milestones have always been treasured as 
historical vestiges and transferred from the previous generations to 

the current as well as future ones.



The Company’s name in English : DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company

Abbreviation : DHG Pharma

Stock sticker : DHG (listed on HOSE)

Head office : 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu, An Hoa Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Cantho City

Charter capital VND 1,307,460,710,000

Owner’s equity (as at 31 Dec 2018) : VND 3,144,262,109,231

Telephone : (+84) 2923 891 433

Fax : (+84) 2923 895 209

Email : dhgpharma@dhgpharma.com.vn

Website : www.dhgpharma.com.vn

Certificate of business registration 
and tax code : 1800156801 

CÔNG TY CỔ PHẦN DƯỢC HẬU GIANG

DHG PHARMA  
AT A GLANCE
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NET REVENUE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
2014 - 2018

INDICATORS FIGURES IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Income statement

Net revenue VND billion 3,913  3,608    3,783    4,063    3,882   

Gross profit VND billion  2,131    1,413    1,713    1,783    1,717   

Profit before tax VND billion  722    701    757    719    732   

Profit after tax VND billion  534    593    689    642    651   

Profit of shareholders of the parent 
company

VND billion  533    589    686    642    653   

Balance sheet

Total assets VND billion  3,483    3,363    3,945    4,087    4,206   

Current assets VND billion  2,386    2,221    2,746    2,939    3,148   

Non-currents assets VND billion  1,096    1,142    1,199    1,148    1,058   

Liabilities VND billion  1,189    842    1,076    1,328    1,062   

Owner’s equity VND billion  2,294    2,521    2,870    2,759    3,144   

Charter capital VND billion  872    872    872    1,307    1,307   

Cash flow

Net cash inflows from operating 
activities

VND billion  301    475    645    460    291   

Net cash outflows from investing 
activities

VND billion -334   -369   -278   -192   -461   

Net cash outflows from financing 
activities

VND billion -82   -183   -185   -322   -304   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents

VND billion -115   -78    182   -53   -474   

Cash and cash equivalent at the 
beginning of the period

VND billion  613    498    421    603    550   

Cash and cash equivalent at the 
end of the period

VND billion  498    421    603    550    76   

Basic financial ratios

Gross Profit Margin % 54.5 39.2 45.3 43.9 44.2

Pre-tax profit margin % 18.5 19.4 20.0 17.7 18.9

ROS % 13.6 16.4 18.2 15.8 16.8

ROA % 16.3 17.3 18.8 16.0 15.7

ROE % 25.0 24.6 25.5 22.8 22.1

Shares information

Number of shares Shares  87,164,330    87,164,330    87,164,330    130,746,071    130,746,071   

Treasury shares Shares  10,130    222,380    -      -      -     

Outstanding shares Shares  87,154,200    86,941,950    87,164,330    130,746,071    130,746,071   

Market value at the end of the year VND billion 55,580 39,980 61,450 113,350 79,000

Basic earning per share VND/Share  5,169    5,748    4,485    4,378    4,445   

Dividend VND  3,000    3,500    3,500    3,000    3,500 (*)   

 
(*) Dividends in 2018 is expected to be submitted to the AGM 2018.
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Top 50 VIETNAM’S BEST  
PERFORMING COMPANIES 07 CONSECUTIVE YEARS  

ORGANIZED BY VIETNAM INVESTMENT REVIEW MAGAZINE

Top 10 PRESTIGIOUS PHARMACEUTICAL 
COMPANIES IN 2018RANKED 1ST IN 

IMPLEMENTED BY VIETNAM ASSESSMENT REPORT 
JSC (VIETNAM REPORT) AND VIETNAMNET ONLINE 
NEWSPAPER

Top 5 BEST SUSTAINABLE  
DEVELOPMENT REPORTS03 CONSECUTIVE YEARS 

Top 5 LARGECAP 
THE BEST CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
CONTENTS

Top 10 LARGE CAP  
BEST ANNUAL REPORTS11 CONSECUTIVE YEARS 

23 CONSECUTIVE YEARS Vietnamese  
high-quality goods 
VOTED BY CONSUMERS

01 OUT OF 97 TYPICAL BRANDS OF VIETNAM  
WERE HONORED AS NATIONAL BRAND IN 2018

03 
CONSECUTIVE YEARS 

THE SOLE 
PHARMACEUTICAL 

COMPANY IN 

VOTED BY FORBES VIETNAM

01 OUT OF 03 
VIETNAM REPRESENTATIVES

WERE AWARDED 

EVALUATED BY ASEAN CAPITAL  
MARKETS FORUM (ACMF)

05 
CONSECUTIVE 

YEARS

VOTED BY FORBES VIETNAM

DISTINGUISHED &  
SPOTLIGHT AWARDS IN 2018
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2018

FOL Lifting at  
DHG Pharma from  
49% to 100% of charter 
capital. PIC/s - GMP and 
Japan - GMP standards 
were granted for 
production lines.

1974

ESTABLISHED 
AND WAS 
FORMERLY THE 2/9 
PHARMACEUTICAL  
SOE FACTORY

2017

Smooth transitions of the 
2 senior positions in the 
Company: Chairman of the 
BOD and General Director.

2016

The first year of the  
five-year strategy  
2016 -2020, the beginning 
of sustainable and effective 
development.

2015

Laid the groundwork for 
restructuring and internally 
preparing for the new 
growth period.

2011

Successfully implemented 
the “Factory Productivity 
Improvement Project” 
and the “Project to 
improve performance of 
subsidiaries”.

2010

Successfully implemented 
the strategy “tripod”: 
shareholders, customers 
and employees.

2009

Successfully implemented 
the strategy - 20/80 
products, customers and 
personnel.

2014

Celebrated 40th years  
of establishing  
DHG Pharmaceutical 
Joint Stock Company  
and 10 years of 
equitization.

2013

Completed the 
construction of the 
new Non-Betalactam 
factory and DHG Printing 
and Packaging 1 Plant 
Project in Tan Phu Thanh 
Industrial Zone.

2012

The topic “Today’s 
solution is tomorrow’s 
issue” brought high 
efficiency to the Company 
in cost control,  
risk management  
and policies.

2008

Implemented modern and 
effective management 
tools: 10.5S and Balance 
Score Card.

2007

Reconfirmed the vision, 
mission and 7 core values. 
Increased the charter 
capital from VND 80 
billion to VND 200 billion.

2006

DHG Pharma’s stocks 
were listed on HOSE

2004

Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical 
Integrated Factory 
equitized to become  
DHG Pharmaceutical 
Joint Stock Company.

2019 marks the 45-year 
journey “For a more beautiful and 
healthier life”, a memorable milestone 
and great pride of DHG Pharma as 
the Company continues to maintain 
its leading position and strengthens 
its dedication for the health-care 
journey with high quality products 
and services.

2019

1974

KEY  
MILESTONES
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The application of science and technology has brought many advantages 
in internal communication, sales management and humanity activities. 
Customers can control information related to trading, transaction, 
payment, and promotion with DHG Pharma anytime, anywhere. 
Moreover, information technology not only functions as an effective 
bridge for communication between leaders and employees, but also as 
an internal channel that helps employees when purchasing products.

Foreign ownership limit of DHG Pharma shares has been officially 
adjusted to 100% since 04 July 2018. DHG Pharma expects that this 
FOL lifting will create more opportunities for cooperation with foreign 
investors who have potential in capital, experience, technology, 
research, development and high-quality human resources.

For over half a century, DHG Pharma has developed and launched 
more than 300 products for healthcare, created jobs for over 3,000 
employees, provided free medical examination and medicine for over 
600,000 poor people and supported billions of medical equipment for 
needy areas.

Precursor of DHG Pharma is the 2/9 Pharmaceutical SOE Factory, 
founded on 02 Sept 1974. Despite bundles of shortages, difficulties 
and hardships at the beginning, DHG Pharma has now grown to 
become one of the largest pharmaceutical companies in Vietnam. 
Moreover, DHG Pharma has risen and continues to rank 1st in 
Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry in terms of revenue, profit 
and production capacity over the past 22 years.

In addition to Pharmacy and Hospital channels, DHG Pharma has 
invested in modern channels and witnessed a significant growth both 
in size and quality in 2018. Export activity has also experienced a 
dramatic increase over the same period with revenue of VND 62 billion, 
up 25% y.o.y. Two production lines granted PIC/s - GMP (Malaysia) and   
Japan - GMP (Japan) standards are expected to bring a great leap 
forward for export and bidding activities for DHG Pharma’s Hospital 
channel in the coming years.

In early August 2018, DHG Pharma prided itself for being the sole 
pharmaceutical company voted in Top 40 Most Valuable Brands in 
Vietnam for 3 consecutive years. DHG Pharma’s values are aimed at 
customers, shareholders, consumers, local authorities, employees, as 
well as the community and society with a transparent vision of “For a 
more beautiful and healthier life”.

On 22 March 2018, DHG Pharma and Vinamilk organized  
“Strategic Co-operation Ceremony” with the goal of researching 
and developing scientific and quality products, aiming to best meet 
consumers’ needs of healthcare, and to bring new values to the 
community, reaching out for a more beautiful and healthier life.  
DHG Pharma also cooperates with Can Tho University, Vietnam 
Academy of Science and Technology (Institute of Biotechnology, Institute 
of Medicinal Materials, etc) to research and develop new products.

On 6 March 2019, Drug Administration of Vietnam (DAV) announced 
Japan - GMP certificate for the tablet line of Non-Betalactam plant. 
Japan - GMP is a Good Manufacturing Practices of Japanese drugs 
(equivalent to EU - GMP, US - FDA of the USA, etc). Granted with this 
certificate, DHG Pharma will export strategic products that meet Japan 
- GMP standards to Japanese and Southeast Asian markets through the 
current global distribution network of Taisho.

In October 2018, DHG Pharma was granted PIC/s - GMP Certificate, 
issued by the National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency (NPRA) of 
Malaysia for the effervescent tablets and effervescent powder. This 
PIC/s - GMP Certificate is a license for DHG Pharma’s products to be 
exported to developed countries as well as enhancing the brand value 
and DHG Pharma’s image in the market, creating trust of consumers 
for the Company’s products.

YEARS 
ESTABLISHMENT OF 

DHG PHARMA’S 
POOR PATIENTS FUND

16 people were given free  medical  
examination and medicine

>600,000

children were given  
warm clothes and 
medical treatment

1,000
units of blood

donated to save lives

3,000
poor patients were 

provided heart surgery 
support

225

poor patients were supported 
with hospital fees

2,200

01. RETAINING THE LEADING POSITION IN VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY 06. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY APPLICATION

07. DEVELOPING DISTRIBUTION AND EXPORT CHANNEL

08. RETAINING THE BRAND VALUE

09. NEAR HALF OF THE CENTURY FOR THE MISSION OF IMPROVING PEOPLE’S HEALTH

02. ACHIEVED PIC/S - GMP STANDARD (MALAYSIA)

03. ACHIEVED JAPAN - GMP STANDARD (JAPAN)

04. STRENGTHENING COOPERATION IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

05. LIFTING THE FOREIGN OWNERSHIP LIMIT (FOL) FROM 49% TO 100%

HIGHLIGHTS  
IN 2018
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WITH A SPIRITUAL MISSION OF IMPROVING THE PUBLIC’S HEALTH, FOR OVER 
HALF A CENTURY, DHG PHARMA HAS NOT ONLY FOCUSED ON INVESTING IN HUMAN 
RESOURCES, TECHNOLOGY, RAW MATERIAL SOURCES,  PRODUCTION CONDITION, 
CONTINUOUSLY IMPROVEMENT QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, IT HAS ALSO 
APPLIED THE MOST MODERN EQUIPMENT AND SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH INTO PRODUCTS 
TO BRING THE BEST VALUE FOR CONSUMERS.

BUSINESS LINES  
& MARKET REGIONS

BUSINESS LINES

CORE  
BUSINESS LINES

PHARMACEUTICALS

COSMECEUTICALS

DIETARY 
SUPPLEMENTS

PHARMACEUTICALS

DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS

COSMECEUTICALS
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% OF  
TOTAL SALES 

% OF  
TOTAL SALES 
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81.7%

17.8%
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384
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0.5%

85.4%

9.7%

BUSINESS LINES  
& MARKET REGIONS

With the desire to bring a more 
beautiful and healthier life to all 
walks of life, DHG Pharma constantly 
improves its product quality, studies 
and collaboratively develops high - 
tech pharmaceuticals products. One 
of the most important strategies of 
DHG Pharma is to retain its position as 
the biggest Generic pharmaceutical 
enterprise in Vietnam. At present, the 
Company has 263 pharmaceutical 
visa numbers with a wide range of 
product categories.

Finished products sales are sales from 
DHG Pharma’s in-house products that 
have been considered the Company’s 
core business. After FOL lifting, 
finished products sales will account for 
over 90% of DHG Pharma’s revenue. 
For management and branding 
development purposes, DHG Pharma 
divides its product portfolios, based on 
treatment functions, into 9 categories: 
Antibiotics, Analgesic - Antipyretic, 
Respiratory, Nutrition, Musculoskeletal, 
Gastrointestinal - Hepatobiliary, 
Neurology - Ophthalmology, 
Cardiovascular - Diabetes, Skin care.

In order to effectively utilize the 
distribution network, DHG Pharma 
distributes its products to partners 
such as Mega, MSD, and trades 
raw materials. In 2018, due to FOL 
lifting to 100% (room lifting), DHG 
Pharma is not permitted to distribute 
pharmaceuticals in accordance with 
the regulations on foreign ownership 
limit. Consequently, revenue in 2018 
went down compared to previous 
years.

Services sales of DHG Pharma 
includes sales from tourism services 
(DHG Travel), mobile clinic (Fuji Medic) 
as well as income from distribution 
commission. In 2018, this revenue 
declined due to loss of tourism 
revenue (dissolution of DHG Travel) 
and MSD distribution commissions. 
The 2019 plan will not generate 
revenue from distribution commission 
due to suspension of Eugica, MSD 
trading and the Company plan to 
stop operating mobile clinic business 
in 2019.

In recent years, dietary supplements 
and cosmeceuticals are gradually 
gaining its popularity in Vietnam, 
helping to supplement essential 
nutrients for the body, preventing 
diseases and improving health 
for consumers. Taking cognizance 
of this importance, the Company 
has continuously promoted its 
research and cooperation in 
developing dietary supplements 
and cosmeceuticals. The Company 
currently has 55 registered visa 
numbers for dietary supplements 
and cosmeceuticals.

Other business areas of  
DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries 
include raw materials trading, 
outsourcing, printing and packaging, 
tourism services and mobile clinics. 
Revenue from other business areas 
in 2018 decreased due to the 
suspension on sales of raw materials 
in 5 months to transform the business 
model when lifting FOL to 100%.

SALES BREAKDOWN  
BY BUSINESS LINES

SALES BREAKDOWN  
BY FUNCTIONS

SALES  
FROM 2014 TO 2018

SALES  
FROM 2014 TO 2018

PHARMACEUTICALS

OTHERS

DIETARY 
SUPPLEMENTS & 

COSMECEUTICALS

4.9%

MERCHANDISES

FINISHED 
PRODUCTS

SERVICES
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DHG Pharma’s products are distributed to customers 
through the following channels:

DHG Pharma also 
distributes products 
through modern channels 
such as supermarkets, 
pharmacy chains, etc., 
and e-commerce channels 
such as lazada, tiki,  
TV home shopping, etc.

MODERN CHANNELS AND 
E-COMMERCE CHANNELSHOSPITAL CHANNEL

Including hospitals, clinics 
and medical centers, etc.

PHARMACY CHANNEL

Including agents, private 
pharmacies, hospital 
pharmacies, distribution 
companies and retail 
stores, etc.

BUSINESS LINES  
& MARKET REGIONS

MARKET REGIONS

Truong Sa 
Island

Hoang Sa 
Island

Phu Quoc Island

Con Dao Island

Phu Quy Island

Domestic market accounts for

OF SALES 
VOLUME98%

NATIONWIDE FROM
CITY TO COUNTRYSIDE
(DISTRIBUTING TO 3 STAGES: 
CITY, DISTRICT, COMMUNE) WITH

BRANCHES
DISTRIBUTING 
GOODS36

>27,000
CUSTOMERS

DOMESTIC MARKET

Through 45 years operating in Vietnamese 
pharmaceutical market, DHG Pharma is 
considered an enterprise with the most 
widespread and largest distribution 
network, with:

VIETNAM

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

Moldova

EXPORT MARKET

DHG Pharma has developed its sales network in export 
markets such as Singapore, Cambodia, Laos, Myanmar, 
Moldova, Mongolia, Nigeria, Yemen, Indonesia and etc with 
about 100 registered visa numbers.

In 2018, there was a significant growth in DHG Pharma’s 
export with revenue of VND 62 billion, rose 25% over the 
same period in 2017.

In the future, the roadmap to improve quality standards 
and strategies to develop export markets and international 
cooperation will bring many advantages for DHG Pharma’s 
products when exporting to foreign markets, which together 
re-affirm its leading brand and the largest exporter of 
Vietnam.

30

20

10

40

50

60

70

22

2014

26

2015

42

2016

50

2017

62

2018

FIGURES IN: VND BILLION

EXPORT SALES  
INCREASED BY 25%
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DHG Pharmaceutical 
Manufacturing Plant 

in Cantho

Spiviha
(Affiliate 31.36%)

DHG Pharmaceutical 
Plant Branch in  

Hau Giang

Note: This model has been applied since 01 April 2018

Fuji Medic
(Subsidiary 51%)

Distribution network of 
36 branches (*)

3 central warehouses of 
Mekong Delta, the North  

and Ho Chi Minh City

• On 28 March 2018, the 
General Meeting of 
Shareholders approved the 
plan of merging DHG PP1 
and DHG Pharma Ltd. into 
DHG Pharma. On 1 April 2018,  
DHG Pharmaceutical 
Plant and Printing and 
Packaging Plant operated as  
DHG Pharmaceutical Plant 
branch in Hau Giang. 
Dissolution procedures of 
DHG PP1 and DHG Pharma 
Ltd. were completed.

• On 16 March 2018,  
DHG Pharma purchased 
shares of Song Hau 

Pharmaceutical Joint Stock 
Company (SH Pharma), 
increasing the proportion of 
ownership interest from 51% to 
100% and dissolved SH Pharma 
in order to transfer all activities 
of SH Pharma into Vi Thanh 
Branch under DHG Pharma.

• On 10 May 2018, the Board 
of Directors approved the 
establishment of 03 Central 
Warehouses in Can Tho 
(Central Warehouse in 
Mekong Delta), Ho Chi Minh 
City (Central Warehouse in 
Ho Chi Minh City and the 
East) and Hanoi (Central 

Warehouse in the North).  
The purpose of establishment 
include reasonable cargo 
rotation, separate the logistic 
functions of regional central 
warehouse system and sales/ 
delivery tasks of distribution 
branch system.

• On 25 July 2018, the Board 
of Directors approved the 
dissolution of DHG Pharma’s 
Branch - Artichoke Paste 
B o i l i n g / P r o c u r e m e n t /
Purchasing Establishment. The 
dissolution procedures have 
been completed. Reason for 
dissolution: Restructuring the 
organization in accordance 
with the strategy.

CHANGES OF CORPORATE MODEL IN 2018

SUBSIDIARY AND AFFILIATE

FUJI MEDIC CO., LTD (Fuji Medic)
Official operation date: 27 July 2016
Head office: Cantho City
Charter capital: VND 26.946 billion
Business lines: Polyclinic and dental clinic
Percentage of equity of DHG Pharma: 51%

COMPANIES IN WHICH DHG 
PHARMA IS OWNING MORE 

THAN 50% OF SHARE  
CAPITAL/EQUITY

None
COMPANIES THAT ARE 

OWNING MORE THAN 50% 
OF DHG PHARMA’S SHARE 

CAPITAL/EQUITY

VINH HAO ALGAE PROCESSING JOINT STOCK COMPANY 
(Spiviha)
Official operation date: 01 Apr 2008
Head office: Vinh Hao, Tuy Phong, Binh Thuan Province
Charter capital: VND 12 billion
Business lines: Manufacturing and trading of Spirulina Algae
Percentage of equity of DHG Pharma: 31.36%

AFFILIATE

CORPORATE  
MODEL

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL MANUFACTURING PLANT  
in Hau Giang

PRINTING AND PACKAGING PLANT  
in Hau Giang

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL MANUFACTURING PLANT  
in Can Tho

DHG
PHARMACEUTICAL
JOINT STOCK COMPANY
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ORGANIZATION  
APPARATUS

Marketing Director

Central Warehouse 
(MeKong Delta Region)

Central Warehouse 
(HCM Region)

Central Warehouse 
(Northern Region)

Marketing Dept. - 
Hospital Channel

Sales System

Pharmacy Channel

GENERAL DIRECTOR

BOARD  
OF SUPERVISORY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

DEPUTY GENERAL DIRECTOR 
in charge of Production - Supply chain  

- Technology Transfer
DEPUTY GENERAL DIRECTOR 
in charge of Production - Supply Chain

DEPUTY GENERAL DIRECTOR 
in charge of Finance and Back Office

Quality DirectorSupply Chain Director Technical DirectorProduction Director

Quality ManagementResearch & 
Development

Quality Control 
(NVC + TPT)Regulatory Affairs

Distribution Director

Distribution CenterLegal

Construction

Environment & 
Labor safety

Information Technology

Human Resources 

DEPUTY GENERAL DIRECTOR 
in charge of Market

Administration

Internal Control

Planning

Purchasing

Printing & Packaging 
Factory

Raw Material - 
Packaging Warehouse

Finished Product 
Warehouse

Factory 1

Factory 2

Factory 3

Electromechanical

Finance Director 

Accounting

Finance
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This organizational apparatus has been applied since 01 April 2019.
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Mr. NGUYEN CHI THANH

Chairman of the BOD

Non-executive BOD member 

Head of the Strategic Committee

Born in: 1972

Professional qualifications

• Master in Public Policy, National Institute for 
Japanese Policy Studies. 

• Bachelor of Commerce, Hanoi National 
Economics University.

Positions held in other organizations

• Deputy General Director of State Capital 
Investment Corporation (SCIC)

• Member of the BOD of Military Commercial 
Joint Stock Bank (MB Bank)

• Member of the BOD of Vietnam Dairy 
Products JSC (Vinamilk)

Employment history

• 1995 - 2006: Deputy Head - Department of 
Foreign Exchange Management - State Bank 
of Vietnam

• 10/2006 - 11/2008: Deputy Head of the 
Strategic Department - SCIC

• 11/2008 - 06/2010: Head of the Strategic 
Department - SCIC

• 07/2010 - 04/2013: Head of the Risk 
Management Department - SCIC

• 04/2013 - 08/2014: Head of the Capital 
Management Department 3 - SCIC

• 09/2014 - 01/2015: Director of Southern 
Branch - SCIC

• 02/2015 - 07/2015: Head of the Capital 
Management Department 3 - SCIC

• 07/2015 - Now: Deputy General Director - 
SCIC

• 10/2017- Now: Chairman of the BOD Term III 
(2014 -2018) - DHG Pharma

Mdm. PHAM THI VIET NGA 

Non-executive BOD member

Deputy Head of the Strategic 
Committee

Born in: 1951

Professional qualifications 

• Ph.D in Economics, HCMC University of 
Economics

• BSc (Pharma), University of Medicine and 
Pharmacy

Positions held in other organizations

• Chairwoman of the Board of members of 
Fuji Medic (51% owned subsidiary of DHG 
Pharma)

Employment history

• 07/1980 - 07/1986: Head of Thot Not 
Drugstore

• 07/1986 - 04/1988: Director of Hau Giang 
Medical - Material Supply Company. 

• 04/1988 - 09/2004: Director of Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

• 09/2004 - 07/2012: Chairwoman Term I 
and Term II cum General Director of DHG 
Pharma.

• 07/2012 - 04/2014: Chairwoman Term II of 
DHG Pharma.

• 05/2014 - 08/2017: Member of the BOD Term 
III cum General Director of DHG Pharma

• 09/2018 - Now: Member of the BOD Term III 
of DHG Pharma

Mr. DOAN DINH DUY KHUONG

Executive BOD member

Member of the Strategic Committee

Interim General Director

Born in: 1974

Professional qualifications

• EMBA, UBI - Belgium

Positions held in other organizations

• None

Employment history

• 1993 - 1999: In charge of advertising programs, 
Sales & Marketing - Unilever Vietnam, Vietnam 
Food Industries JSC, Foremost Vietnam.

• 2000 - 01/2004: Employee of Planning Dept. 
in charge of product development and brand 
operation - Hau Giang Pharmaceutical 
Integrated Factory.

• 09/2004 - 10/2005: Branding Manager, Vice 
Head of Marketing Dept. - DHG Pharma

• 10/2005 - 04/2012: Marketing Director, Head 
of Marketing Dept. - DHG Pharma

• 05/2012 - 09/2017: Deputy General Director 
in charge of Market - DHG Pharma

• 04/2006 - 04/2009: Member of the BOD 
Term I - DHG Pharma

• 04/2010 - 04/2014: Member of the BOD Term 
II - DHG Pharma

• 04/2014 - 09/2017: Member of the BOD Term 
III (2014 - 2018) DHG Pharma

• 09/2017 - Now: Member of the BOD Term 
III (2014 - 2018) DHG Pharma cum Interim 
General Director of DHG Pharma

Mr. JUN KURODA 

Non-executive BOD member 
Member of the Strategic 
Committee

Born in: 1956

Professional qualifications

• Master of Business Administration 
(MBA) - Golden Gate University, 
USA

Positions held in other organizations

• President Director at PT. Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Indonesia Tbk

• President Director at Compania 
International de Comercio, S.A.P., I 
de C.V. (Mexico)

• Managing Director of Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Singapore Private 
Limited

• Chairman of the Board of Taisho 
Co., Ltd. Shanghai

• President Director at Taisho 
Pharmaceutical California Inc.

• Director of HOE Pharma Holdings 
Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)

• Director of Taisho Pharmaceutical 
(M) Sdn Bhd. (Malaysia)

• Director of Osotspa Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Thailand)

• Director of Taisho Vietnam Co., Ltd.

Employment history

• From 1984: Taisho Pharmaceutical 
Co., Ltd. (Japan)

• 2010 - 2011: Director at International 
Business Headquarters - Taisho

• 2012 - 2017: Managing Director, 
International Business Headquarters 
- Taisho 

• 8/2016 - Now: Member of the BOD 
Term III (2014 - 2018)  DHG Pharma 

• 2018 - Now: Member of the BOD, 
Senior Executive Officer - Taisho 

Mr.  TRAN CHI LIEM

Independent BOD member

Head of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Born in: 1950

Professional qualifications

• Assoc. Prof. - Dr. - Doctor of 
Medicine.

Positions held in other organizations

• Senior specialist in Health Sector

Employment history

• 1967 - 1975: Civil Medical Service of 
Kien Giang province.

• 1976 - 1983: Vice principal of Kien 
Giang Medical College.

• 1983 - 1987: Principal of Kien Giang 
Medical College.

• 1988 - 1998: Director of Kien Giang 
Medical Service.

• 1999 - 2010: Deputy Minister of 
Ministry of Health.

• 27/02/2010 - Now: Retirement

• 28/04/2014 - Now: Member of the 
BOD Term III - DHG Pharma

Mr PHAN MINH TIEN

Independent BOD member 
Member of the Strategic 
Committee

Born in: 1970

Professional qualifications

• Bachelor of Business Studies, 
Moscow Institute of Management, 
Russia

Positions held in other organizations

• Executive Director of Marketing - 
Vinamilk

• Director of Domestic Sales - 
Vinamilk

Employment history

• 2008 - 2013:Deputy General 
Director in charge of Food Sector - 
Unilever Vietnam

• 2013 - 2014: Marketing Director - 
Samsung Vietnam

• 2014 - Now: Marketing Executive 
Director - Vinamilk

• 2014 - Now: Marketing Executive 
Director & Domestic Sales -Vinamilk 

• 01/04/2018 - Now: Independent BOD 
member Term III - DHG Pharma

Mrs DANG THI THU HA 

Non-executive BOD member

Head of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee

Born in: 1973

Professional qualifications

• Master of Business Administration 
(MBA), Institute of Management.

• Bachelor of Economics in Business 
Administration, National Economics 
University.

• Bachelor’s degree in foreign 
languages (English), National 
University, Hanoi.

• Practising certificate for corporate 
finance consultancy, State Security 
Commission of Vietnam

Positions held in other organizations

• Deputy Head of Investment Dept. 
3 - State Capital Investment 
Corporation - SCIC

• BOD member of Benovas Cancer 
Drugs JSC

• BOD member of Vietnam Dairy 
Products JSC - Vinamilk

Employment history

• 9/2000 - 3/2007: Supervisor of 
Accounting Compliance Dept. - 
Mizuho Bank Hanoi

• 2007 - 2008: Employee of 
Corporate Finance Consulting Dept. 
- Trang An Securities JSC

• 2008 - 2015: Deputy Head of Capital 
Management Dept. 4 - SCIC

• 6/2015 - Now: Deputy Head of 
Investment Dept. 3 - SCIC

• 07/2017- Now: Member of the BOD 
III (2014 -2018) DHG Pharma  

PROFILE OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BOARD
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Mr. LE CHANH DAO 

Deputy General Director in charge of 
Finance and Back - Office

Born in: 1959

Professional qualifications

• Master of Business Administration, HCMC 
University of Economics

Employment history

• 1984 - 1985: Head of Planning Dept. - Hau 
Giang State-owned Livestock 1 Factory.                                       

• 1985 - 09/1989: Deputy Head of Planning 
Dept. - Hau Giang Livestock United Factory

• 09/1989 - 11/1989: Deputy Head 
of Accounting Dept. - Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory

• 11/1989 - 03/1997: Chief Accountant - Hau 
Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

• 03/1997 - 09/2004:Deputy Director - Hau 
Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory

• 09/2004 - 04/2014: Member of the BOD 
Term I and Term II - DHG Pharma.

• 09/2004 - Now: Deputy General Director - 
DHG Pharma

Mr. LAM DIEU PHI

Member of the Strategic Committee
Marketing Director

Born in: 1977

Professional qualifications

• EMBA - UBI (Belgium)

Employment history

• 2003 - 09/2004: Employee of Planning Dept. 
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated 
Factory.

• 09/2004 - 2006: Head of Product 
Development Team - DHG Pharma

• 2006 - 2007: Head of Branding Management 
Division - DHG Pharma.

• 2008 - 2009: Head of Product Development 
Division - DHG Pharma.

• 2009 - 06/2012: Strategic assistant for 
General Director of DHG Pharma, Deputy 
Head of Marketing Dept. - DHG Pharma and 
Deputy Director of Research Center -  
DHG Pharma

• 06/2012 - 04/2016: Head of Marketing Dept. 
- DHG Pharma.

• 04/2016 - Now: Marketing Director -  
DHG Pharma

Mr.  HO BUU HUAN

Chief Accountant

Born in: 1980

Professional qualifications

• Master of Finance - Banking  
(Cantho University)

Employment history

• 2003 - 2004: Accountant - Cantho Motilen 
Construction Materials

• 12/2004 - 2011: Banking accountant -  
DHG Pharma.

• 11/2011 - 10/2014: Deputy Head of Financial 
Management Dept. - DHG Pharma.

• 11/2014 - 07/2016: Chief Accountant of  
DHG Pharma Ltd.

• 07/2016 - 12/2016: Person in charge of 
Accounting cum Head of Accounting Dept. - 
DHG Pharma

• 01/2017 - Now: Chief Accountant, Head of 
Accounting Dept. - DHG Pharma.

Mrs. LE THI HONG NHUNG
Member of the Strategic Committee
Finance Director
The BOD’s Secretary
The person in charge of Corporate Governance

Born in: 1981

Professional qualifications

• EMBA - UBI (Belgium), Bachelor of General 
Accounting

Employment history

• 2004 - 2005: Credit officer - VietinBank 
Cantho

• 2006 - 06/2010: Financial and Investment 
Analyst - DHG Pharma.

• 07/2010 - 08/2016: Head of Investor Relations 
Board (IR) - DHG Pharma, the BOD’s 
Secretary (since Nov 2011).

• 08/2016 - 04/2017: Head of Finance Dept., 
the BOD’s Secretary - DHG Pharma

• 05/2017 - Now: Finance Director cum Head of 
Finance Dept., the BOD’s Secretary and the 
person in charge of Corporate Governance 
(since Jan 2018) - DHG Pharma.

Mr. TOMOYUKI KAWATA 

Member of the Strategic Committee
Deputy General Director in charge of 
Production, Supply Chain, Training and 
Technical Transfer 

Born in: 1966

Professional qualifications

• Bachelor Degree of Pharmacology, Tokyo 
University of Pharmacy and Life Sciences, 
Japan

Employment history

• 04/1990 - 09/2010: Manager of Domestic 
Production - Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 
Japan. (Taisho)

• 10/2010-03/2013: Manager of Overseas 
Production Management - Taisho

• 04/2013 - 03/2014: General Manager of 
Okayama Plant - Taisho

• 4/2014 - 09/2014: Head of Quality Control of 
Domestic of Production - Taisho

• 10/2014 - Now: Director of International 
Technical Operations - Taisho

• 10/2017 - Now: Deputy General Director in 
charge of Production and Supply Chain - 
DHG Pharma.

Mrs. NGUYEN NGOC DIEP

Deputy General Director in charge of 
Production and Supply Chain

Born in: 1968

Professional qualifications

• Postgraduate education junior - PGJ., 
University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Ho Chi 
Minh City

Employment history

• 12/1991 - 06/1995: Employee of QC Dept. 
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated 
Factory.

• 07/1995 - 12/1996:  Deputy Head of QC Dept. 
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated 
Factory.

• 01/1997 - 06/1997: Deputy Head of R&D 
Dept. - Hau Giang Pharmaceutical 
Integrated Factory.

• 06/1997 - 09/2004:  Head of QC Dept. - Hau 
Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

• 09/2004 - 04/2012: Head of QC Dept. - DHG 
Pharma.

• 05/2012 - Now: Deputy General Director - 
DHG Pharma.  

PROFILE OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BOARD
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Mr.  TRAN QUOC HUNG

Head of the BOS

Born in: 1958

Professional qualifications

• Bachelor of Economics - Accounting 
(University of Economics HCMC)

Employment history

• 1979 - 1983: Teacher - Ben Tre Commercial 
School.

• 1983 - 1988: Chief Accountant - Hau Giang 
Medical Material Supply Company.

• 1988 - 06/2007: Accountant of Financial 
Management Dept. - DHG Pharma.

• 06/2007 - Now: Supervisor - HR Dept. - DHG 
Pharma

• 09/2004 - 05/2012: Member of the BOS Term 
I and Term II DHG Pharma

• 05/2012 - Now: Head of the BOS Term II and 
Term III - DHG Pharma.

Mr. TRAN TRUNG KIEN 

Supervisor

Born in: 1977

Professional qualifications

• Master of Finance, Academy of Finance

• Master of Management, Massey University, 
New Zealand

Employment history

• 2000 - 2004: Lecturer at Baoviet’s Training 
Center - Baoviet Holdings.

• 2004 - 2005: Insurance Management 
Specialist - Baoviet Holdings

• 2005 - 2010: Head of Human Resource 
Division - Baoviet Holdings

• 2010 - 2017: Specialist of Investment Dept. 
4 - SCIC.

• 2017 - Now: Specialist of Dept. of General 
Planning - SCIC

• 3/2018 - Now: Member of the BOS Term III 
DHG Pharma

Mrs. NGUYEN PHUONG THAO

Supervisor 

Born in: 1976

Professional qualifications

• Master of Business - Finance and Banking 
(Monash University - Australia)

Employment history

• 05/1997 - 03/2002: Employee at VID Public 
Bank

• 05/2002 - 07/2005: Master of Monash 
University - Australia.

• 08/2005 - 08/2006: Employee at MB Bank

• 08/2006 - 07/2007: Employee at VID Public 
Bank

• 08/2007 - Now: Employee of Investment 
Dept.3 - SCIC

• 04/2012 - 10/2018: Member of the BOS  
Term II & III - DHG Pharma.

• 10/2018: Resignation as BOS member of 
DHG Pharma

PIC/s - GMP

JAPAN - GMP

PIC/s - GMP and Japan - GMP are two high standards in pharmaceutical 
manufacturing applied in countries including: Japan, England, France, USA, 
Canada, Australia, Germany, Netherlands, Finland, Switzerland, Korea, Malaysia, 

Singapore, etc.

Hapacol 650

Expas Forte

Medskin Acyclovir 200

Iboten

Mebilax 15

Glumeron 30

Baburex

Medlon 16

Hapacol Child

INTRODUCTION 
THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY
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FROM STRATEGIC VISION

Formerly known as 2/9 Pharmaceutical SOE Factory, DHG Pharma, after its 
equitization in 2004, rose to the position of one of the leading Pharmaceutical 
Companies. Over its journey of 45 years of development, DHG Pharma has 
always honored to have the companion of SCIC in its corporate governance and 
financial management to ensure efficient use of capital. In conjunction with this, its 
cooperation with Taisho Group for development on technology transfer, personnel 
training, improving its management capacity to reach international standards has 
helped DHG Pharma not only to grow firmly but also to confidently outreach for 

international markets.



In 2018, the scale of Vietnamese economy continues to expand with a GDP 
growth rate of 7.08%, the highest increase rate in the past 11 years. The impressive 
economic growth of 2018 formed a solid base for 2019. However, it is forecast that in 
2019, Vietnamese economy will continue to face many difficulties and challenges that 
require great effort to overcome.

A ccording to the General 
Statistics Office (GSO), 
Vietnamese GDP in 2018 

increased by 7.08% - the highest 
level of increase within 10 years 
since the economic crisis of 2008. 
Despite high growth, the economy 
still maintains its macro stability, 
as shown through retaining the 
target of controlling CPI under 
4% and a decrease in public debt 
compared to 2017, etc.

Vietnamese economic structure 
continues to positively shift, 
reducing the proportion of 
agriculture, forestry, and fisheries 
while increasing the proportion of 
industry, construction and service. 
The proportion of the agricultural 
sector sharply decreased from 
17.4% in 2015 to 14.8% in 2018. The 
proportion of industry and service 
sectors increased from 82.6% to 
85.2%. 

In addition, Vietnamese labor 
productivity witnessed positive 
changes. Labor productivity has 
been increasing steadily over the 
years, which transformed Vietnam 
to become a country with a high 
growth of labor productivity in 
the ASEAN. Labor productivity of 
the whole economy at the current 
price of 2018 was estimated at  
VND 102 million/employee 
(equivalent to 4,512 USD), an 
increase of 346 USD compared to 
2017. Based on comparison price, 
labor productivity in 2018 increased 
by 5.93% compared to 2017  
(in the period of 2016 - 2018, 

THE ECONOMIC FORECAST FOR 2019 CONTINUES TO BE POSITIVE

regions, especially in import and 
export. However, Vietnamese 
economic outlook in 2019 and 
2020 is believed to be continuously 
positive, especially with regard 
to stable macroeconomic 
environment, reformed investment 
environment and strengthened 
business environment. 

2019 is  still predicted to face risks 
and challenges such as trade wars 
among countries, big economies 
combined with political risk, 
domestic trade protection, etc. 
There are also challenges from 
internal factors such as under-
developed technology, declining 
land and resources; the gap 
between domestic developed 
regions and foreign-invested 

Based on the socio-economic 
situation of 2018, the Ministry 
of Planning and Investment 
also drafted the plan for 2019. 
Accordingly, it is expected that 
the gross domestic product - 
GDP will increase by 6.6% - 6.8% 
compared to 2018 and the average 
CPI growth rate will be about 4% 
- 5%. Despite these optimistic 
figures, Vietnamese economy in 

average labor productivity increased by 5.75%/year), higher than the 
increase of 4.35%/year during the period of 2011 - 2015.

The business investment environment continued to be improved; 
Vietnamese business environment index of 2017 increased by 14 
places, to 68/189 in the World Bank (WB) ranking. Vietnam’s score in 
WEF’s 2018 ranking was 58.1 points, slightly increasing compared to 
57.9 points of 2017. In this year’s WEF competitive ranking, Vietnam 
ranked 77/140, down by 3 places compared to 74/135 of the previous 
year’s ranking. In 2018, the VND exchange rate increased as a result 
of USD appreciation and Yuan (CNY) depreciation. However, the 
VND exchange rate increase for the whole year is among the lowest 
compared to other currencies in the region and the world.

7.08%
GDP GROWTH RATE OF VIETNAM IN 2018

6.6%-6.8%
ESTIMATED GDP GROWTH IN 2019

GDP GROWTH AND INFLATION RATE
Figures in: %  Growth  Inflation rate

6.8
7.08

6.816.216.68

5.985.425.25

6.24

18.6

6.8 6.04 6

0.6 4.7
3.5 3.54

<4

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
(Estimated)

Source: General Statistics Office

OVERVIEW OF VIETNAMESE ECONOMY IN 2018 
AND OUTLOOK IN 2019
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Source: International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health; MDPI
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DRUG SPENDING PER CAPITA IN VIETNAM SINCE 2005  
AND FORECASTED FIGURES UNTIL 2028  
(FIGURES IN: USD/PERSON)

According to IQVIA’s estimates, 
Vietnam’s pharmaceutical market 
in 2018 reached VND 92,381 
billion, increasing by about 8% 
compared to the previous year. 
Vietnam is one of 21 countries 
ranked as having the highest 
pharmaceutical growth by IQVIA. 
This group is seen as a driving 
force for world market growth, 
which is expected to account for 
about one-third of total global 
consumption compared to one-
fourth at present.

The average per capita 
spending on drugs in Vietnam 
has increased gradually from  
USD 9.85 in 2005 to USD 22.25 
in 2010, and this figure nearly 
doubled in 2015 (USD 37.97). 
Annual average growth in drug 
spending reached 14.6% in 
the period of 2010 - 2015 and 
continued to increase at least 14% 
per year until 2025. Per capita 
spending on drugs in Vietnam 
is forecast to double to USD 85  
in 2020 and USD 163 in 2025.

Vietnam is now classified in the group of emerging 
pharmaceutical industries (Pharmerging) - IQVIA Institute 
classification - formerly IMS health and Quintiles. 

REACHING  
USD 4.2 BILLION IN 2016

THE TOTAL DRUG SPENDING 
OF VIETNAM HAS INCREASED 

AT A 5-YEAR CAGR  
(2011 - 2016) 

12%
IQVIA FORECASTS DRUG 

COSTS IN PHARMERGING 
COUNTRIES WILL CONTINUE 

TO EXCEED THE AVERAGE 
LEVEL OF THE WORLD,  

WITH CAGR 

IN THE PERIOD  
2018 - 2022

6-9%

The population is entering 
an “aging” phase (World 
Bank warns that Vietnam is 

experiencing the fastest period of 
population aging, the proportion 
of the population aged 65 and 
over is 6.5% in 2017, projected to 
reach 21% by 2050), which means 
an increasing demand for health 
care. In addition, the number of 
health insurance participants 
increased rapidly from 68.6% of 
the population in 2013 to 88.5% of 
the population in 2018, which leads 
to an increasing demand for drugs.

In addition, the willingness to pay 
for health services tends to rise due 
to improved per capita income and 
educational level, as well as a rising 
number of diseases as a result of 
environmental pollution. All of these 
are considered as major factors for 
the inevitable development of the 
pharmaceutical industry.

are trying to shorten the gap, especially in high-
quality technology and personnel. Hopefully, in the 
near future, Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry 
will become increasingly mature and positively 
contribute to the development of the country’s 
economy, so that Vietnamese people will be able 
to enjoy the best pharmaceutical products and 
medical services.

Overall, economic growth, rising incomes, signs 
of population aging and health problems arising 
from the environment and industrialization are 
seen as key factors to promote industry growth. 
However, how to release new versions of drugs 
quickly, increasing the proportion of high-value 
drugs, improving consumer belief and industry 
competitiveness are still possible challenges for 
domestic pharmaceutical manufacturers in the 
coming years.

In the past few years, Vietnamese pharmaceutical 
market has witnessed a strong wave of M&A 
from both domestic and foreign investors. 
Pharmaceutical enterprises are expected that the 
co-operation with foreign enterprises will bring more 
capital, high-quality technology and personnel 
for domestic pharmaceutical manufacturers.  
These chances promise a movement towards higher 
quality products such as EU - GMP, PIC/s - GMP, 
Japan - GMP, etc., improvement in competitiveness 
and an exploitation of the State’s support in 
developing domestic drugs.

However, Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry still 
has some limitations that need to be improved.

Firstly, pharmaceutical enterprises depend 
largely on imported materials. Such a reliance on 
imported materials makes the pharmaceutical 
industry vulnerable to external factors such as price 
fluctuations, exchange rates, supply (mainly from 
China and India) and import costs.

Secondly, the pharmaceutical industry is one of 
the industries affected by the State’s management.  
The Government has issued many legal documents 
to manage the pharmaceutical industry such 
as State’s policies on pharmaceuticals, State’s 
management of drug prices and drug trading 
conditions, management of drugs in special control 
list, drug quality standards, drug testing facilities, etc. 
In 2018, the changes of many macro policies such as 
the application of electronic invoices, information 
connection with Government, centralized tender, 
etc. have strongly impacted on pharmaceutical 
companies and drugstores. Simultaneously, legal 
regulations are in the process of building and 
completion, so there exist many loopholes and 
inherent risks for conflicts of interest.

Finally, although domestic drugs that have 
comparable quality to foreign drugs are sold at a 
cheaper price, consumers still prefer foreign drugs. 
With the goal of regaining the home-country 
advantage, Vietnamese pharmaceutical companies 

OVERVIEW OF VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY  
IN 2018 AND OUTLOOK 
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The distribution system is the deepest and widest in Vietnam compared to both domestic and foreign competitors, 
including 36 distribution branches across the country from urban to rural areas.

The biggest plant capacity in Vietnam (7.5 billion product units/year). In addition to in-house 
production and output growth from existing markets; the Company can attain temporary OEM 
order, export-oriented, and centralized tender.

Strong financial resource, effective operation enables the Company to implement 
modern strategies to attract skilled personnel, R&D investment, capital mobilization, 
M&A, and Joint-Venture.

DHG Pharma has developed and trained passionate and enthusiastic staffs: 
they are confident, loyal, and represent DHG Pharma’s cultural identity; 
thus it creates confidence for customers, consumers, partners, and 
investors with the image of a reputable and friendly Company.

DHG Pharma is strengthened by the technical and production 
contribution package from Taisho, a strategic shareholder, to 
help reduce costs, shorten the time to upgrade the factory in 
accordance with PIC/s - GMP standard, Japan - GMP standard 
to facilitate export and tender.

Leading position in market share and brand position in Vietnam 
pharmaceutical industry: 22 consecutive years leading in sales, 
market share, and production capacity.

STRENGTHS OPPORTUNITIES

WEAKNESSES

CHALLENGES

Thanks to Vietnamese economic growth, improved income and educational level, citizens are increasingly interested 
in caring for and protecting health and beauty; thus, creating opportunities for pharmaceutical enterprises to develop, 
including DHG Pharma.

The State manages more closely, scientifically and professionally. It creates favorable conditions for 
enterprises with a prestigious trademark, high-quality products, etc. to promote their advantages. 

The State policy and the new Pharmaceutical Law create opportunities for enterprises to be 
self-reliant in production and business.

Opportunities for R&D development from collaborative relationships, joint ventures, 
technical transfer, purchasing scientific projects, and hiring researches.

Thanks to economic integration, many international pharmaceutical 
groups are entering the Vietnam market; this facilitates the learning and 

experiences growth for DHG Pharma personnel in science and technology 
for new and modern products.

DHG Pharma has the number of advantages when participating in 
centralized tender mechanism (based on production capacity, product 
quality, supply and distribution systems, financial capacity, etc.)

The strengths of DHG Pharma is to create advantages for  
DHG Pharma to attract investments, opportunities for joint 
venture, association, M&A, exclusive distribution, technology 
transfer from large corporations in the world, qualified supplier 
selection, and price competition.

Investment progress is still slow compared to the plan, as the 
Company focuses on careful analysis and selection to create a 
foundation for the later development stage.

The risk management model of the Company is not as complete 
as expected. The Company is in the process of completing risk 
management policy, frameworks, risk assessment and management 
tools towards international standards and practices.

The reporting system of internal management is still in the stage of completion 
under the pressure to timely advise the managers and executives, increase 
productivity and efficiency.

Recruitment of experienced senior personnel and training of successors is not enough 
to satisfy the increasing demand of DHG Pharma to implement the strategies in the new 
development phase of the Company.

The economy of Vietnam is integrating deeply and widely. The 
open trade policy with other countries, fragmentation growth 
of the market, the psychology of preferring imported goods, 

cheap medicines with poor quality flocking into the Vietnam 
market create an extremely fierce competitive environment in the 

healthcare market.

Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry faces difficulties while competing 
in the international market because drugs manufactured in Vietnam 

have not achieved high standards or have not passed bioequivalence 
standards. Hence, these types of drugs have not had adequate conditions 

for exportation.

The main raw materials for the production of DHG Pharma and other enterprises 
in the industry are mainly imported (80-90%); hence, it is influenced by factors such 

as exchange rates, raw material price fluctuations, import tax policy, etc.

The monetary policy of exchange rate in the macro-economic with export priority affects 
unfavorably to enterprises having large importing proportions (materials, equipment, and 

technology).

Medicine price is controlled by the State while input costs are increasing. Besides, the increase of medicine price is 
also influenced by competitive factors and other means of mass media.

Shortage of strict management of the industry, provincial health departments in terms of tender price, tender apply 
price for private clinics, pharmacies, etc. create opportunities for unhealthy wholesalers to lead to unstable prices. It is 
very difficult for enterprises with the widespread distribution system across the country and high revenue to deal with.

S.W.O.T ANALYSIS 
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Promoting the utilization 
of production lines 
that meet PIC/s - GMP 
standard and Japan - 
GMP standard.

Continuously restructuring 
the sales system in 
order to enhance 
governance efficiency 
so as to contribute to 
cost reduction and 
competitiveness in the 
domestic market.

Focusing on media 
brand investments. 
Closely coordinating 
marketing with sales to 
effectively implement 
push and pull strategies 
with customers and 
consumers. 

Promoting research and 
development of new 
products for domestic 
and international 
markets.

Selecting production 
lines and strategic 
products to reach  
EU standard.

Completing a 
professional, diverse 
and useful financial 
management model 
to quickly advise 
management levels. 

Implementing technical transfer 
activities to increase winning tender 
opportunities, to improve reputation 
with doctors and to create 
favorable conditions for exports. 
Implementing OEM for technical 
transfer enterprises. 

Distributing non-pharmaceutical 
products that strategic partners are 
selling in the market. 

Continuing to invest in a modern-
oriented ERP system. Building an 
integrated system of effective 
Corporate Governance in order 
to provide timely, accurate and 
complete information.

2019 - 2023STRATEGIC 
SOLUTIONS 

Maximizing the enterprise value and increasing the interests of all stakeholders.

Being the biggest generic pharmaceutical enterprise in Vietnam.

Being a pharmaceutical enterprise with the most professional, deepest, 
broadest, and diversified distribution channel.

Being the leading enterprise in science and technology application in operation 
(R&D, production, information, and management).

Becoming a symbol of humanity in contributing to society and enhancing the 
quality of life.

Well-improving and developing crucial resources.

STRATEGIC  
ORIENTATION 2019 - 2023

Simultaneously, promptly grasping the opportunities to strongly develop on 
the new road, master the technology, increasingly create new quality products 
and aim to fully meet the demand for medicine use of all customers.

ITS LEADING POSITION, IDENTITY, 
AND BRAND REPUTATION. 

With the role of the leading pharmaceutical company in the country, DHG Pharma 
constantly strives to promote its existing strengths and continue to maintain   

The BOD continues to implement in accordance with strategic directions 2016 - 2020 approved 
by the AGM as follows:

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY  
2019 - 2023
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BUSINESS PLAN IN 2019

PROJECTED APPROPRIATION RATE OF 2019

VND BILLION
PROFIT BEFORE TAX

754
VND BILLION

NET REVENUE

3,943

PROFIT AFTER TAX

100% 
par value (by cash) 

DIVIDENDS IN 2019

30% 
OF CONSOLIDATED PAT 

BONUS AND WELFARE FUND

3% 

VND BILLION
REVENUE OF IN-HOUSE GOODS

3,560

BUSINESS PLAN  
IN 2019

TARGET PROJECTED APPROPRIATION RATE OF 2019

PAT 100% of PAT

Dividends in 2019 30% par value (by cash)

Allocation to the Bonus and Welfare Fund 3% of consolidated PAT

Bonus for BOD, BOS, Committee’s members  
under the BOD, BOD Secretariat in 2019  VND 6,000,000,000

The remaining profit shall be added to the Investment 
& Development Fund The remaining

CATEGORIES UNIT 2019 PLAN 2018 ACTUAL GROWTH

Net revenue VND Billion 3,943 3,882 1.6%

In which:

+ In-house goods VND Billion 3,560 3,171 12.3%

+ Others VND Billion 383 711 -46.1%

PBT VND Billion 754 732 3.0%

Additionally allocating the operating  
for bonuses and welfares of employees 
in 2019 (*)

VND Billion 47,9 - -

PBT after additionally allocating the 
operating budget for bonuses and 
welfares of employees 

VND Billion 706 732 -3.5%

* Since 2019, the Company has allocated 10% of PAT in 2019 for the Bonus and Welfare Fund.  
7% shall be booked in the Company’s expenses and 3% shall be allocated from the PAT. 
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STRATEGIC SOLUTIONS IN 2019

2019 is a meaningful year for DHG Pharma’s activities - the 45th anniversary of its 
establishment, marking the journey of “For a more beautiful and healthier life”. In order 
to mark the important historical milestone of DHG Pharma, the Executive Board 
continuously strives to overcome all difficulties and challenges to complete targets under 
the theme “Increasing productivity and improving efficiency”. Therefore,  
DHG Pharma has proactively reviewed and proposed strategic solutions of the  
Market Division, Production Division, Financial - Accounting Division, HR - Back office 
Division in order for the Company’s activities to be operated smoothly and achieved the 
highest efficiency.       

• Shall operate a highly profitable product portfolio.

• Sales of new products shall reach at least VND 100 billion. 

• Shall maximize the capacity of the factory meeting PIC/s - GMP, 
Japan - GMP. Shall invest in the Clinic channel. Shall focus on 
product introduction to professionals. 

• Shall focus on media investment on brands. Marketing and sales 
shall closely coordinate to effectively implement the push and pull 
strategy with customers and consumers.

MARKET 
SECTOR 

• Shall restructure the production system effectively. 

• Shall expand the batch size and reduce losses in production. 

• Shall announce the tablet production line of Non - Betalactam Plant 
meeting Japan - GMP before Q3/2019. 

• Shall implement automatic production lines. 

• Shall study warehouse coding by QR code to help distribution center 
professionally and logically manage imports and exports. 

• Shall develop at least 8 new generic products with high-standard API. 

PRODUCTION 
SECTOR 

• Shall continue to design an automatic financial accounting 
management system on BFO.

• Shall strengthen analysis and advice on the effective use of CAPEX 
budget and OPEX budget of the Company. 

• Shall increase financial income for the Company by effectively 
utilizing cash flow and financial leverage. 

• Shall invest in ERP solution to overcome limitations of BFO.

• Shall add more value to customers through increased utility services. 

• Shall revise and supplement financial management regulations and 
processes, aiming to build new frameworks that are implemented 
simply and quickly but still strictly controlled and effective.

FINANCE - 
ACCOUNTING 

SECTOR

• Shall apply technology, set up an electronic office and reform 
administrative procedures. 

• Shall establish, issue and control 100% of management and 
administration processes throughout the Company system. 

• Shall organize the emulation movement to increase productivity 
and reduce losses in all activities to celebrate the 45th anniversary 
of the Company. 

• Shall promote the movement of innovations and initiatives to 
bring high feasibility initiatives into practice and to contribute to 
operating costs savings. Shall optimize the implementation duration 
of departments. 

HR - BACK 
OFFICE 
SECTOR

• Promoting attributes of new technologies, investing in developing 
an electronic office to increase productivity in the whole Company.

• Focusing on training and improving the profession of IT staff to 
ensure the ability to assess new systems, deeply understand and 
step-by-step master the technology system.

• Continuing to promote software and IT application in the 
management, reform of administrative procedures, storage, and 
information transmission.

• Ensuring information security in all activities, especially the 
orientation and strategy of the Company as well as ensuring 
information confidentiality for customers.

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY 

SECTOR

BUSINESS PLAN 
IN 2019
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POSITION OF DHG PHARMA  
IN VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY

EXTERNAL FACTORS 

SOCIAL FACTORS 
Opportunities from sustainable development trend and demographic 
factors such as population change by age, gender, etc.

ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS  
Economic growth in parallel with environmental protection and 
natural resources preservation.

COOPERATIVE FACTORS 
Opportunities for cooperation, joint ventures, scientific and technical 
transfer from partners and strategic shareholders, purchase of 
scientific subjects, hire of researches. 

FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
Strong financial potential; effective businesses. 

SALES AND PRODUCTION RESOURCES   
The most professional, deepest, broadest, and diversified distribution 
network; modern plants with the largest capacity in Vietnam.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY  
Existing production know-how and abilities to develop new products, 
market share and brand prestige of DHG Pharma, close relationship 
with customers as well as dedicated, passionate and skilled staffs.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT 
Gradual improvement of the corporate system and aiming to 
international best practices.

MARKETING STRATEGY 
Long-term, clear and transparent marketing strategy (5 years) in line 
with the company’s 5-year strategy.

INTERNAL FACTORS 

MOTIVATION FACTORS  
FOR GROWTH

LEADING 
PHARMACEUTICAL 
COMPANIES IN VIETNAM.10DHG Pharma

IS THE ONLY DOMESTIC PHARMACEUTICAL 
COMPANY IN THE TOP 

COMPARISON 
WITH DOMESTIC 
PHARMACEUTICAL 
ENTERPRISES

Net revenue ranks at the 
leading position in the 
Vietnamese Pharmaceutical 
Industry for 22 consecutive 
years, and DHG Pharma’s 
profit is always significantly 
outperformed the domestic 
competitors.

NET REVENUE IN 2018 (VND BILLION)

3,882

1,798

1,675

1,401

1,385

1,185

1,157

1,002

804

776

455

432

391

DHG

TRA

PME

DBD

DMC

IMP

MKP

OPC

DCL

DBT

PMC

LDP

SPM

Source: Audited financial statements of pharmaceutical enterprises in 2018
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7% 2% 99
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FROM OUTSTANDING DIFFERENCES

The positioning of its brand in a unique path to create a breakthrough and 
success has created and sustained a remarkable difference that DHG Pharma 
has also prided itself, as a pioneer in Vietnam’s pharmaceutical industry.  
This difference is remarkable not only for its product quality and design, customer 
care policy, etc. but more importantly for featuring a brand that has always 
connected with a strong commitment to serve and improve public health. 



OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENTS 

Retained THE LEADING POSITION  
in the Vietnamese pharmaceutical 

industry for 22 years 
IN TERMS OF REVENUE, PROFIT, MARKET 

SHARE AND PRODUCTION CAPACITY.

Completed the constructions of Non-Betalactam factory (come into 
operation from Apr/2014) and Betalactam factory (come into operation 
from Oct/2016).

Cooperated with the strategic shareholder - Taisho to upgrade the effervescent 
tablet production line and effervescent powder production line to meet PIC/s 
- GMP standard as well as the tablet production line of the Non-Betalactam 
Factory to meet Japan - GMP. This is the first step for the Company to go 
further in upgrading the factory to meet high standards in accordance with 
global development trends.

Completed FOL lifting procedures from 49% to 100% to help the Company 
easily approach foreign partners with advantages in capital, technology, 
production and business experience and to increase the Company’s value. 

Established and operated 3 Central Warehouse branches in the Mekong 
Delta Region, Northern Region and Ho Chi Minh City Region to ensure 
product quantity, quality and logical delivery. 

The modern channel developed strongly in terms of scale and quality. 139 
SKUs have been sold to 11 supermarkets and major drugstore chains such 
as Aeon, Big C, Guardian, An Khang, Medicare, Pharmacity, VinFa, etc. 

Pioneered in promoting the image of the health sector through the 
gameshow “Special White Blouse Mission”. 

Had a strong financial potential and clear, transparent, accurate as well 
as timely information disclosure to shareholders and investors. Budget 
management and implementation of financial analysis, appraisal of 
investment projects supported the approved investment decisions in having 
a strong basis and feasibility. 

Developed the application of information technology in the sales system 
and in all employees such as DHG Co-Prosperity App, DHG Family App, etc 
in order to convey information effectively as well as to save time and training 
costs. As a result, trainings became more proactive and professional.

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TERM III (2014 - 2018)
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BOD PERSONNEL  
TERM III (2014 - 2018)

The BOD of DHG Pharma Term III 
(2014 - 2018) was elected at the 
AGM 2013 on 28 Apr 2014 with 7 
members as follows:  

During the term, the BOD made the following changes:

Since 28 Mar 2018, BOD members of Term III (2014 - 2018) are as follows:

MAXIMIZING THE ENTERPRISE VALUE AND 
INCREASING THE INTERESTS OF ALL STAKEHOLDERS

In order to achieve the strategic 
objectives in the period of 2016 
- 2020, DHG Pharma focused 
on internal consolidation and 
implementation of key solutions to 
prepare for competitive resources 
in the new business context and 
to maintain commitments with 
customers, investors, employees 
and the community. Specifically as 
follows:  

and placed the highest ROS in the Vietnamese pharmaceutical 
industry.

• Annual dividend payments are always maintained at 30% - 35% 
par value, which is higher than the average of the pharmaceutical 
industry and exceeds the plan. 

• Annually, DHG Pharma contributed billions of VND to the 
national budget and many community programs. In 2018,  
DHG Pharma contributed VND 292 billion to the national budget. 

• Through the recruitment, training and human resources 
development policies, DHG Pharma made contributions in 
creating jobs, increasing income for local people and promoting 
economic growth.  

• Ensured the quality of information disclosed to shareholders, 
investors, partners, customers and the community in order to 
maintain DHG Pharma’s reputation.

REPORT ON THE STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION 
2016 - 2018

• After 5 years, DHG Pharma’s 
market capitalization increased 
by 1.4 times, from VND 
4,248 billion (02 Jan 2014) to  
VND 10,329 billion (28 Dec 2018); 
In comparison with 19 Mar 2019, 
the market capitalization reached 
VND 15,297 billion, up 2.6 times. 
Total assets and equity according 
to the financial statement FY 2018 
increased by 1.2 times compared 
to 2014.

• DHG Pharma’s ROS ratio has 
always remained at a high level 
14% - 18% in the period 2014 - 2018 

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2018 of DHG Pharma 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TERM III (2014 - 2018)

NO. FULL NAME   TITLE

1. Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc  BOD Chairman 

2. Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri  BOD Vice Chairman

3. Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga  BOD member

4. Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong  BOD member

5. Ms. Dang Pham Minh Loan BOD member

6. Mr. Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD member

7. Mr. Shuhei Tabata Independent BOD member

NO. FULL NAME APPOINTMENT / RESIGNATION

1. Ms. Dang Pham Minh Loan BOD member, resigned from 20 July 2016

2. Mr. Jun Kuroda BOD member, appointed from 15 Aug 2016

3. Mr. Shuhei Tabata Independent BOD member, resigned from 24 Mar 2017

4. Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD member, appointed from 28 July 2017

5. Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc  BOD Chairman, resigned from 25 Oct 2017

6. Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri  BOD Vice Chairman, resigned from 25 Oct 2017

7. Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh  BOD Chairman, appointed from 26 Oct 2017

8. Mr. Phan Minh Tien BOD member, appointed from 28 Mar 2018

NO. FULL NAME TITLE

1. Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh  BOD Chairman

2. Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga  BOD member

3. Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong  BOD member

4. Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD member

5. Mr. Jun Kuroda BOD member

6. Mr. Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD member

7. Mr. Phan Minh Tien Independent BOD member

DIVIDEND 2016 2017 2018

Plan (%/par value) 30% 30% 30%

Actual (%/par value) 35% 30% Targeted to be 35%

Value (VND B)     305.1         392.2   Targeted to be 457.6

1
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REVENUE - PROFIT OF PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES IN 2018  (FIGURES IN: VND BILLION)

According to IQVIA report Q4/2018, DHG Pharma continues to retain the runner up position in the Pharmacy 
Channel. In addition, it is the only domestic pharmaceutical manufacturer to present in the Top 10 leading 
Pharmaceutical companies operating in Vietnam. 

Source: Financial statements of pharmaceutical companies in 2018

BEING THE BIGGEST GENERIC PHARMACEUTICAL ENTERPRISE IN VIETNAM
BEING A PHARMACEUTICAL ENTERPRISE WITH THE DEEPEST, BROADEST, 
MOST PROFESSIONAL AND DIVERSIFIED DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL

DHG TRA PME DBD DMC IMP MKP OPC DCL DBT PMC LDP SPM

 Net revenue  Profit before tax   Profit after tax 

DHG Pharma has continued to 
retain the leading position in 
the Vietnamese pharmaceutical 
industry for 22 years in terms of 
revenue, profit and production 
capacity. According to 2018 
figures, 

NET 
REVENUE

BILLION
DHG Pharma’s in-house goods: VND 3,171 billion

3,882 PROFIT  
BEFORE TAX

BILLION
732

TOTAL  
VOLUME

BILLION UNITS  
OF PRODUCTS

4.58 PROFIT 
AFTER TAX 

BILLION
Profit of shareholders of the parent company:  

VND 653 billion

651 PRODUCTION 
VALUE

BILLION

4,104 

ESTABLISHED AND OPERATED  3 CENTRAL WAREHOUSE 
BRANCHES IN THE MEKONG DELTA REGION, NORTHERN 
REGION AND HO CHI MINH CITY REGION TO ENSURE 
PRODUCT QUANTITY, QUALITY AND LOGICAL DELIVERY. 

CENTRAL 
WAREHOUSE 
BRANCHES

BESIDES THE TRADITIONAL CHANNELS - PHARMACIES, 
AGENTS, AND HOSPITALS, DHG PHARMA IS THE PIONEER 
IN DEVELOPING MODERN DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS AND 
PROMOTING EXPORT.

TRADITIONAL 
CHANNEL

HOSPITAL 
CHANNEL

>27,000 CUSTOMERS, 
THE TOTAL NUMBER OF 
CUSTOMERS AS AT 31 DEC 2018 IS 
IN WHICH, MORE THAN 1/2 ARE CLUB CUSTOMERS. CUSTOMERS

10%
THE COMPANY ESTABLISHED A PRODUCT INTRODUCTION CHANNEL 
SPECIALIZED IN CLINICS IN OVER 34 PROVINCES AND CITIES.

OF THE REVENUE OF 
THE SALES SECTOR. 

REVENUE OF THE HOSPITAL CHANNEL 
ACCOUNTED FOR MORE THAN 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TERM III (2014 - 2018)

DHG TRA PME DBD DMC IMP MKP OPC DCL DBT PMC LDP SPM

Net revenue 3,882 1,798 1,675 1,401 1,385 1,185 1,157 1,002 804 776 455 432 391

Profit before tax 732 216 386 201 286 174 135 130 20 26 93 (20) 13

Profit after tax 651 175 309 163 229 139 108 101 13 21 74 (20) 11

2 3

          (in accordance with selling prices)
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BEING THE LEADING ENTERPRISE IN APPLYING SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY IN 
OPERATION (R&D, PRODUCTION, INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT)

PRODUCTION AND R&D ACTIVITIES 

The effervescent tablet production line and effervescent powder production line have  
been certified to meet PIC/s - GMP standard (Malaysia).  

As at 31 Dec 2018, 34 products were announced bioequivalent.

The tablet production line of the Non-Betalactam Factory has been certified to meet  
Japan - GMP standard (Japan).

Successfully connected scientific cooperation with the Institute of Biotechnology, Institute of Medicinal 
Materials, Can Tho University as well as domestic and foreign prestigious research centers, etc in order 
to cooperate in product research and development.

DHG Pharma’s product quality is always strictly complied with the regulations on ISO/IEC 17025, GMP-
WHO, GLP, GSP, GDP, GPP in the process of production, storage and distribution. It is also complied 
with the regulations of the Ministry of Health, Drug Administration of Vietnam, Food Safety and Hygiene 
Department and local health departments.

Basically completed the design of automatic managerial accounting system on BFO. 

Operated DHG Co-Prosperity App, DHG Family App. Developed sales plan on each customer, cash/
goods risk management system in the sales system on mobile devices, the integrated project “automatic 
shipment” with electronic invoices and budget management projects, etc. 

Completed deployment and utilization of electronic invoices throughout the sales system. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INFORMATION 

DHG Pharma accompanied the program “Special 
White Blouse Mission” in 3 consecutive years, 
building a beautiful image of the health workers 
in the white blouse, sharing daily activities of 
health workers, helping people better understand 
doctors and creating the image of doctors and the 
pharmaceutical industry in the minds of people. 

After 16 years of operation, the “Sponsoring poor 
patients” Fund has been closed with many human 
values for the community and society. In order to 
inherit and enhance the values of the “Sponsoring 
Poor Patients” Fund, DHG Pharma has continued to 
set up the “For a more beautiful and healthier life” 
Fund with new directions and more extensive scale 
since Sept 2018.  In addition to supporting difficult 
circumstances, the Fund will focus on encouraging 
the development of health, culture, education and 
community for many provinces across the country.

BECOMING A SYMBOL OF HUMANITY IN CONTRIBUTING TO THE SOCIETY AND 
ENHANCING THE QUALITY OF LIFE

From 2016 to 2018, DHG Pharma has carried out 
210 “Free examination and medicine providing” for 
110,000 turns inside and outside Vietnam with the 
total cost of VND 8 billion. 

The Company’s Blood Donation Club has developed 
remarkably with 500 members since it began in 
2007. In 3 years from 2016 - 2018, 7 turns of blood 
donation were organized with 856 blood donors 
and with a total of 1,093 units of blood stored at 
Cantho Blood Center.

Annually, the Company organizes customer 
conferences, VIP conferences, Vu Lan for 
customers’ parents, summer experience programs 
for customers’ children, etc. These programs were 
participated, supported and highly appreciated by 
many customers. 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TERM III (2014 - 2018)
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• Deployed “Standardizing Flowchart and 
Corporate Governance Process” Project. As at  
31 Dec 2018, DHG Pharma issued 177/251 processes 
(equivalent to 71%), the remaining 74/251 processes  
are under development (equivalent to 29%).

• Corporate governance through completing KPI 
(Key Performance Indicator) for all positions in 
the Company.

• Updated new contents of the Labor Code, Law on 
Social Insurance & Health Insurance, Knowledge 
of Safety of Labor Protection, Food Hygiene and 

Safety and “Management Capacity” courses. 
Besides, advanced trainings on risk management, 
product knowledge, sales policy, integration 
trainings, training programs and specialized 
courses have also been updated to ensure work 
and professional development.

• Implemented responsibilities for employees 
through activities such as organizing periodic 
health examinations for all employees, organizing 
intensive health checks for employees, who are 
working under hard and toxic environment and 
high-quality health examinations for employees.

In addition to the above results, DHG Pharma still has several 
limitations, which are opportunities for the next term. 

SEVERAL ISSUES NEED TO BE IMPROVED

Changes in macro environment, regulations on the use of 
electronic invoices, drug management according to the 
national unified software. The regulations on antibiotic products 
management and special control products have dramatically 
affected the business results of 2018. However, it is an opportunity 
to help reputable enterprises sustainably develop in the long 
term development.       

The risk management model of the Company is not as complete 
as projected. The Company is in the process of finalizing the 
system of risk management policy framework and measuring 
as well as risk management tools, aiming to international 
standards and practices. 

The operating frequency of committees that are directly under 
the BOD is not high. Committees have not sufficiently acted as 
advisors of the BOD towards specialized issues.

WELL-IMPROVING AND DEVELOPING CRUCIAL RESOURCES

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
TERM III (2014 - 2018)
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FUJI MEDIC LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY (FUJI MEDIC) - A SUBSIDIARY WITH 51%

Fuji Medic was 
established in July 2016 from 
three partners including DHG 

Pharma, Nomura Trading Co., 
Ltd, and Japan Medical 

Laboratory Co., Ltd. The core 
business line of the company 

is mobile clinic and health 
status analysis/ testing. 

BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2017

BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2018

The net revenue is VND 2.1 billion, reaching 23.0% of the yearly plan 
and the profit after tax is negative VND 3.6 billion. The low business 
result is due to the fact that in 2017, the Company’s actual operating 
time was only 3-4 months. As a result, the company had to wait for 
the Department of Health to issue permits, re-establish facilities and 
relocate to the new location.

The net revenue is VND 4 billion, reaching 57.0% and the profit after 
tax is negative VND 4 billion. The main reason is due to the lack of 
experience in marketing and sales. In addition, the advantages and 
strengths of Fuji Medic are not exploited under the professional 
guidance of Japanese partner - JML. Besides, the field of health care 
and examination meets considerable competition and the mobile 
examination model is quite new to Vietnamese. In 2019, DHG Pharma 
plans to divest all of DHG Pharma’s capital at Fuji Medic in order to 
restructure the Company’s operations and streamline its management 
apparatus. 

2017 2018 GROWTH 

Business results 

Net revenue 2,074 3,993 92.6%

Profit after tax (3,552) (3,960)

Accounting balance 

Current assets 11,128 7,432 -33.2%

Non-current assets 12,613 12,473 -1.1%

Total assets 23,741 19,905 -16.2%

Owner’s equity 23,417 19,457 -16.9%

VINH HAO ALGAE JOINT STOCK COMPANY (SPIVIHA)  - AN AFFILIATE WITH 31.36%

SPIVIHA was established 
in 2008 in Vinh Hao, Binh Thuan 
province where the natural 
mineral water source is located. 
The location is suitable for 
growing natural Spirulina algae, 
providing high-quality inputs for 
producing DHG Pharma’s 
SPIVITAL product upon the  
value chain. 

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES

BUSINESS RESULT FROM 2016 TO 2018

It is invested is to create a stable source of raw materials for 
the production of Spivital and other biotech products. 

The product consumption faced many difficulties, production 
activities were narrowed below the breakeven point and 
the provision for devaluation of inventories was recorded at  
VND 2.4 million for algae products produced before 2014.  
As a result, Spiviha’s business performance in this period did 
not reach the expectation. Although, the company’s revenue 
in 2018 experienced a drop year over year, the profit after tax 
reduced losses compared to 2017 thanks to Spiviha’s efforts to 
reduce costs.

FIGURES IN 2016 2017 2018

Production volume Kg 3,009 6,775 3,943

Consumption volume Kg 5,907 6,527 3,620

Net revenue VND million 3,146 3,270 1,775

Profit after tax VND million (2,040) (1,628) (595)

Total assets VND million 10,463 8,939 8,343

Owner equity VND million 10,356 8,728 8,133

Charter capital VND million 12,000 12,000 12,000

ASSESSMENT ON THE BUSINESS RESULTS OF 
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES
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One of the important strategic objectives of DHG Pharma is the strategy of building 
the deepest, broadest, most professional and diversified distribution channel. In order to 
implement this strategy, DHG Pharma has the following advantages:

MARKET SECTOR 

A deep and widespread distribution system with 36 branches for 
distributing goods across the country from urban to rural areas 
(distributed to 3 levels: city, district and commune) with more than 
27,000 customers and operating on 3 channels and all over the country.

The sales team with more than 1,500 employees who are professionally 
trained will help DHG Pharma’s products increasingly delivered to 
each customer in 63 provinces.

The marketing strategy is a long-term, clear and throughout (5 years) 
investment and in accordance with the Company’s strategy.

The Company promoted the application of many information 
technology solutions such as DHG Co-Prosperity, DHG Family, BAP, 
Power BI, Magic Mirror. Tools and supplies used for sales support are 
quite good (tablets, application softwares, etc). 

The Company also promoted attractive sales policies and customer 
care and appreciation activities that created a good impression.

Large central warehouse systems in Can Tho, Ho Chi Minh City and 
Hanoi help professionalize its logistics system which ensured that 
products could be delivered to customers quickly; the inventory is 
strictly controlled and losses can be avoided. 

SEVERAL OUTSTANDING RESULTS IN 2018 

Traditional channel 
Pharmacy and 

Hospital

Modern channel/ B2B:
Supermarkets, pharmacy 

chains, enterprises

E-commerce channel
Lazada, Tiki, TV 

Homeshopping, etc.

DISTRIBUTION BRANCHES
ACROSS THE COUNTRY 

36

CUSTOMERS

>27,000

SALES STAFF 
1,500

PHARMACY CHANNEL
Completed the set criteria regarding coverage, the development 
of customers and Club customers. The number of Club customers 
increased by 24% over the same period.

TRADITIONAL CHANNEL

CONSULTATION WORKSHOPS

Carried out centralized communication to the right consumers with 
high frequency in accordance with the timelines set within the 5-year 
brand strategy and the humanitarian orientation of DHG Pharma.

Organized many consultation workshops for doctors, customers 
and consumers to introduce, promote product quality and enhance 
awareness of new products and key products of the Company. In 
particular, the Company organized 535 workshops for doctors, 62 
workshops for customers and 32 workshops for consumers.

HOSPITAL CHANNEL
Maximized the winning bid volume by increasing doctors’ prescription 
awareness on DHG Pharma’s product effectiveness. 

Invested in VIP customers, who are influential people and important 
decision makers, to enhance general supports for DHG Pharma’s 
products.

Cooperated tightly among Hospital Channel Team, Brand-Category 
Team and Branches.

MODERN CHANNEL
The Modern channel is strongly developed in both size and quality. In 
2018, the channel developed 11 customers that are supermarkets and 
large pharmacy chains. In particular, 08/11 customers maintain regular 
orders such as Aeon, Big C, Guardian, An Khang, Medicare, Pharmacity 
and VinFa.

Currently, 139 SKUs have been sold into this customer system.

TECHNOLOGY AND SCIENCE 
The application of science and technology brought many positive 
effects in internal communication, sales management and humanities. 
Customers are able to self-check information related to trading, 
transaction, payment, promotion, etc. with DHG Pharma at anytime 
and anywhere. DHG Pharma was also able to convey its operating 
information, introduces product trainings, advertising, sales, etc. to 
customers, sales staff and employees quickly, efficiently at no cost. 
Similarly, this is also a channel connecting and transferring effective 
information between leaders and employees, a cost-effective ordering 
channel. 

REPORT OF 
THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
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PRODUCTION, RESEARCH AND QUALITY ACTIVITIES 

PRODUCTION SECTOR 

DHG Pharma has a large 
production capacity and 
spacious factories. Its production 
equipment meets a variety 
of dosage forms. The BOM’s 
automation policy in production 
investments has partly 
encouraged the Production 
Sector to invest in a number of 
devices to boost productivity, 
timely meet demands for goods 
and increase production and 
business efficiency. 

Thanks to the consultation 
of Taisho experts, production 
personnel has gradually 
improved their awareness and 
responsibilities of each person 
in the process of creating stable 
and high quality products.

In 2018, the total production 
volume of two plants reached 
4,548 million units, featuring an 
increase of 15.2% over the same 
period and reaching 99.6% of 
the annual plan. The production 
value reached VND 5,247 
billion, depicting a rise of 28.1% 
compared to 2017 and reaching 
108.8% of the yearly plan. 

DHG Pharmaceutical Plant 
Branch in Hau Giang played 
the most important role 
in production activities of  
DHG Pharma, contributing 
74.0% of volume and 84.5% of its 
value. The production volume of 
the Betalactam Plant accounted 
for 11.0% of the total production 
volume but its value contributed 
31.0% to the Company. 

In Oct/2018, the effervescent 
tablet production line and 
effervescent powder production 
line were certified to meet PIC/s 
- GMP standard by the National 
Pharmaceutical Regulatory 
Agency (NPRA) - Malaysia, which 
creates competitive edge in 
bidding. 

The tablet production line of 
the Non-Betalactam plant was 
certified Japan - GMP.

The Betalactam plant was 
successfully re-assessed GMP 
- WHO, which was certified in 
Nov/2018.

NVC Factory completed the 
repair and renovation of the 
health protection supplement 
production line. It also completed 
the GMP evaluation dossier for 
health protection supplement in 
Q1/2019. 

All employees of the Production 
Sector fully participated in labor 
safety and hygiene trainings 
and fire prevention and fighting 
trainings, which were organized by 
the Department of Environment 
and Labor Safety. The work 
environment index was within 
the allowable limits. Performed 
inspection/ calibration for all types 
of machinery and equipment with 
strict requirements on labor safety 
as prescribed. 

The Quality Control Dept. 
continued to be certified ISO/IEC 
17025 : 2005.

Upgraded the packaging 
certificate of ISO 15378 2011 
version to 2015 version. 

MILLION 
UNITS4,548 

Total production volume of 2 plants 
BILLION5,247 

Production value 

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCT REGULATORY AFFAIR 

Research and development in the period 2016 - 
2020 focused on the following resolutions:

Researching and registering at least 5 off-patent 
products per year.

Developing at least 05 new products from 
the application of biotechnology to create 
distinguished features in the dietary supplements 
and cosmeceuticals

Strategically cooperating with leading specialized 
research institutions in Vietnam.

Orienting to joint research activities and projects 
with other countries. 

Some highlights of the research and development 
in 2018:

Researched 5 off-patent products, 02 invitro 
products were sent for bioequivalent testing. 

Manufactured 14 new products including 13 
pharmaceutical products and 1 cosmeceutical 
product. Innovated 18 products.

Launched 9 new products with many different 
dosage forms, especially 1 sustained-release 
product and 1 solid dispersion tablet.

34 products were announced bioequivalent as at 31 
Dec 2018.

Successfully connected for joint research with the 
Institute of Biotechnology, Institute of Medicinal 
Materials, Cantho University, and other prestigious 
research centers, both within and outside Vietnam, 
etc. This connection establishes the foundation 
for cooperation in researching and developing 
products from biotechnology, with scientifically 
clinical-proven results and achieving bioequivalence 
to bring about efficacy in support, treatment, and 
health care. 

Investing in research and 
development is a prerequisite to create a 
differentiated product system, which 
increases the Company’s competitive 
advantages. DHG Pharma has an 
abundant financial resource to supply for 
research activities.

REPORT OF 
THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
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Implemented IT application effectively 

• Printed labels for bags delivered to customers through orders using 
barcode / QR code at the central warehouses.

• Managed risks regarding cash and goods in the sales system 
through mobile devices and electronic invoices.

• Integrated “automatic delivery” with electronic invoices.

Carried out “Standardizing Flowchart and Corporate Governance 
Process” Project. 177/251 processes have been issued, and the remaining 
74/251 processes are under development. 

Completed the organization and development of the Regulation on 
controlling transactions with related parties.

As an enterprise with over 3,000 employees, extensive distribution 
channels, and turnover of over VND 4,000 billion, etc. DHG Pharma 
places its core value on human resource. All activities of the Company 
are planned and conducted on the basis of the key principles of 
“responsibility, cooperation, and incentives”, which also functions 
as the main foundation for the building of its manpower as well 
as for attracting and retaining its talented staffs. On these bases,  
DHG Pharma’s employees have been increasingly creative, fulfilled 
their skills, and mastered and confidently taken control of technology. 
It is these young generations’ creativity and enthusiasm with the 
thought of “dare to think, dare to do” that has greatly contributed to 
the Company’s success in building trust from consumers, customers 
and investors. These achievements have enabled DHG Pharma to 
maintain its leading position in the pharmaceutical industry in terms 
of revenue, profitability, scale, and production capacity for many 
consecutive years.

In collaboration with E&Y, DHG Pharma has issued and implemented 
“Competency Dictionary of DHG Pharma”, which forms the foundation 
for evaluating employees, designing training programs and developing 
career development roadmap for all staffs. 

FINANCE - ACCOUNTING 

OFFICE SECTOR 

• Completed FOL lifting 
procedures from 49% to 100% 
and distribution procedure 
for 138,770 shares to key 
employees.

• Effectively utilized the 
Company’s cash resources in 
order to create added value 
for the Company. As a result, 
the financial income of FY 2018 
reached VND 106 billion and 
the financial profit reached 
VND 72 billion. In particular, 
the effectiveness brought by 
from negotiation with banks, 
investment in certificates 
of deposit and utilization of 
financial leverage was VND 24 
billion.

• Strictly monitored the 
compliance in operating 
the system and improving 
its processes of corporate 
governance.

• Renovated and improved 
the quality of information 
provided through analytical 
reports, budget reports, 
management reports, etc. to 
help the BOM make quick, 
accurate decisions in a timely 
manner.

• Completed automatic 
financial system designs on 
BFO.

• Carried out and utilized 
electronic invoices in the sales 
system.

HUMAN RESOURCES - BACK OFFICE

PERSONNEL CHANGES IN TERMS OF MANAGERIAL 
TITLES APPOINTED BY THE BOD

NO. DATE CONTENT DECISION

1 10 May 2018

Appointment of Mr. Nguyen Hoang Nam  
to hold the position of Production 
Director of DHG Pharma from  
15 May 2018.

BOD’s decision No. 044/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

2 25 Oct 2018

Dismissal from the Quality Director 
position of DHG Pharma to  
Ms. Ha My Dung (dismissal in 
accordance with letter of retirement).

BOD’s decision No. 063/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

3 29 Oct 2018

Extension of appointment for the 
position of Deputy General Director in 
charge of production and supply chain 
of DHG Pharma from 26 Oct 2018 until 
the end of the third term of office 
(2014 - 2018) of DHG Pharma’s BOD to  
Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata.   

BOD’s decision No. 066/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

4 25 Dec 2018

Extension of appointment as Legal 
Representative, Interim General 
Director from 01 Jan 2019 until the end 
of the third term of office (2014 - 2018) 
of DHG Pharma’s BOD to Mr. Doan 
Dinh Duy Khuong. 

BOD’s decision No. 081/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

5 25 Dec 2018

Appointment of Ms. Nguyen Ngoc Diep 
who is currently the Deputy General 
Director in charge of production and 
supply chain will hold the position of 
Quality Director of DHG Pharma since 
01 Jan 2019.

BOD’s decision No. 082/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

6 25 Dec 2018 Extension of appointment for Supply 
Chain Director from 01 Jan 2019 until 
the end of the third term of office 
(2014- 2018) of DHG Pharma’s BOD to  
Mr. Atsushi Toyoshima. 

BOD’s decision No. 083/2018/
QĐ.HĐQT

REPORT OF 
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INVESTMENT IN MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 
TO BOOST PRODUCTION CAPACITY

With international quality certification,  
DHG Pharma not only strengthens its position as 
the largest domestic pharmaceutical enterprise in 
Vietnam, but also given the opportunity to supply 
more medical treatment drugs in hospitals and 
manufactures high standard medicines at 
competitive prices, bringing many values and 
benefits to the community.

These machines and equipment were 
invested with modern technology and 
high capacity from highly reputable 
suppliers in the international market. 
On 06 Mar 2019, the tablet production 
line of Non - Betaclactam Factory was 
certified Japan - GMP. This is a good 
standard of medicine production in 
Japan that is equivalent to EU - GMP, 
US - FDA, etc. With international quality 
certification, DHG Pharma not only 
strengthens its position as the largest 
domestic pharmaceutical enterprise in 
Vietnam, but also gains opportunities 
to supply more medical treatment 
drugs in hospitals and manufactures 
high standard medicines at competitive 
prices, bringing many values and benefits 
to the community. Products will also be 
soon available in Japan, the second 
largest drug consumer in the world and 
covers the entire Southeast Asia. In the 
near future, DHG Pharma will continue 
to upgrade a series of remaining lines 
to international standards in order to 
increase the Company’s pharmaceutical 
portfolio to the world. 

In 2018, more than 20 investment projects 
in machinery and equipment as well as 
annual maintenance were carried out for 
the Quality, Production and Technology 
Sector with a total investment of  
VND 24.6 billion. Projects had been 
planned from the beginning of the year. 
Before putting into implementation, 
these projects were analyzed and fully 
evaluated in many different aspects. 
Resources and cash flow were effectively 
allocated but still ensure that projects 
were implemented in a timely manner, 
meeting the demands of the Company 
and the market.

PROJECT UPGRADING THE FACTORY STANDARD  
TO MEET PIC/S - GMP STANDARDS

INVESTMENT RESULTS

PHASE 1 

UPGRADING THE EFFERVESCENT 
PRODUCTION LINE TO PIC/S - GMP

Investment objectives

• Increasing competitiveness in bidding.

• Meeting standards of importing countries in 
order to export quality products. First is to meet 
Malaysia’s import standards.

• Meeting the conditions of production cooperation 
with foreign partners in the future.

Investment value

• Approved investment value in Phase 1 is  
VND 35 billion. Disbursement as at 31 Dec 2018 
is VND 23.4 billion. The settlement is projected to 
complete in Q1/2019.

• In Oct/2018, the effervescent tablet production 
line and effervescent powder production line 
were certified to meet PIC/s - GMP standard by 
the National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency 
(NPRA) - Malaysia. 

Investment objectives

Appling PIC/s standard to all remaining lines of the 
Non-Betalactam and Betalactam factory at DHG 
Pharmaceutical Plant in Hau Giang to:

• Actively catching up trends of the Vietnamese 
pharmaceutical industry in the future

• Increasing competitiveness in bidding. 

• Satisfying standards of importing countries in 
order to expand exports with quality products. 

• Meeting the conditions of production cooperation 
with foreign partners in the future.

Investment value

• Approved investment value in Phase 1 is  
VND 6.5 billion. It is projected to be implemented 
in Q4/2018 and 2019. 

PHASE 2 

UPGRADING THE FACTORY STANDARD IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PIC/S - GMP

Investment location: DHG Pharmaceutical Factory  
Address: Kiosk B2- B3, Tan Phu Thanh Industrial Zone - Phase 1, Tan Phu Thanh Commune, Chau Thanh A District, Hau Giang Province.
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REVENUE OF DHG PHARMA  
IN THE PERIOD 2014 - 2018

PROFITABILITY RATIO OF LISTED PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES IN 2017 - 2018

DHG Pharma’s total net revenue decreased by 4.4% compared 
to the previous year, mainly due to the discontinuing of goods 
distribution after FOL lifting. However, the net revenue from finished 
goods (accounting for 81.7% of the Company’s revenue structure) 
increased by 3.8% compared to 2017. In the upcoming years, therefore,  
DHG Pharma will focus on the development of its own core products, 
which earns high profit for shareholders.

In 2018, DHG Pharma retains its leading position in profitability, compared with other listed counterparts. 
Such an impressive achievement in a highly competitive market could be seen as the outcomes of its 
effective control of the operating and production costs.

The increase of 3.8% in in-house goods compared to the previous year 
has functioned as the backbone in the Company’s business after FOL 
lifting. DHG Pharma continues to lead the industry in business scale 
and remains one of the highest growth in in-house goods sale in 2018. 

Export sales reached VND 62 billion, up 24.7%, higher than the growth 
rate of 18.3% in 2017 and accounted for 1.6% in the company’s total 
revenue structures. DHG Pharma’s exported products have gradually 
established an increasingly higher position in the market after the 
Company changes its business strategies at international markets.  
In corporation with Taisho, developing new markets has been identified 
as an important focus of the company’s exporting sector.

FIGURES IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net revenue VND Billion 3,913 3,608 3,783 4,063 3,882

Finished Goods VND Billion 3,569 2,672 3,027 3,054 3,171

Merchandise VND Billion 328 916 702 951 692

Services VND Billion 16 21 54 58 19
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DHG PHARMA’S PROFITABILITY RATE IN THE PERIOD 2014-2018

Overall, the gross profit margin of the Company 
increased by 0.3% due to the increase in in-house 
goods, from 75.2% to 81.7% in its revenue structure. 
However, the gross profit of in-house goods 
decreased sharply by 2.5% due to the increase in 
the input price and the USD exchange rate.

Profit before tax reached VND 732 billion, achieving 
95.3% of the target set at the beginning of the year. 
The profit margins before or after tax increased 
by 1.1% and 1.0%, respectively, proving that DHG 
Pharma was efficient in managing its operating costs. 

Profitability ratio to total assets and total equity 
decreased slightly, compared to the previous 
year. In particular, ROA decreased by 0.3% when 
the total asset growth rate is higher than the net 
revenue rate, due to the investment requirements for 
upgrading the production standards and improving 
production volume. ROE decreased by 0.8%, which 
will be analyzed in detail by the Dupont analysis 
method in the next section. 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Gross profit margin 54.5% 39.2% 45.3% 43.9% 44.2%

In which:      

Finished goods 58.8% 51.5% 54.0% 55.3% 52.7%

Distribution goods 7.9% 3.3% 4.8% 5.3% 4.2%

Profit before tax margin 18.5% 19.4% 20.0% 17.7% 18.9%

Profit after tax margin (ROS) 13.6% 16.4% 18.2% 15.8% 16.8%

ROA 16.3% 17.3% 18.8% 16.0% 15.7%

ROE 25.0% 24.6% 25.5% 22.8% 22.1%

Source: Audited consolidated calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma

Source: Audited consolidated financial statement of DHG Pharma

DHG TRA DMC IMP OPC PME DBD MKP

2018      

ROS 16.8% 9.7% 16.5% 11.7% 10.1% 18.5% 11.6% 9.3%

ROA 15.7% 11.3% 16.5% 9.5% 8.9% 15.1% 10.9% 8.4%

ROE 22.1% 15.7% 22.0% 9.6% 16.8% 18.2% 18.9% 10.1%

2017      

ROS 15.8% 13.9% 15.5% 10.1% 9.1% 17.7% 11.8% 8.4%

ROA 16.0% 18.0% 17.4% 8.0% 9.5% 16.0% 11.0% 9.4%

ROE 22.8% 24.4% 22.6% 10.1% 15.7% 19.5% 20.5% 11.3%

Source: Audited financial statements of the Companies 2017-2018
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DUPONT ANALYSIS

DUPONT ANALYSIS MEANING 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net income/EBT Tax Burden 73.9% 84.5% 91.0% 89.3% 89.0%

EBT/EBIT Interest Burden 104.3% 103.2% 105.9% 108.6% 111.5%

EBIT/Net revenue Operating Profit Margin 17.7% 18.8% 18.9% 16.3% 16.9%

Net income/Net revenue Return on Sales (ROS) 13.6% 16.4% 18.2% 15.8% 16.8%

Net revenue/Average total 
assets Asset Turnover Ratio 1.19 1.05 1.04 1.01 0.94

ROA Return on Asset 16.3% 17.3% 18.8% 16.0% 15.7%

Average total assets/ 
Average owner’s equity Financial Leverage Ratio 1.54 1.42 1.36 1.43 1.40

ROE Return on Equity 25.0% 24.6% 25.5% 22.8% 22.1%

In detailed analysis of ROS, the increase 
rate of 1 % in 2018 compared to the 
previous  year mainly comes from 
financial income (interest income), 
which was up by 28.1%, together with 
the efficient control of the interest 
payable expenses, which increased the 
net profit from term deposit investment 
by 33.1%. Besides, effective control of 
sales and administration expenses, 
aiming to improve cost efficiency 
helped to increase the operating profit/
gross profit margin by 0.6%.

The ROA ratio, however, dropped by 
0.3% although ROS increased by 1% 
due to the fact that the assets turnover 
decreased by 7.5%, equivalent to 0.08 
times. This comes from the fact that 
revenue growth rate did not correspond 
the intensive investing activities to 
maximize the production volume and 
modernize information technology.  
ROE ratio decreased significantly 
compared to the decreasing rate 
of 0.8% while the average financial 
leverage in 2018 decreased 0.03 times.

ASSET TURNOVER RATIOS

ANALYSIS OF DHG PHARMA’S CASH FLOW IN THE PERIOD OF 2014 - 2018 (VND BILLION)

All asset turnover ratios fluctuated in 2018. Inventories turnover decreased 
by 0.5 times while the inventories balance as at 31 Dec 2018 was 40.7%, 
higher than that at the beginning of the year. Payables increased by 
2.4 times while receivables turnover dropped by 0.2 times. As a result,  
the cash conversion cycle of DHG Pharma was 156 days/cycle, increasing 
by 31 days, compared to that of the year 2017.

The reason why the inventories 
turnover was higher than that 
of 2017, which was quite special, 
because the demands in 2017 
suddenly went up significantly at 
the end of the year. The inventory 
level in 2018, however, was 
comparable to that of 2016. 

The cash flow from the 
Company’s production activities 
was in downtrend from 2016 
while the total cash outflow for 
investing and financing activities 
increased significantly. The net 
cash outflow in 2018, therefore, 
was VND 473 billion, which  
reached the highest outflow 

rate in the past 5 years. Apart 
from investment in machines for 
improving production capacity 
and modernizing information 
technology, DHG Pharma’s 
Management Board also took 
advantage of free cash flow to 
invest in term deposit (over 3 
months) with low inherent risk but 

high interest rate. Average cash 
and cash equivalents balance 
decreased sharply by 86.2% 
compared to the amount of the 
same period in the previous year 
but still ensured the capacity for 
liquidity requirements of daily 
settlement.

RATIO 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Inventory turnover 2.3 3.1 3.0 3.3 2.8

Payables turnover 6.7 9.0 8.0 8.2 10.6

Receivables turnover 6.1 5.4 6.3 6.0 5.7

Source: Audited consolidated and calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma 

Source: Audited consolidated and calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma 

Source: Audited consolidated and calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma 
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The fluctuation of both ROA and ROE ratios was various 
among different companies but in general all suffered from a 
decreasing trend, due to the fact that  the revenue growth rates 
did not match with the expectations of investment in assets.
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CATEGORIES 2018 % IN 2018 2017 % IN 2017

CURRENT ASSETS 3,148 74.8% 2,939 71.9%

Cash and equivalents 76 1.8% 550 13.5%

Short-term financial investment 1,460 34.7% 931 22.8%

Receivables 670 15.9% 800 19.6%

Inventories 891 21.2% 634 15.5%

Other current assets 51 1.2% 25 0.6%

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,058 25.2% 1,148 28.1%

Fixed-assets 977 23.2% 1,027 25.1%

Long-term investments 25 0.6% 15 0.4%

Other non-current assets 56 1.3% 107 2.6%

TOTAL ASSETS 4,206 100.0% 4,087 100.0%

LIABILITIES 1,062 25.2% 1,328 32.5%

Short-term liabilities 1,001 23.8% 1,265 30.9%

Long-term liabilities 60 1.4% 63 1.6%

Owner’s equity 3,144 74.8% 2,759 67.5%

TOTAL RESOURCES 4,206 100.0% 4,087 100.0%

ITEM 2018 % REVENUE 
2018 2017 % REVENUE 

2017
GROWTH  

RATE

Net revenue 3,882 100.0% 4,063 100.0% -4.4%

COGS 2,165 55.8% 2,280 56.1% -5.0%

Gross profit 1,717 44.2% 1,783 43.9% -3.7%

Finance income (excluding interest income) 4 0.1% 7 0.2% -52.3%

Finance expenses (excluding interest expenses) 68 1.7% 73 1.8% -7.7%

Selling expenses 725 18.7% 732 18.0% -1.0%

Administration expenses 286 7.4% 318 7.8% -10.3%

Other incomes 18 0.5% 7 0.2% 169.5%

Other expenses 4 0.1% 10 0.2% -57.4%

Losses from associates (0) 0.0% (1) 0.0% -92.8%

EBIT 656 16.9% 662 16.3% -1.0%

Interest incomes 104 2.7% 81 2.0% 28.1%

Interest expenses 29 0.7% 25 0.6% 16.2%

Profit before tax 732 18.9% 719 17.7% 1.7%

Corporate Income tax 81 2.1% 77 1.9% 5.0%

Profit after tax 651 16.8% 642 15.8% 1.4%

Total assets of DHG Pharma 
increased by 2.9% compared to 
the opening balance, in which 
the short-term current asset 
increased by VND 208 billion, 
equivalent to 7.1% and accounted 
for 74.8% of the total asset 
structure. In the short-term current 
asset items, inventories and 
short-term financial investment 
both increased, which currently 
accounted for 34.7% and 21.2% 
respectively, of the total asset 
structure. DHG Pharma has 
turned its cash and equivalents 
to investments of 6-month and 
12-month term deposit after the 
Company balanced between 
short- and long-term cash flow. 
Such a shift not only added values 
to the free cash flow but also 
guaranteed its capacity for the 

Company’s liquidity. The inventory 
balance increased by more than 
40.7%, in addition to the effect 
from the increase in input prices 
also ensured that the Company 
supplied sufficient finished goods 
as demanded. Trade receivables 
decreased by 16.2% compared 
to the opening balance, mainly 
due to discontinuing other 
goods distribution (MSD, Eugica,  
raw materials), so the receivables 
decreased correspondingly.

Long-term assets decreased 
by 7.8% due to accumulated 
depreciation over the years, and 
DHG Pharma disposed land, 
buildings and unused equipment 
and unqualified transportation 
vehicles. All of these brought an 

income of over VND 18 billion for 
the Company. 

On 31 Dec 2018, the shareholders’ 
equity increased from 67.5% 
at the beginning of the year 
to 74.8%, which stabilized  
DHG Pharma’s equity and ensured 
its resources for future projects. 
Total liabilities decreased by 
20.1%, compared to the rate at 
the beginning of the year when, 
on 01 Jan 2018, the Company had 
an outstanding balance of the 
2nd dividend advance payment 
in 2017, equivalent to the amount 
of VND 196 billion, settled on  
25 Jan 2018. The loan balance 
increased by VND 88 billion while 
the trade payables decreased by 
VND 117 billion. 

BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2017 - 2018 ASSETS AND RESOURCES ANALYSIS

Source: Audited consolidated and calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma 

Unit: VND BILLION Unit: VND BILLION

Source: Audited consolidated and calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma 

• Net revenue decreased 4.4% mainly due to 
discontinuing other goods contribution after FOL 
lifting, while the net revenue from in-house goods 
increased by 3.8% compared to the rate of the 
previous year. As such, the revenue from in-house 
goods accounted for 81.7% compared to 75.2% 
in 2017, which resulted in an increase by 0.3 point 
percentage in gross profit margin of the Company. 

• The production input such as raw materials, 
minimum salary per area, other materials, and 
equipment all increased in purchase price, given 
the fluctuation of supplying sources and inflation, 
which together drove the gross profit margin of 
the in-house goods down by 2.5%.

• The total expenses for sales  and administration 
decreased by 3.8%, equivalent to VND 40 billion, 
which demonstrated the great effort of the Board 
of Management in controlling the operating costs 
and leaning sales and administration structure to 
improve operating efficiency.

• Other incomes increased sharply by VND 17 billion, 
mainly coming from real estate and equipment 
sales, and unnecessary transportation vehicle 
disposals.

• Earnings from financing activities, specifically from 
investment in term deposit, increased by VND 22,9 
billion, equal to 28.1% of the previous year and 
2.8% of the net revenue. The total investment value 
ranged from VND 1,200 to 1,400 billion, because 
the Company was successful in balancing the cash 
flow needed for settlement or incurrence so as 
to take advantage of the free cash flow. Besides, 
DHG Pharma has stable financial resources and 
long-term activities, so the interest rate applied 
for its term deposits was highly competitive. The 
interest expenses for its loans were controlled at 
reasonable rates, which yielded an increase of 
33.2% in its profits from term deposits, compared 
to that of the previous year. 

Profit after tax of the Company reached VND 651 billion, featuring an increase of 1.4% compared to that of 
2017, mainly coming from the following factors: 

ANALYSIS OF  
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PROFIT STRUCTURES OF OTHER PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES

With regards to the expenses-to-revenue analysis, 
DHG Pharma led other listed companies in the 
same industry. The largest expenses among 
pharmaceutical manufacturers are cost of goods 
sold.  Except for Traphaco and PME with a different 
range of products, DHG Pharma was the Company 

with lowest cost of goods sold margin among 
pharmaceutical manufacturers, delivering higher 
gross profit with the same revenue level. Economics 
of scale in conjunction with highly experienced labor 
force are seen as the Company’s strengths that 
enabled it to achieve these outstanding outcomes. 

Source: Audited financial statements of the Companies FY 2018

DHG TRA DMC IMP OPC PME DBD MKP

Net revenue 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

COGS 56% 48% 65% 61% 57% 52% 69% 77%

Selling expenses 19% 27% 10% 17% 21% 23% 12% 7%

Administration 
expenses 7% 12% 6% 7% 10% 3% 5% 6%

Finance income 2% 1% 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 0%

Tax burden 11% 19% 20% 20% 22% 20% 19% 20%

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION IN 2018

(Projected to submit to the AGM)

FUND BALANCE AFTER THE PROFIT DISTRIBUTION IN 2018  

NO. CONTENTS UNIT BALANCE AS AT 
31 DEC 2018(*)

PROJECTED 
PROFIT 

DISTRIBUTION 
IN 2018

BALANCE 
AFTER PROFIT 
DISTRIBUTION 

IN 2018

1. Bonus and Welfare Fund of 
Employees VND 35,376,228,936   65,108,903,082   100,485,132,018

2. Remuneration and Bonus of the 
BOD, BOS and Executive Board VND 7,983,652,438     6,000,000,000 13,983,652,438

3. Investment and Development 
Fund

VND 1,270,235,596,228 122,368,879,236 1,392,604,475,464

(*) The above balance was calculated as at 31 Dec 2018 and allocated projected profit distribution in 2018. In fact, the bonus and welfare fund for employees 
has formed welfare assets of VND 17.76 billion, the remaining VND 17.61 billion in cash paid for tet gifts, bonus for employees and welfare for employees’ families.  

As at 31 Mar 2019, the balance is 0.

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION AND  
FUND BALANCE IN 2018

TARGET APPROPRIATION RATE  IN 2018 AMOUNT (VND)

PAT in 2018 for distribution 651,089,030,818  

Dividend payment in 2018

Advance dividend payment of the 1st phase: 
10% par value on 31 Aug 2018

2nd Phase: 20% par value, payment is made on 
17 June 2019.

The remaining: 5% of par value (projected to 
be spent after the AGM).

Plan: 30% of par value

Proposal: 35% of par value
457,611,248,500

Allocation to the Bonus and Welfare Fund 10% of consolidated PAT     65,108,903,082   

Remuneration for the BOD, BOS, Committee’s 
members under the BOD and BOD Secretariat

Plan: VND 6 billion

Proposal: Following the plan 
      6,000,000,000

Bonus for the BOD, BOS, Committee’s members 
under the BOD, BOD Secretariat, Executive 
Board and key staffs in 2018.

Plan: 5% of consolidated PAT 
growth 

Proposal: unimplemented due to 
not achieving targets 

-

The remaining profit shall be added to the 
Investment & Development fund

The remaining       122,368,879,236
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FROM RESPECTED VALUES 

Throughout its development process, DHG Pharma has always prioritized raising its corporate 
governance capacity aiming to approach international standards, taking transparency as an 
ultimate standard, which is established on the foundation that Human - Corporate Culture 
- Governance System function as three crucial connected factors determining a strong 
development in conjunction with an ever-renovating spirit and innovations in all activities to 
constantly improve the efficiency of production and business activities.  



TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS

TIMELINE FOR INCREASING CHARTER CAPITAL 

Figures in: VND Billion

In 2018, the Company did not make any treasury share transactions. At present, the number of treasury 
shares the Company is holding: 0 share

CHANGES OF OWNERSHIP CAPITAL

In 2018, DHG Pharma did not issue any increases in its share capital. As a result the owners’ capital contribution 
as of 31 Dec 2018 did not change year over year, specifically as follows:

TARGET FIGURES IN 31 DEC 2018 31 DEC 2017

Number of ordinary shares with voting rights Share 130,746,071 130,746,071

Ownership contribution VND 1,307,460,710,000 1,307,460,710,000

Figures in: VND 1,000 

NO. SUBJECT TO ISSUANCE INCREASED 
CAPITAL

CHARTER 
CAPITAL AFTER 

INCREASES

BUSINESS 
REGISTRATION 

NUMBER 

DATE OF 
ISSUANCE  

1 Equitization:  
Initial charter capital 80,000,000 80,000,000

69/2006/GCNCP-
CNTTLK

18 Dec 
2006 

2

Existing shareholders; 
Strategic investors;
Employees;
Public offerings.

20,000,000 100,000,000
68/2007/GCNCP-

CNTTLK 17 Aug 2007 

3 Existing shareholders 
(Bonus share at a ratio of 1:1) 100,000,000 200,000,000

129/2007/GCNCP-
CNTTLK 11 Dec 2007 

4 Existing shareholders 
(Bonus share at a ratio of 3:1) 66,629,620 266,629,620 115/2009/GCNCP-CNVSD 09 Dec 2009

5 Employees (ESOP 2010) 2,500,000 269,129,620 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-4 16 Sept 2010 

6 Employees (ESOP 2011) 2,500,000 271,629,620 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-5 10 Jun 2011 

7 Existing shareholders 
(Bonus share at a ratio of 1:1.4) 380,134,670 651,764,290 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-6 03 Aug 2011

8 Employees (ESOP 2012) 2,000,000 653,764,290 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-7 25 Jun 2012

9 Existing shareholders 
(Bonus share at a ratio of 3:1) 217,879,010 871,643,300 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-8 27 Jun 2014

10 Existing shareholders  
(Bonus share at a ratio of 2:1) 435,817,410   1,307,460,710 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-9 20 Jun 2017 

Number of outstanding shares: 130,746,071 shares

Number of transferable shares: 130,599,396 shares

Number of restricted shares: 145,635 shares

SHARE INFORMATION
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Share sticker:

DHG

SHARE NAME:
SHARE OF  
DHG PHARMACEUTICAL JSC 

SHARE EXCHANGE:
HO CHI MINH CITY STOCK EXCHANGE 

 SHARES

NUMBER OF LISTED SHARES:

130,746,071

PAR VALUE: VND 10,000
(TEN THOUSAND DONG)

TYPE OF SHARE: ORDINARY SHARE 

CHARTER CAPITAL:

VND 1,307,460,710,000

• Restricted shares distributed to employees in accordance with the share distribution program in 2018: 
138,770 shares

• Redeemed ESOP of ex-employees that have not been foreclosed: 6,856 shares

• Restricted shares of SME due to suspended clearing operation: 9 shares.

Reasons for restricted shares:

SHARE INFORMATION  
AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
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SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE BY TYPE OF SHAREHOLDERS

NO. OBJECTS 
NUMBER  

OF  
SHARES

OWNERSHIP 
RATIO (%)

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

ORGANIZATION INDIVIDUAL

1 States shareholders  
(SCIC)  56,626,237 43.31%  1 1  -   

2

Major shareholders  45,761,086 34.99%  1  1  -   

- Domestic - - - - -

- Foreign  45,761,086 34.99%  1 1  -   

3 The Company’s Union  534,327 0.41%  1  1  -   

4 Treasury shares - - - - -

5

Other shareholders  27,824,421 21.29%  3,936  121  3,815 

- Domestic  15,547,836 11.89%  3,381  61  3,320 

- Foreign  12,276,585 9.40%  555  60  495 

TOTAL  130,746,071 100.00%  3,939  124  3,815 

In which: - Domestic  72,708,400 55.61%  3,383 63  3,320 

         - Foreign  58,037,671 44.39%  556 61  495 

Source: List of shareholders finalized on 14 Mar 2019

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

NO. SHAREHOLDER NAME NUMBER OF 
SHARES RATIO

1   SCIC  56,626,237   43.31%

2   Taisho  45,761,086   34.99%

3   Others  28,358,748   21.70%

Source: List of shareholders finalized on 14 Mar 2019

SHAREHOLDER 
STRUCTURE 

21.70%

34.99%

43.31%

SHARE INFORMATION  
AND SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

STRUCTURE OF MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND PROFESSIONAL SECURITY INVESTORS 

NO. OBJECT NUMBER 
OF SHARES

OWNERSHIP 
RATIO (%)

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

ORGANIZATION INDIVIDUAL 

1

Major shareholders 
who are not 
professional security 
investors own ≥ 5% of 
the charter capital

102,387,323 78.30% 2 2 -

-  Domestic 56,626,237 43.31% 1 1 -

-  Foreign 45,761,086 34.99% 1 1 -

2

Major shareholders 
who are professional 
security investors own 
≥ 5% of the charter 
capital

 -   0.00%  -      -      -     

-  Domestic  -   0.00%  -      -      -     

-  Foreign  -   0.00%  -      -      -     

3

Shareholders who are 
professional security 
investors own < 5% of 
the charter capital 

 11,595,291 8.87%  112    112    -     

-  Domestic  365,071 0.28%  52    52    -     

-  Foreign  11,230,220 8.59%  60    60    -     

TOTAL 113,982,614 87.17% 114 114 -

Source: List of shareholders finalized on 14 Mar 2019

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE BY TYPE OF SHARES

NO. OBJECTS RESTRICTED SHARES TRANSFERABLE SHARES TOTAL OWNERSHIP 
RATIO (%)

I. Internal persons  43,370    335,072    378,442   0.29%

II. The Company’s Union  6,856    527,471    534,327   0.41%

III. Other shareholders 95,409   129,737,893    129,833,302   99.30%

1 Domestic 95,409   71,700,222    71,795,631   54.91%

1.1 Individual 95,400  14,708,126    14,803,526   11.32%

1.2 Organization  9    56,992,096    56,992,105   43.59%

2 Foreign  -      58,037,671    58,037,671   44.39%

2.1 Individual  -      1,046,365    1,046,365   0.81%

2.2 Organization  -      56,991,306    56,991,306   43.58%

TOTAL 145,635   130,600,436    130,746,071   100.00%

Source: List of shareholders finalized on 14 Mar 2019
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MEMBERS AND STRUCTURE OF THE BOD

The Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, which was held on 
28 Apr 2014 approved the number 
of independent members of the 
BOD Term III (2014 - 2018) to be  
07 members. In which: The number 
of independent members is  
02 members Simultaneously, 
Article 32 of DHG Pharma’s 
Charter stipulated that 

PERSONNEL CHANGES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

At the AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018, the BOD nominated Mr. Phan Minh Tien to the position of independent 
BOD member. In addition, the AGM approved the additional election of Mr. Phan Minh Tien as an independent 
BOD member for the remaining period of Term III (2014 - 2018) of DHG Pharma with a win ratio of 83.62%. 

At least one-third (1/3) of the Board of Directors’ members are 
independent members; 

At least one-third (1/3) of the Board of Directors’ members 
are non-executive members. The minimum number of the 
independent Board of Directors’ member and non-executive 
members of the Board of Directors is determined by the 
method of rounding down.

Currently, the BOD member structure Term III (2014 - 2018) has ensured the balance between executive 
members, non-executive members and independent members in accordance with the provisions of the 
Company Charter and the Internal regulation on Corporate Governance. Independent BOD members are 2/7 
members, non-executive BOD members are 4/7 members and 1/7 executive BOD member as known as Interim 
General Director. With the help of the Nomination Committee, DHG Pharma has tried to find professional 
BOD members and maintain an appropriate structure to bring many benefits in the process of discussing and 
implementing the plan.

List of BOD members Term III (2014 - 2018) 

NO. FULL NAME INDEPENDENT 
BOD MEMBER 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
BOD MEMBER

EXECUTIVE  
BOD MEMBER

1 Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh X

2 Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga X

3 Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong X

4 Mr. Jun Kuroda X

5 Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha X

6 Mr. Tran Chi Liem X

7 Mr. Phan Minh Tien X

Term III (2014 - 2018) of the BOD will end at the AGM 2018 which is projected to be held on 11 June 2019. 
Therefore, the BOD Term IV (2019 - 2023) of DHG Pharma will be re-elected at the AGM 2018. The BOD 
structure of Term IV (2019-2023) is projected as follows: The number BOD member Term IV (2019 - 2023) is 
seven (07) members. Of which: 1/3 are independent BOD members - equivalent to two (02) independent 
members and 1/3 non-executive BOD members - equivalent to two (02) non-executive members. 

The BOD of DHG Pharma Term III (2014 - 2018) 

PERFORMANCES  
OF THE BOD 
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Attendance rate 

NO. BOD MEMBER TITLE ATTENDANCE RATE REASON FOR 
ABSENCE

1 Mr.  Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman 19/19 100%

2 Mdm. Pham Thi Viet 
Nga BOD Member 19/19 100%

3 Mr. Doan Dinh Duy 
Khuong 

BOD Member Interim 
General Director 19/19 100%

4 Mr. Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD 
Member 19/19 100%

5 Mr. Jun Kuroda BOD Member 19/19 100%

6 Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD Member 19/19 100%

7 Mr. Phan Minh Tien Independent BOD 
Member 14/19 73.68%

Additional 
election since 
28 Mar 2018

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD IN 2018

IMPLEMENTATION RESULT OF THE AGM RESOLUTION IN 2018

SUMMARY OF BOD MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS

The net revenue of 2018 is VND 3,882 billion, 
reaching 96.6% of the yearly target and 
experiencing a drop of 4.4% y.o.y. In which, 
the revenue of in-house goods increased by 
3.8% while the revenue of others experienced a 
decrease of 29.5% due to discontinued trading 
of MSD (since Apr/2018) and Eugica (since 
June/2018) in order to implement FOL Lifting. 

The PBT of 2018 is VND 732 billion, reaching 
95.3% of the yearly target and witnessing an 
increase of 1.7%.

The business result in 2018 did not reach projected 
targets due to the impact of new circulars and 
regulations of the pharmaceutical industry. 

In 2018, the BOD conducted 19 meetings, issued 19 Resolutions and 86 Decisions to solve issues 
under the functions and authorities of the BOD. In which, there were 06 face to face meetings and 
13 meetings via email. 

The BOS and BOM were invited to all of the BOD meetings in order to discuss a generate unanimity 
in the BOD’s strategies, business directions over the Executive Board. 

Deducted funds in accordance with the AGM resolution 2017 and made dividend payment in 2017 
for shareholders at the rate of 30% par value. Simultaneously, implemented advance dividend 
payment Phase 1/2018 at the rate of 10% par value. 

Signed an auditing agreement with Deloitte Vietnam Company Limited to audit the financial 
statements FY 2018.

Completed procedures merging DHG  Printing and Packaging 1 Limited Company and  
DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company into DHG Pharmaceutical JSC. Signed the 
merger agreement on 29 Mar 2018. On 01 Apr 2018, DHG Pharmaceutical Plant and  Printing and 
Packaging Plant operated as DHG Pharmaceutical Plant Branch in Hau Giang. 

Amended and supplemented the business lines of DHG Pharma. Amended and supplemented the 
Charter and internal corporate regulation of DHG Pharma. 

TARGET 2018F 2018 
ACTUAL

2017 
ACTUAL

% YEARLY 
PLAN

GROWTH 
2018/2017

Net revenue 4,017 3,882 4,063 96.6% -4.4%

PBT 768 732 719 95.3% 1.7%

PAT - 651 642 1.4%

PERFORMANCES  
OF THE BOD 
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Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong - Interim General Director of DHG Pharma presents  
at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2018 
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BOD Resolutions in 2018

NO. RESOLUTION NO. DATE RESOLUTION CONTENTS

1. 001/2018/NQ.HĐQT 11 Jan 2018 Approval of the investment proposal for factories. 

2. 002/2018/NQ.HĐQT 24 Jan 2018

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; The BOM’s report; Report of 
the Strategic Committee; Report of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee in 2017 and plans of 2018. 

Approval of contents prepared for the AGM 2017. Establishment of 
DHG Pharma’s dependent cost-accounting branch in Hau Giang; 
Personnel re-structuring of Committees under the BOD and other 
contents within the BOD’s authorities.

3. 003/2018/NQ.HĐQT 28 Feb 
2018

Continuously appointing Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong as Legal 
Representative, Interim General Director of DHG Pharma until 31 
Dec 2018. 

Approving the investment proposal to purchase machines for 
factories.

4. 004/2018/NQ.HĐQT 10 Mar 
2018

Approval of the business targets FY2018; The merger plan of DHG 
Pharma Ltd. and DHG PP1 into DHG Pharma; Nomination of Mr. 
Phan Minh Tien to be an independent BOD member Term III (2014 - 
2018) to submit to the AGM 2017.

Approval of the policy - “Upgrading the factory standard in 
accordance with the requirements of PIC/s-GMP - Phase 2” and 
other contents within the BOD’s authorities.

5. 005/2018/NQ.HĐQT 12 Mar 2018
Approval of the documents submitted to the AGM 2017. 

Approval of the list of commercial banking systems in 2018.

6. 006/2018/NQ.HĐQT 28 Mar 
2018

Approval of the consulting report prepared by DHG Pharma’s capital 
representatives at DHG PP1 and DHG Pharma Ltd.; Report prepared 
by the person in charge of the Company’s corporate governance in 
terms of the Analyst meeting Q1/2018. 

Implementation of the AGM resolution 2017 on 28 Mar 2018.

7. 007/2018/NQ.HĐQT 10 May 
2018

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; The BOM’s report; Report 
of the Strategic Committee; Report of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee; Report of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Q1/2018 and plans of Q2/2018.

Appointing Mr. Nguyen Hoang Nam to hold the position as 
Production Director. Suspending the conversion from DHG Pharma’s 
distribution branches in the Mekong region to representative offices. 
Establishing 3 branches (Regional central warehouses) in Cantho, 
HCMC and Hanoi.

Approving the contents related to the 2017 AGM of Song Hau 
Pharmaceutical JSC (SH Pharma) and Vinh Hao Algae Processing 
Joint Stock Company (SPIVIHA).

8. 008/2018/NQ.HĐQT 15 June 
2018

Amendment on the Company’s business lines in accordance with the 
AGM’s resolution. 

Came into an agreement with the BOS on selecting Deloitte Vietnam 
Company Limited to be the independent auditor for financial 
statements in 2018 of DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries.

NO. RESOLUTION NO. DATE RESOLUTION CONTENTS

9. 009/2018/NQ.HĐQT 28 June 
2018

Approving the additional details of the Company’s business lines 
in order to implement the Foreign Ownership Limit (FOL) policy in 
accordance with the AGM’s resolution.

10. 010/2018/NQ.HĐQT 09 July 
2018

Approving the mandatory public offer of DHG Pharma shares of 
Taisho Pharmaceutical Co.,Ltd.

11. 011/2018/NQ.HĐQT 14 July 2018 Approval of the advance dividend phase 1/2018 of DHG Pharma.

12. 012/2018/NQ.HĐQT 25 July 
2018

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; The BOM’s report; Report of 
the Strategic Committee; Report of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee; Report of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Q2/2018 and plans of Q3/2018. Report prepared by the person in 
charge of the Company’s corporate governance in terms of corporate 
governance in the first 6 half of 2018. 

Approval of the dissolution of DHG Pharma’s Branch - Artichoke 
Paste Boiling/Procurement/Purchasing Establishment.

13. 013/2018/NQ.HĐQT 30 Aug 2018 Approval of the renovation project to upgrade warehouse capacity.

14. 014/2018/NQ.HĐQT 28 Sept 
2018

Approval of chiller system investment and other contents under the 
BOD's authorities.

15. 015/2018/NQ.HĐQT 11 Oct 2018 Approval of machine purchasing for factories.

16. 016/2018/NQ.HĐQT 25 Oct 2018

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; The BOM’s report; Report 
of the Strategic Committee; Report of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee Q3/2018 and plans of Q4/2018; 

Dismissal of Mrs. Ha My Dung as Quality Director and other contents 
under the BOD’s authorities.

17. 017/2018/NQ.HĐQT 26 Nov  
2018

Approving the dissolution of 11 representative offices of DHG Pharma 
and other contents under the BOD’s authorities.

18. 018/2018/NQ.HĐQT 24 Dec 
2018

Extension of appointment from 01 Jan 2019 until the end of the third 
term of office (2014 - 2018) of DHG Pharma’s BOD for:

»  Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong - Position: Legal Representative, 
Interim General Director.

»  Mr. Atsushi Toyoshima - Position: Supply Chain Director.

Appointment of Mrs. Nguyen Ngoc Diep - Deputy General Director 
in charge of Production and Supply Chain to concurrently hold the 
position of Quality Director since 01 Jan 2019.

Approval of the budget limit and credit limit in 2019 and other 
related contents.

19. 019/2018/NQ.HĐQT 27 Dec 
2018

Report on forecasted business performance in 2018. 

Discussing business plans for 2019 and several strategic orientations.

PERFORMANCES  
OF THE BOD 
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DURING THE YEAR, INTERIM GENERAL DIRECTOR AND HIS MANAGERIAL STAFF 

BASICALLY COMPLETED THE ASSIGNED TASKS. THEY ALSO STRICTLY ABIDED BY 

RULES AND REGULATIONS IN MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES, DECENTRALIZED THEIR 

MANAGEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CHARTER, CORPORATE REGULATION 

AND INTERNAL REGULATION OF DHG PHARMA AS WELL AS THE BOD’S DECISIONS. 

PERFORMANCES OF BOD MEMBERS 

ORIENTATION OF THE BOD’S ACTIVITIES IN 2019

Performances of independent BOD members  During the business operation in 
2018, the BOD of DHG Pharma 
held periodic and extraordinary 
meetings in order to promptly 
discuss issues falling under the 
BOD authorities, to develop 
development strategies, business 
and production plans, dividend 
payment policies, appointment 
and dismissal decisions for 
Executives/ Managers as well 
as other important issues of the 
Company. Information on the 
production and business situation, 
activities of the Committees, 
etc were timely and accurately 
updated by the BOM and the 
BOD Secretary before the 
meetings. Next, the approved 
contents are usually unanimously 
agreed by the BOD members 
before implementation. All BOD 
members strictly abide by the 
provisions of the Company’s 
Charter, Internal Regulations 
on Corporate Governance and 
applicable law. 100% of BOD 
members clearly performed 
their roles and made positive 
contributions to the development 
of the Company. When there are 
issues related to conflict of interest, 
BOD members would not vote on 
issues that they have benefits or 
conflicts in.

In 2018, the composition of BOD’s members were 2/7 members, which 
satisfied the criteria of independent members. Independent BOD members 
fully attended BOD meetings, made comments and independently voted 
on issues and decisions within their power. In addition, independent BOD 
members also participated in the activities of Committees under the 
BOD’s assignments.

Mr. TRAN CHI LIEM   
Independent BOD member
Head of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee
Former Vice Minister of the Ministry 
of Health

With his profound knowledge and 
experience on the pharmaceutical 
industry of Vietnam as well as of the 
world, Mr. Tran has contributed to 
the Company’s operations for the 
Board of Management, pointing out 
opportunities and challenges of the 
industry, orientation development 
of the industry in the future. At the 
same time, Mr. Tran also carried out 
the recruitment of senior positions 
in accordance with the order and 
procedures of the Company. 

Mr. PHAN MINH TIEN  
Independent BOD member 
Member of Strategic 
Committee

 
With more than 20 years of 
experience in marketing, he 
supported and contributed 
to develop the market and 
marketing development 
strategy of DHG Pharma 
in 2018 and the 5-year 
strategy (2019 - 2023). At 
the same time, he promoted 
the business development 
cooperation between 
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint 
Stock Company (Vinamilk) 
and DHG Pharma.

MONITORING RESULT WITH REGARDS TO THE GENERAL DIRECTOR  
AND THE COMPANY’S ENTERPRISE EXECUTIVE

CONCLUSION

Based on the strategic development orientation of 
the Company in the period of 2016-2020, the business 
targets of 2019 approved by the AGM and the actual 
conditions of the Company, the BOD will improve 
the efficiency and operating methods in accordance 
with new practices, ensuring good performances of 
the BOD’s functions, clear and transparent operating 
regulations as well as advantageous operation and 
implementation. At the same time, the BOD needs 
to intensively manage and supervise activities of the 
BOM and managers in implementing the resolutions 
of the AGM/ BOD. The BOD will ensure all activities 
of the Company are effective, regulated by law and 
complete the business targets of 2019. In addition, 
the BOD shall improve its corporate governance 
capacity based on international practices to 
maximize the operational efficiency and enterprise 
values. Several key tasks of the BOD in 2019:

• Reviewing, considering and submitting to the 
AGM the revised strategy for the period of 2019 
- 2020 in accordance with the actual situation. 
Building a business strategic set for the period 
of 2019 - 2023.

• Implementing the resolution of the AGM 2018. 
Focusing on completing the 2019 business plan. 

• Improving the corporate governance capacity 
on the basis of applying the best international 
practices such as strengthening auditing 
activities, completing “Standardizing internal 
processes/regulations” Project etc. to ensure 
effective use of resources and creation of 
sustainable development values for the 
Company.

• Strengthening the training of human resources 
associated with successive training plans to 
improve personnel quality and to prepare human 
resources meeting business demands. 

Supervised, directed and ensured information is disclosed sufficiently, transparently and promptly 
in accordance with regulations of Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange and State Securities Commission. 

Continued to appoint Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong (born on 17 Sept 1974) to hold the position 
of Legal Representative and Interim General Director of DHG Pharma to the end of Term III  
(2014 - 2018) of the BOD.

Successfully organized the AGM 2017 on 28 Mar 2018. Strictly implemented the reporting regime 
of Financial Statements FY 2018, Quarterly Financial Statements and the Annual Report 2018.

Facing challenges as well as fierce competition in the key activities of the Company, the 
BOM implemented most of the tasks in accordance with Resolutions of the AGM and BOD.  
Taking into consideration is to review and follow up the Company’s development strategy for 
the period of 2016 - 2020 every quarter/year, to develop the strategy of 2019 - 2023 in order to 
strengthen the sustainable development foundation.

The BOD always monitored and directed the operations of the BOM, promptly resolved arising 
issues under the BOD’s authority to create favorable conditions for BOM’s performances.

PERFORMANCES  
OF THE BOD 
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TERM 2014 - 2018 ESTABLISHED 
3 COMMITTEES INCLUDING:

COMMITTEES ENSURE THEIR NUMBERS AND PERSONNEL 
REQUIREMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPANY’S 
REGULATIONS AND APPLICABLE LAW. QUARTERLY, COMMITTEES 
SHALL MEET AND SEND REPORTS TO THE BOD WITHIN THE 
SCOPE OF ASSIGNMENTS. COMMITTEES WERE ESTABLISHED 
TO ADVISE AND CONSULT THE BOD THE IMPLEMENTATION OF  

ITS DUTIES.

BA
 TẦNG BẢO VỆ

STRATEGIC 
COMMITTEE

AUDIT
 A

ND R
IS

K 

M
ANAGEM

EN
T 

COM
M

IT
TE

E
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M

INATIO
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REM
UNERATIO

N 
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M

M
ITTEE

STRATEGIC COMMITTEE 

Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh   
BOD Chairman 

Head

Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga  
BOD Member

Deputy Head

Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata  
Deputy General Director  
in charge of Production

Member 

Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong   
BOD Member, Interim General Director

Member 

Mr. Lam Dieu Phi   
Marketing Director 

Member 

Mr. Phan Minh Tien  
Independent BOD Member

Member 

Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung  
Finance Director

Member 

The Strategic Committee plays an important role in planning and  
setting the organizational development orientation in the short, medium and 
long term. In 2018, the Strategic Committee actively set up the business and 
production development strategies in 2018; Set up development plans,  
strategic objectives and medium-term business targets by 2020; Advised 
the BOD on the dividend rate for 2017 and the dividend payment plan in 
2018. The Committee also advised and consulted the BOD on short, medium 
and long-term investment projects within the BOD power; Reported to the 
BOD on the implementation of the five-year strategy (2016-2020).

DUTIES OF THE 
STRATEGIC 

COMMITTEE
• Developing strategies for production, business and long-term investments of 

DHG Pharma. 
• Determining mid-term and long-term plans for development, production 

and business based on the objectives and strategies approved by the AGM. 
Developing basic performance targets of DHG Pharma. 

• Developing annual dividend rate and proposals to the BOD for making 
decisions on temporary dividend rate.

• Assessing long-term effectiveness of DHG Pharma’s activities. 

PERSONNEL 
CHANGES OF 

THE STRATEGIC 
COMMITTEE IN 2018 

• Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh has been appointed as Head of the Strategic 
Committee from 19 Jan 2018.

• Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata has been appointed as a member of the Strategic 
Committee from 19 Jan 2018 to replace Mr. Jun Kuroda 

• Ms. Nguyen Ngoc Diep has discontinued being a member of the Strategic 
Committee from 19 Jan 2018.

• Mr. Phan Minh Tien has been appointed as a member of the Strategic 
Committee from 1 April 2018.

• Advising and consulting the BOD on the business plan 2019, development 
strategies and the 5-year business plan and targets 2019 - 2023 submitted to 
the AGM. 

• Consulting the BOD on short, medium and long-term investment projects in 2019 
within the BOD power.

• Advising the BOD the dividend rate in 2019 and proposing the dividend rate in 
2020. 

OPERATIONAL 
ORIENTATION IN 2019 

PERFORMANCES OF 
COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOD 
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha   
BOD Member 

Head

PERSONNEL 
CHANGES • Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha has been appointed as Head of the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee since 01 Jan 2018.

• Mr. Le Chanh Dao has discontinued being a member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee from 19 Jan 2018.

DUTIES OF THE 
NOMINATION AND 

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

• Proposing qualification and capacity criteria, presiding over drafts of 
appointment procedures as well as proposing appointments and dismissals 
of BOD members and managerial staff under the appointment authorities of 
the BOD; 

• Developing orders and procedures of nominating and electing BOD members; 

• Developing regulations to determine the independence of non-executive 
BOD members;

• Developing processes assessing the BOD’s performances such as the 
effectiveness of the BOD and the contribution of each member; 

• Developing and proposing human resource development plans to the BOD 
such as discovery, selection, education and training of senior staffs and the 
successor system; 

• Proposing remuneration policies, salary and bonus norms as well as other 
benefits for members of the BOD, the BOD’s committees and the BOM; 

• Monitoring operational evaluation of DHG Pharma’s managerial apparatus; 

• Executing other tasks assigned by the BOD in relation to the personnel policy 
of DHG Pharma. 

OPERATIONAL 
ORIENTATION IN 2019 • Evaluating the training programs in 2018 and directing the development of 

training programs in 2019.

• Proposing and consulting the BOD on the salary, bonus and remuneration 
policy of the Company in 2019. 

• Building the development strategy of the Company for the period 2019 - 
2023, especially the development strategy of human resources and senior 
managerial staff of the Company.  

OPERATIONAL 
ORIENTATION IN 2019 • Proposing the BOD to change the organizational structure, management and 

control of DHG Pharma from the BOS model to the Audit Committee under the BOD  
for submission to the AGM.

• Strengthening the review of shortcomings and directing the implementation of 
remedial measures to ensure that the audit is fully and properly implemented.

• Updating and disseminating the internal audit policy and regulation. 

• Participating in developing the development strategy of the Company in the period 
2019 - 2023. Taking into consideration is the strategy improving the risk control and 
control system in order to improve the efficiency of corporate governance.

DUTIES OF THE 
AUDIT AND RISK 

MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

• Giving feedback on independent auditor candidates and on issues related to 
any changes of Independent Auditors in accordance with the BOS’ proposal.  
Giving comments on draft contracts signed with Independent Auditors. 

• Developing criteria and assessing the independency of Independent Auditors. 
Monitoring independent auditing functions at DHG Pharma.

• Evaluating the accuracy and completeness of financial information before publication.

• Supervising the Company’ risk management. 

• Examining the adequacy, sufficiency and effectiveness of internal control and internal 
audit, including finance, operations, regulatory compliance, risk management and 
systems, that are set up by the management apparatus.  

• Discussing quarterly financial statements and annual financial statements audited by 
the executive BOM and Independent Auditors.

• Conducting quarterly separate meetings with the BOM, Internal Control Department, 
Internal Audit Committee and Independent Auditors to update information.

• Reviewing auditing recommendations and feedbacks between the BOM and 
Independent Auditors. 

• Analyzing and making recommendations to the BOD in terms of risks associated with 
transactions and activities of DHG Pharma.

Functioning as advising and assisting body of the BOD in ensuring an 
effective system of internal control and legal compliance, in 2018, the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee monitored the financial situation of the 
Company through reviewing financial statements and working with indepen-
dent auditors; overseeing the Company’s compliance in production and 
business activities through activities conducted by the Internal Control and 
Risk Management Department. The Committee also coordinates with the 
Control Department to propose to the BOD for promulgation the Regulation 
on controlling transactions with related parties and members. 

HR plays a crucial role in the success of a business, determining its 
possibility of profit and great business efficiency. With the role of supporting 
the BOD in human resource management, in 2018, the Nomination  
Committee performed the following tasks: proposing and advising the BOD 
to develop human resources and senior managerial staff, policies of salary, 
bonus and remuneration of the Company in 2018. Alongside this,  
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee also directed the construction 
of the training program in 2018 and completes annual and quarterly reports 
on personnel activities.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Tran Chi Liem   
Independent BOD member  

Head

PERFORMANCES OF 
COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOD 
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The BOS of DHG Pharma consists of 03 members. In which 02 of them are independent members who work 
as representatives of shareholders, conduct inspections, supervisions and recommendations in terms of risk 
management, improvement of management quality and financial status at DHG Pharma. Specific tasks of 
each supervisor are assigned as follows:

Mr. Tran Quoc Hung  
Head of the BOS 

Mr. Tran Trung Kien   
BOS Member 

Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao   
BOS Member 

Duties 

Directly works at the Company, 
takes general responsibilities; 
Assigns tasks to each member, 
convenes and presides over all of 
the BOS’ meetings; coordinates 
with the Internal Control Dept.  
to control the production 
and business activities of 
subsidiaries and joint-venture 
companies through the capital 
representatives of the firms; 
Controls unassigned remaining 
issues to members.

Duties 

Supervises financial and 
accounting activities; monitors 
financial market developments, 
macro and micro factors 
affecting the financial and 
accounting activities of the 
Company. Checks capital 
balance and manages cash flow. 
Participates in the evaluation of 
financial statements.

Duties 

Inspects and supervises the 
implementation of production 
and business plans. Monitors and 
supervises the implementation 
of corporate restructuring of 
the Company (through the 
inspection of subsidiaries and 
branches). Checks the processes 
and regulations in the Company.

NO. FULL NAME TITLE APPOINTMENT 
PERIOD

OFF - DUTY 
PERIOD REMARKS

1 Mr. Dinh Duc Minh Supervisor  28 Apr 2014 28 Dec 2017

On 28 Dec 2017, Mr. Dinh Duc Minh 
submitted a resignation letter due to 
his personal reasons.
The AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018 
approved the resignation letter of 
Mr. Dinh Duc Minh.

2 Mr. Tran Trung Kien Supervisor 28 Mar 2018

The AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 
2018 approved the additional 
appointment of Mr. Tran Trung Kien 
as a replacement. 

3 Ms. Nguyen Phuong 
Thao Supervisor 26 Apr 2012 25 Oct 2018 On 25 Oct 2018, Ms. Nguyen Phuong 

Thao submitted her resignation letter. 

Personnel changes: 

NO. BOS MEMBER TITLE

STARTING 
DATE 

AS BOS 
MEMBER

ATTENDANCE RATE ABSENCE REASON

1 Mr. Tran Quoc Hung Head 08 Sept 2004 4/4 100%

2 Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao Supervisor 26 April 2012 3/4 75%
Submitted her 
resignation letter on 
25 Oct 2018 

3 Mr. Tran Trung Kien Supervisor 28 Mar 2018 3/4 75% Additional election on  
28 Mar 2018

During the term, the BOS quarterly held meetings 
with full attendance of its members. The meetings’ 
purposes are to summarize working results during 
the working period, to make plans for the next 
period, to compose and submit recommendation 
reports to the BOD. 

The BOS inspected, supervised the compliance with 
the provisions of the Enterprise Law, the Charter 
of Organization and Operation of DHG Pharma 
in managing and operating the production and 
business activities of the Company

The BOS fully participated in BOD meetings to 
grasp the business and investment situations and 
to make suggestions, recommendations to the BOD 
and BOM within the scope of their responsibilities 
and powers.

The BOS controlled and supervised the 
implementation and performance result of 
Resolutions of the BOD during the term.  

The BOS verified 6-month and annual financial 
statements to evaluate the truthfulness and 
rationality of financial data in accordance with 
accounting standards, regimes and current 
financial policies. Simultaneously, it collaborated 
with an independent audit firm to consider impact 

In addition, the BOS fully participated in the BOD 
meetings in order to grasp business situation, 
investment situation and to make suggestions, 
recommendations to the BOD and the BOM within 
the scope of their responsibilities and powers.

of material misstatement on financial statements, 
monitored implementation of the recommendations 
given by the independent audit firm.

The BOS coordinated with the auditor within the 
auditing scope and contents of the interim and 
annual financial statements of the parent company 
and the consolidated financial statements. 
Simultaneously, the BOS reviewed the comments of 
the auditor through management letters.

In addition to the regular works of the BOS, the BOS 
collaborated with functional units in the Company, 
including the Internal Control Department to 
perform a number of special subjects regarding 
inspections and recommendations in order to 
improve management procedures of the Company. 

During the term, the BOS did not receive any 
complaint in writing from shareholders in term of 
the Company’s business activities.

SUMMARY OF THE BOS’ MEETINGS

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOS IN 2018

PERFORMANCES 
OF THE BOS
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Comments and evaluation

ADVANTAGES

SHORTCOMINGS

• The BOS members always 
demonstrated the spirit of 
independence, objectivity 
and respect for the law in 
supervising all activities of the 
Company.

• The BOS members strived to 
follow the functions and duties 
of the Board, closely supervised 
the Company’s operation 
during the work process in 
order to detect potential 
risks and propose solutions, 
in contribution to ensure the 
Company’s operation is safe, 
effective and law-abiding.

• The BOS members coordinated 
with the BOD, Executive Board, 
functional departments and 
related individuals during the 
work process, fully organized 
regular meetings (quarterly, 
yearly) to carry out the 
supervision of the Board.

• Due to the limitation of the 
BOS’ personnel, most of the 
members were part time 
and there was a significant 
change during the term, while 
the Company was a large-
scale business with large scale 
operation, thus sometimes the 
implementation of the BOS’ 
activities did not meet the 
expectation. 

The BOD held quarterly periodic (and aperiodic) meetings, which 
were fully participated by its members in accordance with Company’s 
Charter and the BOD’s Operation Regulation. The BOD considered 
the business results in the period as well as evaluated the effectiveness 
of investments and discussed business strategies in accordance with 
the annual approved resolutions of the AGM. 

The BOD issued several Resolutions and Decisions related to the 
Company’s activities within the scope of the BOD’s responsibilities 
and authority. The BOD’s Resolutions and Decisions were issued with 
accurate order, accurate authority, and in accordance with the AGM 
Resolutions regarding the yearly business and production activities of 
the Company. 

The BOD supervised the  operation of BOM in the implementation of 
AGM Resolutions of and coordinated with the BOM to monitor, to run 
business and production activities of the Company in order to achieve 
targets approved in the AGM Resolutions Term 2014 - 2018.  

SUPERVISION RESULT OF ACTIVITIES  
OF THE BOD AND BOM

The Company’s financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with the current Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Regime. 
The financial statements Term 2014 - 2018 were audited by 1 of 4 
companies (Big Four) that have been approved by the State Securities 
Commission to audit listed companies.

The BOS considered the interim and annual financial statements and 
the BOS came into an agreement with the production and business 
performances over the years during the term. According to the 
auditor’s conclusion, the Company’s financial statements reflected 
a true, fair, sufficient, clear presentation and in accordance with the  
Accounting standards.

The implementation results of the key business and production targets 
in Term 2014 - 2018 as reported in the financial statements are as follows:

• The Company’s charter capital in Term 2014 - 2018 increased by 1.5 
times (from VND 871.6 billion in 2014 to VND 1,307.4 billion at the 
end of 2018).

• Owner’s equity in Term 2014 - 2018 increased by 1.37 times (from 
VND 2,293.6 billion in 2014 to VND 3,144.2 billion at the end of 2018).

• DHG Pharma maintained an annual dividend payment rate of 30% 
according to the AGM Resolution, especially in 2016, the Company 
paid a dividend rate of 35%. In 2018, the dividends were projected 
to be 35%, the Company already paid 30% for shareholders and 
the remaining 5% will be paid after being approved by the AGM.

EVALUATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the term, the BOD and BOM created favorable conditions for 
the BOS to provide sufficient information on the Company’s production 
and business situation as well as financial situation. 

The management and administration activities of the Company 
were directed and closely supervised by the BOD. The BOM regularly 
reported to the BOD for timely guidance when necessary. 

Periodically, the BOS submitted reports and recommendations in 
writing to the BOD and BOM. BOS’s recommendations were recognized 
and implemented.

The BOD and the BOM successfully lifted the Foreign Ownership Limit 
(100%) on the stock market so as to improve the Company’s image in 
the minds of investors and partners.

Within the scope of its powers and responsibilities, the BOS evaluated 
that the BOM performed in accordance with its functions and duties; 
in accordance with the regulations, the Enterprise Law and the 
Company’s Charter, promptly implemented Decisions and Resolutions 
of the BOD, the AGM without any violations that greatly affected the 
Company’s performance.

EVALUATION ON THE COORDINATION 
AMONG THE BOS, BOD AND BOM

PREPARATION AND AUDIT OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRODUCTION  
AND BUSINESS RESULTS

INDICATORS FIGURES 
IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net revenue VND billion 3,912.5 3,607.7 3,783 4,062.7 3,882.1

Profit before tax VND billion 721.9 701.3 756.6 719.2 731.7

Profit after tax VND billion 533.7 592.6 688.6 642.3 651.1

Charter capital VND billion 871.6 871.6 871.6 1,307.4 1,307.4

Owner’s equity VND billion 2,293.6 2,521.2 2,869.8 2,759.1 3,144.2

Total assets VND billion 3,482.7 3,363.2 3,945.3 4,087.5 4,205.9

Liabilities VND billion 1,189 841.9 1,075.6 1,328.3 1,061.7

Dividend payment rate % 30 30 35 30 35 
(Projected)

PERFORMANCES 
OF THE BOS
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NO. INDICATORS 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1 Liquidity ratios

Current ratio 2.13 2.85 2.70 2.32 3.14

Quick ratio 1.43 2.03 1.98 1.82 2.25

2 Capital structure ratios

Debt to Total assets ratio (%) 34.14 25.03 27.26 32.50 25.24

Debt to Owner’s equity ratio (%) 51.84 33.39 37.48 48.15 33.77

3 Operational capacity ratios

Inventory turnover 2.32 3.09 3.02 3.34 2.84

Net revenue to Total average 
assets ratio (%)

119.22 105.40 103.52 101.15 93.62

4 Profitability ratios

Return on Sales (ROS) (%) 13.64 16.43 18.20 15.81 16.77

Return on Equity (ROE) (%) 24.97 24.62 25.55 22.82 22.06

Return on Assets (ROA) (%) 16.27 17.31 18.84 15.99 15.70

Earnings per share (VND) 5,169 5,748 4,485 4,378 4,445

THE FINANCIAL SITUATION OF THE COMPANY AS AT 31 DEC 2018

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGM RESOLUTIONS 

The Company allocated funds in accordance with the annual profit distribution plan of the 
AGM Resolution over the years during the term. 

During the term 2014 - 2018, the BOS received its remunerations in accordance with the AGM 
Resolutions over the years. Detailed information has been presented in the BOD’s report 
submitted to the AGM. 

The BOD collaborated with the BOS to select 1 of the 4 Big Four companies as an independent 
auditor for the financial statements during the term 2014 - 2018 of DHG Pharma and its 
subsidiaries. 

The Company amended and supplemented its Charter and Internal Regulations on the 
Corporate Governance in accordance with the provisions of the Enterprise Law 2014 and 
Decree 71/2017/NĐ-CP.

WITH REGARDS TO PROFIT DISTRIBUTION

WITH REGARDS TO REMUNERATIONS

WITH REGARDS TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS OF THE CHARTER AND INTERNAL REGULATIONS 
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOS

The Company should develop and continue to improve the system of procedures, 
regulations as a basis for management, efficiency assessment and risk control.

Regarding the provision for doubtful debts that was deducted by the Company, 
the Company should continue to urge the relevant departments to carry out 
the debt recovery, complete the debt recovery documents.

The BOD and BOM are requested to direct the investment management, 
accelerate the implementation of projects and investment categories to put 
into production as soon as possible, in order to promote investment efficiency.

PERFORMANCES 
OF THE BOS

1

2

3
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Receipts/expenditures of the Remuneration and Bonus Fund of the BOD and BOS 

NO. TARGETS AMOUNT

1. Balance at the beginning of the year (01 Jan 2018) 7,704,745,368

2. Appropriation in 2018: 6,082,027,377

2.1 Remuneration of the BOD, BOS and collaborators 6,000,000,000

2.2 Bonus Fund of the BOD transferred from subsidiaries 82,027,377

3. Total expenditures: 5,803,120,307

3.1 Remuneration and bonus of the BOD, BOS and collaborators in 2018 3,596,000,000

3.2 Bonus for projects in 2018 850,000,000

3.3 Expenses for other activities    1,357,120,307

4. Balance as at 31 Dec 2018 7,983,652,438

5. Appropriation plan for 2019 (projected) 6,000,000,000

6. Balance after profit distribution in 2018 (projected) 13,983,652,438

REMUNERATION AND BONUS OF THE BOD AND BOS 

The AGM 2017 approved to allocate the remuneration of the BOD and BOS in 2018 to be VND 6 billion, 
equivalent to 0.92% of PAT. 

Detailed distribution to each member of the BOD and BOS

NO. NAME OF MEMBER TITLE
REMUNERATION AND 

BONUS IN 2018 (AMOUNT 
BEFORE PIT) (VND)

I. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2,318,000,000

1 Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman 440,000,000

2 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member 482,000,000

3 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong BOD Member  
Interim General Director 448,000,000

4 Jun Kuroda BOD Member -

5 Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD Member 374,000,000

7 Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD Member 354,000,000

8 Phan Minh Tien Independent BOD Member 220,000,000

II BOARD OF SUPERVISORY 454,000,000

1 Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS 204,000,000

2 Nguyen Phuong Thao Supervisory  
(resigned from 25 Oct 2018) 140,000,000

4 Tran Trung Kien Supervisory  
(appointed from 28 Mar 2018) 110,000,000

Total 2,772,000,000

REMUNERATION, BONUS AND INTERESTS  
OF THE BOD, BOS AND BOM IN 2018

NO. FULL NAME TITLE 

NUMBERS OF SHARES HELD TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 

SHARES HELD

OWNERSHIP 
%REPRESENTATIVE 

OWNERSHIP 
PERSONAL 

OWNERSHIP

I. MEMBERS OF THE BOD TERM III (2014 - 2018)

1 Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman   
22,650,495 

(SCIC’s capital  
representative)

- 22,650,495 17.32%

2 Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD Member
16,987,871 

(SCIC’s capital  
representative)

- 16,987,871 12.99%

3 Doan Dinh Duy 
Khuong

BOD Member  
Interim General 
Director

16,987,871 
 (SCIC’s capital  
representative)

36,237 17,024,108 13.02%

4 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member - 200,567 200,567 0.15%

5 Jun Kuroda BOD Member - - - 0.00%

6 Tran Chi Liem  Independent BOD 
Member - - - 0.00%

7 Phan Minh Tien Independent BOD 
Member - - - 0.00%

II. MEMBERS OF THE BOS TERM III (2014 - 2018)

1 Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS - 15,309 15,309 0.01%

2
Nguyen Phuong 
Thao (resigned from 
25 Oct 2018)

Supervisor - - - 0.00%

3 Tran Trung Kien Supervisor - - - 0.00%

III. BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 

1 Doan Dinh Duy 
Khuong

BOD Member  
Interim General 
Director

16.987.871 
  (SCIC’s capital  
representative)

36,237 17,024,108 13.02%

2 Le Chanh Dao Deputy General 
Director - 81,967 81,967 0.06%

3 Nguyen Ngoc Diep 
Deputy General 
Director  
Quality Director 

- 10,548 10,548 0.01%

4 Tomoyuki Kawata Deputy General 
Director - - - 0.00%

5 Le Thi Hong Nhung

Finance Director 
BOD Secretary
Authorized person for 
information disclosure 
Person in charge 
of corporate 
governance

- 7,426 7,426 0.01%

6 Lam Dieu Phi Marketing Director - 9,744 9,744 0.01%
7 Nguyen Hoang Nam Production Director - 12,179 12,179 0.01%

8 Huynh Thi Kim Tuoi Distribution Center 
Director - 1,868 1,868 0.00%

9 Ha My Dung  Quality Director - 2,008 2,008 0.00%
10 Vo Van Kim Y Technical Director - 1,668 1,668 0.00%

11 Atsushi Toyoshima Supply Chain 
Director - - - 0.00%

12 Ho Buu Huan Chief Accountant - 929 929 0.00%

Source: List of shareholder list finalized on 14 Mar 2019

DHG Share Ownership of internal persons 
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AT DHG PHARMA, CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PLAYS A VITAL ROLE IN IMPROVING THE 

EFFICIENCY OF THE COMPANY’S MONITORING, ACCOUNTABILITY, DECISION-MAKING 

SYSTEM, MINIMIZING CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS TO IMPROVE BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 

AND INCREASE DEVELOPMENT ABILITY IN THE MEDIUM AND LONG TERM. IN CONJUNCTION 

WITH THESE OUTCOMES, GOOD OBSERVANCE OF THE PRINCIPLES IN CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE FURTHER CONTRIBUTES TO THE ENHANCEMENT OF TRUST AND PRESTIGE OF 

DHG PHARMA FROM RELATED PARTIES. RECOGNIZING THE IMPORTANCE OF CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE, DHG PHARMA HAS ACTIVELY APPLIED GOOD PRACTICES IN THE WORLD 

INCLUDING THE OECD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES, ASEAN MANAGEMENT 

COMPANY SCORECARD, ETC. AT THE SAME TIME, DHG PHARMA ALSO STRICTLY ABIDES 

BY AND COMPLIES WITH REGULATIONS/CIRCULARS IN VIETNAM INCLUDING DECREE  

71/2017/NĐ-CP DATED 06 JUNE 2017 OF THE GOVERNMENT, CIRCULAR NO. 95/2017/TT-BTC 

DATED 22 SEPT 2017 OF THE MINISTRY OF FINANCE.

ENSURE A REASONABLE 
GOVERNANCE 

STRUCTURE 

A.

ENSURE INTERESTS OF 
SHAREHOLDERS AND 

STAKEHOLDERS 

C.

TRANSPARENCY IN  
EVERY OPERATION OF 

DHG PHARMA 

E.

ENSURE EFFECTIVE 
PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD 

AND BOS 

B.

ENSURE EQUAL  
TREATMENT AMONG 

SHAREHOLDERS 

D.

ENSURE A REASONABLE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE A.

BOD members may be concurrently 
BOD members of other companies but 
must not be BOD members of more than 
five (05) other companies. 

Gender structure and diversity in 
professional qualifications and 
experience of the BOD are expressed as 
follows:

The BOD Term III (2014 - 2018) currently has 7 
members. Number of executive BOD members, non-
executive BOD members and independent BOD 
members are 1, 4 and 2 respectively. The majority of 
BOD members are Vietnamese citizens, namely 06/07 
BOD members. At present, the BOD Chairman does 
not concurrently hold the position of General Director 
in order to avoid conflicts of interests that may arise. 
This avoids power concentration and ensures the 
independence in decision making processes. 07/07 

ENSURE EFFECTIVE PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD AND BOS

DIVERSE STRUCTURE 

B.

Management

Pharmaceuticals 

Economics

Business administration 

Medicine 

13% 13%

25%

13%

38%

DIVERSITY IN 
PROFESSIONAL 

QUALIFICATIONS 
FEMALE 

MALE 

29%

71%

GENDER 
STRUCTURE 

In order to effectively operate the 
governance model, DHG Pharma 
has established a system of internal 
management rules/procedures to create 
a unified and consistent governance 
mechanism. It is carried out to control 
and supervise the Company’s operation 
professionally, transparently and 
efficiently, in contribution to ensure 
the interests of shareholders and 
equality of all stakeholders. In addition 
to the amendments and supplements 
of the Company’s Charter, the AGM 
also approved the amendments and 
supplements of internal regulations on 
corporate governance. This approval 
aims to ensure its compliance with 
provisions of Vietnamese applicable law 
and to apply international best practices 
on corporate governance, which are 
aimed to create better conditions for 
the Company’s corporate governance. 

ASSESSMENT REPORT  
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2018

GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AT DHG PHARMA

DHG Pharma’s BOD is responding to shareholders’ questions at the AGM 2018. 
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At the end of each fiscal year, the 
Secretariat plans in advance the BOD 
meetings for the next fiscal year so that 
the BOD members have the opportunity 
to fully attend all meetings. 2 forms of 
BOD Meetings comprises of quarterly 
face-to-face meetings and via email 
meetings. Accordingly, before each 
quarterly meeting, the Secretariat Team 
will gather and send documents to 
BOD members such as BOD Report, 
CAPEX Report, BOD Secretary Report, 
Strategic Committee Report, Nomination 
Committee Report, Audit and Risk 
Management Committee Report, BOS 
report as well as arising issues need 
voting opinions of BOD members, etc. 

Last year, the majority of BOD Meeting 
materials were translated into English by 
the Secretariat Team and sent to foreign 
BOD members no more than 24 hours 
from when the Vietnamese materials 
were sent. This effort was made to ensure 
that all BOD members have enough time 
to consider issues and contribute ideas 
more effectively during meetings. 

In 2018, the Secretariat of the BOD successfully 
completed the task of advising and counseling the 
BOD ensure their compliance with the Company’s 
Charter, Internal Management Regulations, 
business ethics and related legal issues, prevent 
any potential conflicts of interest that may arise, and 
update the Company’s information and prepare for  
the BOD meetings. 

UPDATE INFORMATION

The Charter and Internal Regulation 
on Corporate Governance that clearly 
stipulated the rights, duties and 
principles of the BOD, Committees under 
the BOD and Supervisors were posted on  
DHG Pharma’s website in both 
Vietnamese and English for an easy 
access by shareholders and investors. 

For more information on the performance 
of the BOD, Committees under the BOD 
and Supervisors in 2018, please refer 
to page 92, page 100 and page 104 
respectively.

POWER IDENTIFICATION AND PERFORMANCES DURING THE YEAR

Article 15 and Article 16 of DHG Pharma’s Charter prescribed in detail the rights and obligations of 
shareholders. 

ENSURE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS  
AND STAKEHOLDERS 

C.

THE BASIC  
RIGHTS OF 

SHAREHOLDERS

The right to 
secure ownership 
registration

The right to transfer 
shares

The right to vote, 
dismiss and remove the 

members of the BOD

The right to  
receive profits of  

the Company

The right to access information 
about the Company in a timely 
and regular manner

The right to attend and  
vote at the General 

Meetings of Shareholders

In 2018, DHG Pharma organized an AGM on 
28 Mar 2018. The procedures for convening 
the AGM carried out by DHG Pharma were 
in accordance with applicable law in order 
to maximize the rights and interests of 
shareholders.

On 07 Feb 2018, DHG Pharma announced 
the information on the closing date to attend 
the Meeting on the Company’s website.  
In which: the last registration date was  
28 Feb 2018. On 09 Mar 2018, the invitation 
notice was sent by a guaranteed method to 
DHG Pharma’s shareholders whose names on 
the list provided by the Vietnam Securities 
Depository in Ho Chi Minh City. On 13 Mar 2018, 
all Meeting’s materials were posted on the 
website of DHG Pharma in Vietnamese and 
English within 15 days prior to the date of the 
Meeting.

At the Meeting, shareholders voted on 
issues presented in each report/ statement 

by “voting ballot”  and in accordance with 
each voting opinion (approval/ disapproval/ 
abstain). Contents of the resolution approved 
by AGM are as follows: 

• BOD report on the business evaluation 
result in 2017; Activities and remuneration 
of the BOD in 2017; Orientation and 
business targets for 2018; Adjustments of 
strategic goals and business targets 2018 
- 2019 - 2020; Approval of the audited 
consolidated financial statement 2017; 
Approval of the BOS report 2017.

• Authorizing the BOD to coordinately select 
with the BOS an independent auditor for 
the financial statements FY 2018. 

• Approval of the report on profit distribution in 
2017 and fund balance after distribution profit 
of 2017 and profit distribution plan 2018. 

ASSESSMENT REPORT  
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2018
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BOM attended the AGM. The Company also invited 
representatives of the independent auditor to attend 
the Meeting. Minutes of the Meeting, minutes of vote 
counting and resolution of the AGM have been posted on 
the website of DHG Pharma in Vietnamese and English 
within twenty-four (24) hours after closing the Meeting. 

• The plan merging DHG Packaging and 
Printing 1 One Member Limited Company 
and DHG Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company into DHG Pharma.

• Adding business lines to DHG Pharma 
and amended the Charter in line with the 
amended business lines. 

• Amendments and supplements of  
DHG Pharma’s Charter (20th revision).

• Amendments and supplements of the 
Internal Corporate Governance Regulation. 

• Dismissal from the position as a Supervisor 
Term III (2014 - 2018) to Mr. Dinh Duc Minh 
since 28 Dec 2017.

• Additional election of Mr. Phan Minh Tien 
as an independent BOD member and  
Mr. Tran Trung Kien as a Supervisor Term III 
(2014 - 2018). 

Additionally, all members of the BOD, 
committees under the BOD, Supervisors and 

THE RIGHT TO EXERCISE THE COMPANY’S PROFIT

According to the development strategy for the period 2016 - 2020, DHG Pharma has carried out a cash 
dividend policy of at least 30% of par value/year to allocate a certain amount of profit for re-investment in 
enterprise development as well as to increase cumulative values for shareholders.

Cash dividend of DHG Pharma over the years:

(*) Dividend of 2018 is projected to be submitted to the AGM 2018. 

NO. TARGET FIGURES IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

1. Dividend per share VND 3,000 3,500 3,500 3,000 3,500(*)

2. Total dividend value VND billion 261.5 304.3 305.1 392.2 457.6

3. % dividend/PAT % 49.0 51.3 44.3 61.1 70.3
4. EPS VND/share 5,169 5,748 4,485 4,378 4,445

ENSURE EQUAL TREATMENT  
AMONG SHAREHOLDERS D.

In order to ensure equal treatment provided to 
all shareholders, the rights and obligations of 
shareholders are clearly and transparently stated 
in the Company’s Charter and Internal regulations 
on corporate governance. Amendments and 
supplements to the Charter and Internal regulations 
on corporate governance must be approved by 65% 
of shareholders attending the Meeting before passing.

The Company’s Charter, Internal Regulations on 
corporate governance, Annual Reports, quarterly 
financial statements and information disclosure in 
accordance with Circular 155/2015/TT.BTC have 
been disclosed on the media of State Securities 
Commission, Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange and 
the Company’s website, enabling all shareholders to 
access information quickly and accurately.

SEVERAL PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANY’S 
CHARTER TO PROTECT THE MINORITY OF 
SHAREHOLDERS:

Clause 3, Article 15 in the Company’s Charter 
prescribed that a shareholder or a group of 
shareholders holding five percent (5%) or more 
of the total number of ordinary shares for at least 
six (06) consecutive months or more shall have the 
following rights:

• To nominate members to the BOD 
and BOS. 

• To request the BOD to convene the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. 

• The request must be made in writing, 
accompanied by the required 
documents and evidence of the 
violations of the Board of Directors, 
the extent of the violations or the 
decisions beyond its competence. 

• To inspect and receive a copy or an 
extract of the list of shareholders 
entitled to attend and vote at the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. 

• To request the BOS to inspect 
each particular issue related to the 
management and operation of DHG 
PHARMA whenever necessary.

• Other rights stipulated in the law and 
this Charter.

SHARES TRANSACTION OF INTERNAL 
PERSONS AND RELATED PERSONS:

According to the Charter, the Company’s 
information disclosure procedures and 
Circular 155/2015/TT.BTC, when internal 
persons and related parties conduct 
shares transactions, it is necessary to 
disclose information, avoiding the use 
of internal information to purchase/sell 
shares as follows:

• At least 03 working days before the 
date of performing the transaction, 
internal persons and related parties 
must disclose information.

• Within 03 working days after 
completing the transaction, internal 
persons and related parties must 
disclose information.

In addition, DHG Pharma has fully paid dividends to shareholders within 06 months from the end of the AGM 
2017 and informed shareholders about the payment of dividends within 15 days before making payment.

ASSESSMENT REPORT  
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Share transactions of DHG Pharma’s related persons and related parties as at 14 Mar 2019 as follows:

NO. TRANSACTION PERFORMER RELATIONSHIP TO INTERNAL PERSON

NUMBER OF 
SHARES OWNED AT 
THE BEGINNING OF 

THE PERIOD

NUMBER OF SHARES 
OWNED AT THE END OF 

THE PERIOD REASON FOR INCREASING OR DECREASING  
(PURCHASE, SELL, TRANSFER, BONUS ETC.)

NO. OF 
SHARES % NO. OF 

SHARES %

Internal person 

1 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member 302,737 0.23% 200,567 0.15% Sold -111,000 shares
Received +8,830 shares from ESOP 2018

2 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong BOD Member, Interim General Director 27,117 0.02% 36,237 0.03% Received +9,120 shares from ESOP 2018 

3 Le Chanh Dao Deputy General Director 122,337 0.09% 81,967 0.06% Sold - 43,460 shares 
Received +3,090 shares from ESOP 2018

4 Nguyen Ngoc Diep Deputy General Director cum Quality Director 7,368 0.01% 10,548 0.01% Received +3,180 shares from ESOP 2018

5 Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS 18,679 0.01% 15,309 0.01% Sold -3,620 shares 
Received +250 shares from ESOP 2018

6 Lam Dieu Phi Marketing Director 3,924 0.00% 9,744 0.01% Received +5,820 shares from ESOP 2018

7 Le Thi Hong Nhung Finance Director cum Head of Finance Dept., 
BOD Secretary 6 0.00% 7,426 0.01% Received + 7,420 shares from ESOP 2018

8 Ho Buu Huan Chief Accountant 9 0.00% 929 0.00% Received +920 shares from ESOP 2018

9 Ha My Dung Quality Director 16,008 0.01%  2,008 0.00% Sold -15,420 shares
Received +1,420 shares from ESPO 2018

10 Nguyen Hoang Nam Production Director 16,489 0.01% 12,179 0.01% Sold -5,970 shares 
Received +1,660 shares from ESOP 2018

11 Huynh Thi Kim Tuoi Distribution Director  20,878 0.02% 1,868 0.00% Sold -20,430 shares 
Received +1,420 shares from ESOP 2018

12 Vo Van Kim Y Technical Director      10,008 0.01% 1,668 0.00% Sold -10,000 shares 
Received +1,660 shares from ESOP 2018 

Related parties 

1 Trade Union of DHG Pharma Subordinate of DHG Pharma 533,097 0.41% 534,327 0.41% Purchased +140,000 shares.   
Transferred ownership of -138,770 shares for ESOP 2018 

2 Pham Viet Thang Related person of Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga 4 0.00% 874 0.00% Received +870 shares from ESOP 2018

3 Doan Dinh Tuan Huy Related person of Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong 3,129 0.00% 3,789 0.00% Received +660 shares from ESOP 2018

4 Ong Thanh Kieu Related person of Mr. Nguyen Hoang Nam 993 0.00% 1,843 0.00% Received +850 shares from ESOP 2018

5 Nguyen Trung Nghia Related person of Ms. Ha My Dung 18 0.00% 888 0.00% Received +870 shares from ESOP 2018

6 Huynh Thi Huynh Anh Related person of Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga 14,551 0.01% 9,281 0.01% Sold -5,270 shares

7 Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., LTD. Related party of Mr. Jun Kuroda - BOD Member 31,956,096 24.44%  45,761,086 34.99% Purchased +13,804,990 shares

ASSESSMENT REPORT  
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The Corporate Governance Regulation and the 
Company’s Charter clearly stipulates “Responsibility 
for honesty and avoidance of conflicts of interests 
of members of the BOD, Supervisors, General 
Director and Enterprise Executives” in Article 48 of 
DHG Pharma Charter - 21st revision as follows:

• Members of the BOD, Supervisors, the General 
Director and Enterprise Executives must publish 
the related interests in compliance with regulations 
of the Law on Enterprises and other relevant laws.

• Members of the Board of Directors, Supervisors, 
the General Director, Enterprise Executives and 
their related persons are not allowed to utilize 
opportunities that may benefit DHG Pharma 
for personal purposes; as well as must not take 
advantages of the information obtained by the 
influence of their own positions for personal 
purposes or in the interests of other individuals or 
organizations. 

• Members of the BOD, Supervisors, the General 
Directors and other Enterprise Executives have the 
obligation to inform the Board of Directors and the 
Board of Supervisory of the transactions between 
DHG Pharma, subsidiaries of DHG Pharma and 
companies with fifty percent (50%) or more of 
charter capital controlled by DHG Pharma with 
the above members or their related persons in 
compliance with provisions of law. DHG Pharma 
must publish information about the transactions 
of the abovementioned persons which have been 
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders 
or the Board of Directors in accordance with the 
Securities Law on information disclosure.

Transactions with subsidiaries, affiliates, dividend payment are presented in “Operations and balances for 
related parties” in Section 39 - Notes of the audited financial statement FY 2018 of the parent company 
and Section 41 - Notes of consolidated audited financial statement FY 2018. In addition to the above 
transactions, there were no transactions with related parties in 2018.

AGREEMENTS OR TRANSACTIONS OF INTERNAL SHAREHOLDERS

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

• Members of the BOD are not allowed to cast 
votes on the transactions that are beneficial for 
themselves or their related persons in compliance 
with the Law on Enterprises and the Charter. 

• Members of the BOD, the Supervisors, the General 
Director, the Enterprise Executives and the related 
persons to the above members shall not use 
information that is not permitted for publication 
of DHG Pharma or disclosure to other people to 
carry out the relevant transactions. 

In 2018, there was no transaction between these 
members and the Company.

ENSURE TRANSPARENCY  
IN EVERY OPERATION OF DHG PHARMA 

E.

Information disclosed by DHG Pharma must be performed in accordance with the following 
principles:

• Information disclosure must be performed in an accurate, sufficient, clear and timely manner as 
prescribed on DHG Pharma’s website (in Vietnamese and English), State Securities Commission 
and Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange.

• All shareholders and investors have the right to access any information disclosed on DHG Pharma’s 
website under the following link: http://www.dhgpharma.com.vn/en/investor-relations.   

Investor Relations Team interacts with shareholders and investors through various channels such as 
extraordinary/periodic disclosures on the Company’s website, quarterly shareholders and investors 
meetings, face-to-face meetings or meetings via conference calls and emails and at the AGM.

DHG Pharma’s Investor Relations 
Team (IR) fulfills its information 
disclosure obligation, ensuring that 
information is disclosed to the public 
timely, accurately and in compliance 
with applicable law. At the same 
time, this team also functions as a 
communication channel between 
shareholders and DHG Pharma.

The IR Team is led by

Email : hongnhung@dhgpharma.com.vn
Tel: (8429) 23 891 433 - Ext: 242
Address : 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu, An Hoa 
Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Cantho City 

Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung  
Finance Director 

ASSESSMENT REPORT  
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Investor relations activities maintained a good 
relationship with shareholders, accessed many 
potential investors who are financially capable and 
experienced. These activities also created a positive 
impression on DHG Pharma trademark in domestic 
and foreign stock markets through outstanding 
activities during the year 2018 as followings:

• DHG Pharma performed nearly 80 times of 
information disclosure within the prescribed 
time-limit. Reports on corporate governance, 
which were periodically carried out 6 months/
year provided sufficient information on the 
AGM, members of the BOD/BOS, meetings and 
transactions with related parties. Quarterly 
financial statements were constantly updated 
to help shareholders capture the latest business 
results of the Company. Simultaneously,  
DHG Pharma’s website discloses information in 
English and Vietnamese, providing information 
for domestic/foreign shareholders and investors.

• The Company was awarded Top 10 LargeCap 
Best Annual Reports, Top 5 LargeCap Best 
Corporate Governance Reports and Top 5  
Best Sustainable Reports. The reports 
provided complete and detailed information 
on the Company’s business performance 
and development strategies, shareholder 
information, ownership structure, financial 
and non-financial indicators of the Company, 
etc. Moreover, DHG Pharma was evaluated as  
01 of 03 representative companies of Vietnam 

implementing the best corporate governance in 
ASEAN in 2018. 

• DHG Pharma networked with nearly 20 
domestic/foreign investment funds and 
securities organizations at the “Emerging 
Vietnam 2018” conference in Ho Chi Minh City, 
organized by HSC on 28 Sept 2018.

• DHG Pharma organized 4 meetings with a 
participation of nearly 120 shareholders and 
investors. The meetings were organized to 
update quarterly business performances and to 
listen to analysts’ viewpoints on the Company’s 
operation. In order to improve the quality of 
shareholder and investor meetings, the IR Team 
also surveyed satisfaction rates of shareholders 
and investors on 23 Mar 2019 and 02 Nov 2019. 
In particular, nearly 90% of shareholders and 
investors are satisfied with the presentation and 
information provided.

PLAN FOR IMPROVING THE QUALITY  
OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2019

The corporate governance performance of companies in Vietnam has gradually improved 
over the years. Without exception, DHG Pharma also set a number of goals to focus on 
deploying and completing in 2019 to increasingly improve the quality of management in 
accordance with international practices. Specifically, the objectives should be implemented 
as follows:

The AGM 2019 will elect BOD members for Term IV (2019-2023) to ensure that 
independent BOD members account for at least one-third (1/3) of the total number 
of BOD members. In addition, independent BOD members and non-executive 
members are heads of Committees under the BOD.

Corporate Governance Certificate: Based on the list of elected BOD members 
Term IV (2019-2023), DHG Pharma will list the members who have not yet 
participated in the Corporate Governance Course for registration, ensuring 
sufficient training certificates as prescribed.

The BOD and BOM will regularly update knowledge and information related 
to international practices on domestic and foreign corporate governance. 
Besides, to further improve the corporate standards and practices of  
DHG Pharma, considerations are also given to the application of ASEAN 
Corporate Governance Scorecard.

Changing the organizational, management and control structure of  
DHG Pharma from the BOS model to the Audit Committee under the BOD. 
The Audit Committee will play an important role in independent review and 
evaluation of internal control, risk management and corporate governance.  
On this basis, the Audit Committee assists the Company to achieve its goals 
with the highest efficiency.  

Aiming to apply IFRS international standards in preparing financial statements.
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Accessible risk management activities under the management process 

Risk management is a process implemented by the 
BOD, BOM, all management levels and employees. It 
is also applied in setting up the strategy for the entire 
business, designed to detect the potential problems 
that can affect businesses and to manage risks in 
the acceptable level and ensure the realization of 
business goals.

In 2018, with the changes in regulations related to 
the pharmaceutical industry, the pharmaceutical 
enterprises, though enjoying opportunities grabbed 
in their strategic plan, still faced many difficulties due 
to changes in the legal and business environment. It is 

also challenging to implement and achieve the goals 
set by the organization. To ensure the achievement 
of the strategic objectives, DHG Pharma increasingly 
focuses on risk management activities. Main duties of 
risk management  refer to the process of identifying, 
evaluating, managing and controlling incidents or 
situations that likely occur in order to ensure the 
achievements of the Company’s goals. 

The Risk management structure at DHG Pharma 
operates with 3 lines of defense:  Establishment - 
Execution - Supervision.

Enterprise risk management is a systematic process aiming to identify, assess the 
impact, likelihood and manage risks effectively.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 

O
V

ER
SE

EIN
G RISKS IDENTIFY RISKS  

RISK A

NALY
SI

S 

H
AN

DLING RISKS 

Closely monitor the risks  
of the Company

Develop a risk management 
action plan to continue 
managing risk and controlling it 
within the acceptable level. 

Step 3: Handling risks 

Understand the risks  
of the Company

Establish a “risk measure” and 
identify causes, results, and 

control of vulnerabilities.

Step 2: Risk analysis 

Develop indicators to visualise 
main risks (or “signs for early 
warning”) aiming to closely 
oversee risks.

Step 4: Overseeing risks 

Dealing with risks

Identify and rank the main risks, 
based on the strategic goals 

that the organization desires to 
achieve.

Step 1: Identify risks  

Recognize risks  
of the Company

RISK 
MANAGEMENT  

PROCESS

INTERNAL CONTROL  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Fourth
line of

defense 
SUPERVISION
OF THE BOD

Third line of defense  
INDEPENDENT CONTROL

Second line of defense  
MANAGEMENT AND SELF-CONTROL

First line of defense  
ESTABLISHMENT OF MANAGEMENT MECHANISM/POLICY AND PROCEDURE SYSTEMS

Internal Audit 

Quality management 

Regulation and policy system 

Legal system control  
and risk management

Operational management mechanism

Control assessment 

Management process system 

Independent/  
External Audit 

SYSTEMS

PR
OCED

UR
ES

HUMAN
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The main duties of the Legal Department include

• Preparing regulations, procedures, rules, etc. 
Ensuring the compliance of legal dossiers, 
documents, policies, and regulations of the 
Company with applicable laws.

• Coordinating with other departments to review 
and ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
legitimate interests of the Company.

• Identifying and evaluating current or future 
liabilities and minimizing risks in relation 
to business development opportunities of  
DHG Pharma.

• Providing legal recommendations and 
instructions in terms of orders and procedures 
of implementation when requested by other 
departments and employees, ensuring the 
compliance of transactions and business activities.

• Managing relationships with relevant authorities 
and law firms. 

• Representing the Company (as authorized by 
General Director) to resolve issues related to 
laws and lawsuits at the request of the BOM or 
General Director.

• Representing the Company to deal with arising 
legal issues with management agencies and 
other organizations when assigned.

• Keeping track of legal updates to determine legal 
impacts on the operation and assets owned and 
managed by the Company. 

In 2018, the Legal Department achieved the 
following remarkable results:

• Advised the BOM/ Divisions/ Branches/ the 
Company on legal issues arising from the process 
of managing and running the business.

• Drafted and reviewed all contracts, liquidation 
of contracts and related documents of domestic 
and foreign business transactions conducted 
by the Company and its subsidiaries during the 
period; reviewed and consulted sales policies. 

• Supported and provided legal advice to complete 
establishment/ dissolution procedures of 
subsidiaries/branches and representative offices.

• Issued legal news-letters to update regulations 
on pharmaceutical production and distribution, 
occupational safety and health, welfare regime, etc. 

• Acted as a contact point or participated in 
drafting internal procedures/regulations of 
the Company, contributing to improve legal 
frameworks of governance and basic operations 
of the Company such as regulations on collective 
labor agreement, democratic regulations, labor 
regulations, investment management regulations, 
debt management regulations, regulations on 
archives, etc.

• Submitted to the AGM the amendments and 
supplements of the Company’s Charter, internal 
regulations on corporate governance to ensure 
the Company’s compliance with the provisions of 
the Law on Enterprises 2014, Decree 71/2017/NĐ-
CP, and Circular 95/2017/TT-BTC and FOL lifting 
implementation.  

• Implemented legal procedures in accordance 
with the results of the 2017 AGM and FOL  
Lifting procedures. 

Legislation is an important part of the defense system, helping to mitigate risks 
and optimize the Company’s internal control system. It is aimed to ensure that all 
Company’s activities are conducted in accordance with the Charter, the Internal 
Regulation on Corporate Governance and current regulations of laws.

LEGAL DEPARTMENT 

In relation to compliance-checking 
activities and completing the internal 
control system in 2018, the Internal Control 
Department has completed the following 
procedures of the sales team such as 
sales procedure at branches, warehouse 
management procedure, payment 
collection procedure, payment discount 
procedure, promotion payment procedure 
and debt reconciliation procedure.

The internal control department has 
completed the inspection of compliance 
with policies at departments, making 
recommendations to improve operational 
efficiency and enhance compliance in 
the system. In addition, the BOM actively 
coordinated with the Internal Control 
Department to overcome mistakes and 
complete the internal control system of 
DHG Pharma. 

The operation plan of the Internal 
Control Department in 2019 was 
developed as follows:

• Coordinating with consultants to 
improve the risk management system 
at the Company. With an experience 
in risk management and internal audit 
as well as a throughout understanding 
on the pharmaceutical field and the 
Company, the consultants will offer 
the most appropriate and effective 
advice for the Company. Since then, 
the Company will be able to perfect 
relevant policies, periodic and irregular 
monitoring and evaluation mechanisms.  
This is aimed to propose appropriate 
risk management tools and measures, 
to prevent potential risks and to timely 
remedy problems and violations in the 
Company’s activities. 

• Continuously reviewing, building and 
standardizing processes in relation 
to internal control activities and 
communication to all employees. 

• Continuously maintaining the 
efficiency and effectiveness in 
operating processes.

• Implementing the controlling process 
of related-party transactions.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT THE 
SECOND 
LINE OF 

DEFENSE

In 2018, DHG Pharma was under operation with the following defense lines:

THE FIRST 
LINE OF 

DEFENSE

The first line of defense was gradually 
perfected in 2018 through reviewing, 
constructing and completing a 
system of internal regulations and 
procedures for the Company that 
are accorded with both the legal 
system and the Company’s activities. 
Especially, in 2018, DHG Pharma  

reviewed and standardized the 
procedures for activities of departments 
in the Company’s headquarter.  
In total, 177 procedures have been issued,  
74 procedures are being perfected 
which will officially be applied in 2019 
and imparted to all staff for compliance. 

INTERNAL CONTROL  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
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THE THIRD 
LINE OF 

DEFENSE

THE 
FOURTH 
LINE OF 

DEFENSE

• Hiring independent auditors every 6 months and year.
• Inviting tax authorities to review every 6 months.

The fourth line of defense is the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, which is under the BOD and is responsible for ensuring 
the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 
control, including independent assessment of how the first two lines of 
defense fulfill the objectives of risk management and control. 

The regulation framework applied for internal audit at the Company.

Internal control is a process designed to provide suitable guarantee 
that the Company can achieve its objectives including:

• Its effectiveness and productivity.
• Trust with the reporting procedure.
• Compliance with regulations and laws.

ASPECTS PRINCIPLES

Controlling environment

1  Integrity and ethical values.

2  Figures that support the BOD perform their       
managing tasks.

3  The Company’s organizational structure and power 
and responsibility allocations.

4  Procedure for attracting, developing and retaining 
talented staff.

5  Ensuring the reporting responsibility: solutions for 
effective measuring, preferential and rewards.

Risk assessment

6  Suitable and specific objectives.

7  Identify and analyze risks.

8  Assess risk of frauds.

9  Identify and analyze important changes.

Controlling activities
1O  Select and develop controlling activities.

11  Accurate application and procedures.

Information and public 
relations

12  Use information appropriately.

13  Internal public relations activities.

14  External public relations activities.

Supervision
15  Constant and separate evaluation.

16  Assess communication between sets of information.

IMPLEMENTING A COMPREHENSIVE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK BASED ON ERM 
(ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT) MODEL UNDER THE FOLLOWING PRINCIPLES:

Synchronizing with the system and advanced industry practices 
such as ISO 31000, COSO.

Considering the main “leverage factors” including human resource, 
processes, technology and data.

Focusing on connecting Risk Management to support the current 
organizational structure with risk management strategies.

Creating conditions to assign specific roles and responsibilities in 
relation to risk management at all levels of the organization to help 
build strong defense barriers.

Connecting risk management in Departments/ Divisions 
throughout the Company and eliminating the implementation of 
“single” risk management.

INTERNAL CONTROL  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
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RISK CATEGORIZATION 

LEGAL AND  
COMPLIANCE RISKS

ENVIRONMENTAL  
RISKS

MARKET RISKS REPUTATION  
RISKS

RISKS ON 
COUNTERFEIT AND 

FAKE GOODS

RISKS IN 
PRODUCTION

RISKS ON 
RESEARCH AND 

DEVELOPMENT OF 
NEW PRODUCTS

FLUCTUATION 
RISKS ON 

INTEREST RATES, 
EXCHANGE RATES, 

CREDIT AND 
LIQUIDITY

SOLUTIONS FOR LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT:

Compliance with laws is one of the Company’s ethical values, which is 
specified in the Company’s regulations and cultural identity.

In order to enhance compliance, the Legal Department performs the 
following basic functions:

• Reviewing, developing and improving the system of internal 
regulations and procedures of the Company in accordance with 
laws and the Company’s activities.

• 100% of contracts and agreements signed are reviewed by legal 
specialists.

• Updating legal changes related to the Company’s activities as well as 
disseminating to each department and specialized functions.

• Advising the BOM and its subordinate units on the procedures for 
implementing investment projects, joint venture cooperation contracts, 
sales policies and other matters related to the laws.

IN OPERATING, DHG PHARMA HAS IDENTIFIED A NUMBER OF RISKS, 
WHICH ARE NOW BEING MONITORED AND CONTROLLED AS FOLLOWS: 

Laws, sub-law documents, 
regulations of the industry and 
tax guidance, which are frequently 
changed and not synchronous, 
significantly impact business results 
and orientation of the Company. 
The risk of litigation, dispute, and 
compensation may occur if the 
Company does not regularly update 
and have a thorough understanding 
of new regulations. In 2018, legal 
and compliance risks were strictly 
controlled. Also in the year,  
DHG Pharma did not acknowledge 
any violation of internal regulations 
and current laws. 

SOLUTIONS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RISK MANAGEMENT

• Making reports on sustainable development report 
annually to evaluate the sustainable development goals in 
comparison with the Company’s set business strategies and 
plan. Identifying key impacts from the business activities on 
the environment and society in order to propose effective 
measures to minimize risks.

• Strictly complying with regulations related to sustainable 
development in the entire system of DHG Pharma, especially 
regulations on environmental protection, occupational 
health and labor safety.

• Inspecting and measuring indicators on wastewater, waste, 
exhaust fumes, and so forth are conducted on a regular basis, 
quarterly and annually, in cooperation with specialized units to 
ensure the safety of the working environment as well as the 
discharging of water into the environment. At the same time, 
measures for environmental incidents in case of emergency are 
also timely provided.

• The Company continuously trades in raw materials in bulk 
to take the negotiating advantages in terms of prices and 
selecting many reputable suppliers. In addition, it is possible 
for the Company to grasp the trend in using raw materials 
and developing new products. The Purchasing Department 
regularly makes forecasts from the beginning of the year to 
develop reasonable plans for purchasing contract during the 
year. Each new material source used in production needs to be 
monitored for stability for at least 06 months. DHG Pharma 
already has plans to increase its selection with many other 
reputable suppliers and the stability of the material is also 
being tested.

• Risks on credit and interest rate of the Company are mainly 
affected by bank deposits and customer receivables. However, 
the number of deposits will continue to be strongly disbursed 
in subsequent years for dividends and investments. Therefore, 
it is projected that the risk involved deposits will decrease 
gradually in subsequent years. Instead, the main risk will be 
related to liquidity at certain times when the Company needs 
loan capital to finance its working capital.

ENVIRONMENTAL 
RISKS

In recent times, environmental pollution 
has become an urgent issue that requires 
special attention from enterprises, 
especially pharmaceutical companies in 
Vietnam. Being aware of the importance 
of the issue, sustainable development 
and environmental protection 
have always been integrated into  
DHG Pharma’s strategies. In 2018,  
DHG Pharma always ensured its 
compliance with the State’s regulations 
on exhaust fumes, emission, and waste  
(for further presentation, please refer to 
page 178).

• With its 80% imported medicinal 
ingredients, DHG Pharma is prone to 
input factors such as foreign exchange 
rates, price fluctuations for raw 
materials, import tax policies, etc. 

• Regarding exchange rates, the 
Company’s solutions include regular 
updates and forecasts of exchange 
rate fluctuations through relationships 
with banks. The Company also 
performs L/C contracts so that banks 
can make payment to hedge the risks 
of foreign currency shortage.

LEGAL AND 
COMPLIANCE RISKS

FLUCTUATION RISKS 
ON INTEREST RATES, 
EXCHANGE RATES, 
CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY

One of the contributing factors to the 
success of the enterprises is the continuous 
innovation and improvement of products, 
development of completely new products, 
and expansion of the product line to meet 
the market demand, and sentiment of 
customers. Recognizing the importance of 
product development, DHG Pharma has 
further invested in R&D activities and the 
cost of Investment and Development Fund.  

RISKS IN RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT OF NEW PRODUCTS

In 2018, DHG Pharma researched 5 off-patent products,  
02 invitro products were sent for bioequivalent testing. 
The Company manufactured 14 new products including  
13 pharmaceutical products and 1 cosmeceutical product.  
DHG Pharma also launched 9 new products with many 
different dosage forms, especially 1 sustained-release product 
and 1 solid dispersion tablet. Before being launched into the 
market, these products have undergone extensive analysis, 
investigation, research, testing and evaluation of the competent 
authorities, etc. 

INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
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MARKET RISKS

SOLUTIONS FOR MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Periodical monitor and supervision of the implementation of 
strategic objectives need to be in place in order to achieve the 
following objectives:

• Being the largest Generic Pharmaceutical Enterprise  
in Vietnam.

• Being a pharmaceutical enterprise with the most professional, 
deepest and widest distribution channels, focusing on the 
development of biotech products with scientific and technical 
contents, M&A or joint ventures to increase the Company’s 
values, etc.

Implementing bioequivalence and equivalent treatment of 
products as well as to set up a division, which is especially 
responsible for developing biddings and implementing cost 
reduction measures in order to improve the competitiveness of 
prices when bidding, etc.

Upgrading the factory to meet PIC/s-GMP, Japan-GMP standards 
to introduce doctors in hospitals, clinic rooms, and communication 
to pharmacy customers along with internal consumers.

Enhancing the development of new technology-transfer product 
portfolios to increase the choice for customers, infusing a fresh 
spirit into DHG Pharma’s products as well as increasing motivation 
for the sales team.

Taking cognizance of the opportunities and importance of the 
industrial revolution 4.0, DHG Pharma pioneered the application 
of technology to increase productivity. In 2019, DHG Pharma 
has proactively utilized an application on mobile devices for 
customers such as App DHG Co-Prosperity. In 2019, the Company 
will apply QR Code technology and continuously upgrade App  
DHG Co-Prosperity, DHG Family in product management, 
communication programs, promotion programs, training 
programs, preferential purchase programs, etc.  to bring customers 
and employees a new experience of modernity, convenience as 
well as manage costs and train human resources more effective 
and professional. In addition, specialized departments learn 
modern technologies for application of communication at the 
point of sale and product introduction meetings.

stage of quality assurance. The Company has always been 
aware of and strictly complied with the production processes, 
regulations on labor safety and fire prevention and fighting, 
the use of equipment to minimize risks. The Company has 
paid great attention to investments in machinery, technology 
innovation, factory upgrade to international standards, 
incident prevention, inspection of working environment, 
improving working conditions, periodical training on safety, 
and fire prevention. 

DHG Pharma determines the followings 
as possible market risks:

• Shrinking of its market share, and the 
risk of being caught up by competitors 
in the next 5-10 years unless the 
Company makes appropriate 
breakthroughs and strategies.

• Pressure of quick growth will easily lead 
to exceeding growth and loss of control 
over the operation of the sales system.

• New regulations on utilization of 
e-invoice, ETC management in 
pharmacies, special control items, 
review of registration numbers of 
pharmaceuticals, dietary supplements, 
approval of advertising tools and so 
forth have become increasingly tight 
and difficult. These involve a lot of effort, 
cost, and time, and greatly influences 
on the strategy of developing new 
brands, products and operation of the 
Company’s new factory.

• The fourth industrial revolution 4.0 
has created a strong impact on 
enterprises in various fields such as 
manufacturing - automation, finance 
- banking, transportation, tourism, etc. 
Pharmaceutical companies are no 
exception. In fact, these companies 
even need to seize the opportunities 
to change more rapidly because of 
domestic and foreign competitive 
pressures and higher requirements of 
the customers. The enterprises need 
to quickly map out technology-based 
plans and strategies to apply in all 
phases of their chain operations.

Product quality is a key factor to 
create success for an enterprise. 
Therefore, DHG Pharma always places 
itself in the position of customers and 
consumers to provide products with the 
best quality. To do this, DHG Pharma 
products before being launched to 
the market must go through a difficult 
journey with a lot of “firewalls” in the 

RISKS IN PRODUCTION

Currently, the low-quality goods and 
goods infringing intellectual property 
rights, which exist everywhere, in every 
sector including in the pharmaceutical 
industry. The problem of counterfeit and 
pirated goods has seriously damaged 
the prestige of enterprises, especially 
for pharmaceutical companies because 

poor-quality products directly pose threats to consumers’ health. 
Therefore, DHG Pharma has always been aware of protecting 
its products by improving the quality, design and packaging, 
being stunning, eye-catching, providing detailed information 
such as origin, composition, usage and expiry date, which 
helps the consumers easily identify the products. Furthermore,  
the Company has always paid attention to invest in brand 
promotion and trademark registration.

RISKS ON COUNTERFEIT AND FAKE GOODS

Reputation risks are the risk arising 
from related parties such as customers, 
shareholders, investors, suppliers, partners, 
local authorities, media, communities, etc. 
when they have negative reactions about 
products, published information, internal 
information, staff and activities of the 
Company. 

In order to manage reputation risks, the 
Company constantly strives to build and 
protect reputation through the following 
form:

REPUTATION RISKS

• Conducting surveys to measure the satisfaction and 
feedback of related parties such as customers, shareholders, 
investors, suppliers, etc.

• Regularly updating and monitoring reports on mass media.

• Regulations on information security and conduct with related 
parties in DHG Pharma’s Cultural Identity.

In 2018, the Company well controlled its reputation risk. There 
is no event that negatively affects the organization’s reputation 
and the decline of stakeholder confidence.  

INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

A. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

A.1 Basic Shareholder Rights

A.1.1

Does the company pay (interim 
and final/annual) dividends in an 
equitable and timely manner; that is, 
all shareholders are treated equally 
and paid within 30 days after being (i) 
declared for interim dividends and (ii) 
approved by shareholders at general 
meetings for final dividends? In case the 
company has offered Scrip dividend, 
did the company paid the dividend 
within 60 days.

Dividend in 2018:

• The AGM 2017 held on 28 Mar 2018 
passed the dividend rate of 2018 with a 
rate of 30%/face value.

Dividend payment in 2018:

• Advance dividend payment Phase 1 at 
10%/par value: information disclosure 
on 14 Jul 2018, closing date 31 Jul 2018, 
payment date: 31 Aug 2018.

• Advance dividend payment Phase 2 at 
20%/par value: information disclosure 
on 27 Feb 2019, closing date: 14 Mar 2019, 
payment date: 17 June 2019.

• Dividend of 2018 - rate of 35%/par 
value. The remaining 5%, spent after the 
General Meeting of Shareholders passed.

Dividend in 2017:

• The AGM 2017 held on 28 Mar 2018 passed the 
dividend rate of 2017 with a rate of 30%/face 
value.

Dividend payment in 2017:

• Advance dividend payment Phase 1 at 10%/
par value: information disclosure on 31 Aug 2017, 
closing date 19 Sept 2017, payment date: 04 Oct 
2017.

• Advance dividend payment Phase 2 at 15%/
par value: information disclosure on 15 Dec 2017, 
closing date: 29 Dec 2017, payment date: 25 Jan 
2018.

• Last advance dividend payment in 2017 at 5%/par 
value: information disclosure on 05 Apr 2018, closing 
date 19 Apr 2018, payment date: 09 May 2018.

A.2 Right to participate in decisions concerning fundamental corporate changes

Shareholders have the right to 
participate in:

A.2.1 Amendments to the company’s charter?

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.

• Expected to submit to the AGM 2018 
on the amendment of the Company’s 
Charter in accordance with the change 
of the management, governance and 
control organizational structure from 
the BOS model to the Audit Committee 
under the BOD (if the General Meeting of 
Shareholders approves a new model).

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter.

• General meetings of shareholders by solicitation 
of absentee voting for the first time, the second 
time in 2017: amendments and supplements of 
the Company’s Charter - 18th and 19th revisions

• At the AGM 2017, shareholders participated in the 
amendments and supplements of the Company’s 
Charter and Internal regulations on corporate 
governance.

A.2.2 The authorisation of additional shares? Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter. 
This content did not arise in the AGM 2017 and 2018.

A.2.3
The transfer of all or substantially all 
assets, which in effect results in the sale 
of the company?

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter. 

A.3 Right to participate effectively in and vote in general shareholder meetings and should be informed of the rules, including voting procedures, which 
govern general shareholder meetings:

A.3.1

Do shareholders have the opportunity, 
evidenced by an agenda item, to 
approve remuneration or any increases 
in remuneration for the nonexecutive 
directors/commissioners?

This content is included in the document of the AGM 2017, 2018.

A.3.2

Does the company provide 
noncontrolling shareholders a right 
to nominate candidates for board of 
directors/commissioners?

Regulated in Article 33 of the Company’s Charter.

A.3.3
Does the company allow shareholders 
to elect directors/commissioners 
individually?

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.
• The AGM 2018 is expected to elect the 
BOD Term IV (2019 - 2023). This content will 
be stated in the Voting rules - Documents 
of the AGM 2018.

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter.
• The general meeting by solicitation of written 
consent for the second time in 2017 approved the 
dismissal as BOD members to Mr. Hoang Nguyen 
Hoc and Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri. Additionally elected Mr. 
Nguyen Chi Thanh & Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha.
• The AGM 2017 passed the additional election of Mr. 
Phan Minh Tien as an independent BOD member.

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

A.3.4 Does the company disclose the voting 
procedures used before the start of meeting?

The voting procedures are disclosed in the AGM documents 15 days before the 
opening of the Meeting.

A.3.5

Do the minutes of the most recent AGM 
record that the shareholders were given 
the opportunity to ask questions and the 
questions raised by shareholders and 
answers given recorded?

The minutes of AGMs always record all questions from shareholders and answers 
from the Presidium.

A.3.6

Does the company disclose the voting 
results including approving, dissenting, and 
abstaining votes for all resolutions/each 
agenda item for the most recent AGM?

The minutes of the AGM disclosed approving percentage for each voting opinion 
in accordance with each voting agenda of the Meeting.

A.3.7 Does the company disclose the list of board 
members who attended the most recent AGM? This content is disclosed in the minutes of AGM.

A.3.8
Does the company disclose that all board 
members and the CEO attended the most 
recent AGM?

Similar to section A.3.7

A.3.9 Does the company allow voting in absentia?

The Internal regulations on corporate governance regulated the form of 
absentee voting, however DHG Pharma has not satisfied necessary criteria for 
implementation. The Company shall consider the implementation of this form at 
the next general meetings.

A.3.10
Did the company vote by poll (as opposed 
to by show of hands) for all resolutions at 
the most recent AGM?

The minutes of AGMs clearly stated the voting form of shareholders by “voting 
ballots” in accordance with issues addressed at the Meetings and in accordance 
with each item of reports/statements (approve, against, abstain).

A.3.11

Does the company disclose that it 
has appointed an independent party 
(scrutineers/inspectors) to count and/or 
validate the votes at the AGM?

DHG Pharma well - implemented this 
practice. And this content will be stated 
in the Minutes of AGM 2018.

At the AGM 2017, the Company invited 
a shareholder to be a representative 
to supervise the Voting Counting 
Committee.

A.3.12

Does the company make publicly available 
by the next working day the result of the 
votes taken during the most recent AGM/
EGM for all resolutions?

The minutes and resolutions of the AGMs were disclosed within 24 hours in 2 
languages (Vietnamese and English) on DHG Pharma’s website.

A.3.13
Does the company provide at least 21 days 
notice regarding the issues to be decided at 
the meeting for all AGMs and EGMs

At the AGM 2018, the Company plans 
to post the AGM documents on the 
Company’s website in Vietnamese and 
English on 10 May 2019. The AGM is 
expected to be organized on 11 June 
2019.

At the AGM 2017, the Company sent 
an invitation letter to shareholders 
by a secured method on 9 March 
2018. Documents are posted on the 
Company’s website in Vietnamese and 
English on 13 March 2018.

A.3.14

Does the company provide the rationale 
and explanation for each agenda item 
which require shareholders’ approval in 
the notice of AGM/circulars and/or the 
accompanying statement?

Meeting documents provided to shareholders with sufficient information and 
explanation for each agenda item which require shareholders’ approval in 2 
languages (Vietnamese and English).

A.3.15
Does the company give the opportunity for 
shareholder to place item/s on the agenda 
of AGM?

Prior to Meetings, shareholders can submit their proposals for AGMs’ agendas 
(must be in writing and must be sent at least three (03) working days prior to the 
opening date of the AGMs).

At Meetings, the Company always spent more than 30 minutes giving 
shareholders a chance to ask questions to the BOD about Meeting agendas, 
including questions related to independent audits, etc. Discussion questions were 
recorded in the minutes of Meetings.

A.4 Markets for corporate control should be allowed to function in an efficient and transparent manner.

A.4.1

In cases of mergers, acquisitions and/or 
takeovers requiring shareholders’ approval, 
does the board of directors/commissioners 
of the company appoint an independent 
party to evaluate the fairness of the 
transaction price?

At the AGM 2017, the Company submitted to the AGM for the approval of the 
merger of wholly-owned subsidiaries of DHG Pharma - DHG Pharma Ltd. and 
DHG PP1 into DHG Pharma. Baoviet Securities JSC consulted the merger.

A.5 The exercise of ownership rights by all shareholders, including institutional investors, should be facilitated.

A.5.1
Does the company disclose its practices to 
encourage shareholders to engage with the 
company beyond AGM?

DHG Pharma always updated its quarterly business results in the meetings of 
shareholders and investors. Moreover, the IR team is ready to answer questions 
and record feedbacks from shareholders and investors.

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s)

Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s)

N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

B.5 Protecting minority shareholders from abusive actions

B.5.1
Does the company disclose that RPTs are 
conducted in such a way to ensure that they 
are fair and at arms’ length?

Stated in Annual Reports.

B.5.2

In case of related party transactions 
requiring shareholders’ approval, is 
the decision made by disinterested 
shareholders?

Stated in Annual Reports.

C. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS                             

C.1 The rights of stakeholders that are established by law or through mutual agreements are to be respected. Does the company disclose a 
policy and practices that address:

C.1.1 The existence and scope of the company’s 
efforts to address customers’ welfare? Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.2 Does the Company disclose Supplier/
contractor selection procedures? Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.3

Does the Company disclose the company’s 
efforts to ensure that its value chain is 
environmentally friendly or is consistent 
with promoting sustainable development?

Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.4
Does the Company disclose the company’s 
efforts to interact with the communities in 
which they operate?

Stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.5
Does the Company disclose the company’s 
anti-corruption programmes and 
procedures?

Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.6 Does the Company disclose on how 
creditors’ rights are safeguarded?

DHG Pharma shall consider to supplement policies to protect the interests of 
creditors. In present, due to safety reasons, DHG Pharma only equity capital for 
fixed asset investments.

C.1.7
Does the company have a separate 
report/section that discusses its efforts on 
environment/economy and social issues?

Stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.

C.2 Where stakeholder interests are protected by law, stakeholders should have the opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of 
their rights.

C.2.1

Does the company provide contact details 
via the company’s website or Annual Report 
which stakeholders (e.g. customers, suppliers, 
general public etc.) can use to voice their 
concerns and/or complaints for possible 
violation of their rights?

DHG Pharma has disclosed contact information on the Company’s website, 
Annual Reports, Sustainable Development Reports.

C.3 Mechanisms for employee participation should be permitted to develop.

C.3.1
Does the company explicitly disclose the 
policies and practices on health, safety and 
welfare for its employees?

Fully stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.C.3.2

Does the company explicitly disclose 
the policies and practices on training 
and development programmes for its 
employees?

C.3.3

Does the company have a reward/
compensation policy that accounts for the 
performance of the company beyond short-
term financial measures?

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

B. EQUITABLE TREATMENT OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

B.1 Shares and voting rights

B.1.1 Does the company’s ordinary or common 
shares have one vote for one share? Agendas and voting procedures at Meetings clearly stated this content.

B.1.2

In case the company has more than one 
class of shares, does the company publicise 
the voting rights attached to each class of 
shares?

DHG Pharma has only 01 class of share: ordinary share. 

B.2 Notice of AGM

B.2.1

Does each resolution in the most recent 
AGM deal with only one item, i.e., there is 
no bundling of several items into the same 
resolution?

AGMs’ resolutions implemented this benchmark well.

B.2.2

Are the company’s notice of the most recent 
AGM/circulars fully translated into English 
and published on the same date as the 
local-language version?

Documents of the AGM were translated into English and disclosed on the same 
date with documents in Vietnamese version.

B.2.3 Are the profiles of directors/commissioners 
in seeking election/reelection included?

DHG Pharma disclosed the profiles of candidates in two languages (Vietnamese 
and English) in the AGMs’ documents. 

In addition to information such as name, age, training level, expertise, employment 
history and positions held in other organizations, DHG Pharma also provides 
additional evaluation reports on the contribution of candidates to DHG Pharma, if 
the candidates are currently BOD members of DHG Pharma.

B.2.4 Are the auditors seeking appointment/ 
re-appointment clearly identified?

B.2.5 Were the proxy documents made easily 
available?

Proxy documents were sent to shareholders and uploaded on DHG Pharma’s 
website.

B.3 Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited

B.3.1

Does the company have policies and/or 
rules prohibiting directors/commissioners 
and employees to benefit from knowledge 
which is not generally available to the 
market?

Regulated in Article 48 of the Company’s Charter (Responsibility to be honest and 
avoid conflicts of interests).

B.3.2
Are the directors/commissioners required 
to report their dealings in company shares 
within 3 business days?

DHG Pharma is well-implementing this benchmark in accordance with Circular 
155/2015/TT-BTC and the Company’s Charter.

B.4 Related party transactions by directors and key executives

B.4.1

Does the company have a policy requiring 
directors/commissioners to disclose their 
interest in transactions and any other 
conflicts of interest?

This content was regulated in the Company’s Charter and Internal regulations on 
corporate governance.

B.4.2

Does the company have a policy requiring 
a committee of independent directors/
commissioners to review material RPTs 
to determine whether they are in the best 
interests of the company and shareholders?

In 2018, the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee collaborated with the 
Internal Control Department to develop 
and issue a Regulation on controlling 
transactions with related parties and 
related members.

DHG Pharma’s charter and regulations 
had not yet regulated this principle. 
DHG Pharma was preparing 
detailed regulations on related party 
transactions in 2018.

B.4.3

Does the company have a policy requiring 
board members (directors/commissioners) 
to abstain from participating in the board 
discussion on a particular agenda when 
they are conflicted?

BOD members attended the meetings but were not allowed to vote on contents 
related to activities and transactions in which such members have conflicts of 
interests. E.g.: When Taisho buy DHG shares through Mandatory Public Offering 
(MPO) to increase the proportion of ownership interest, Mr. Jun Kuroda - a BOD 
member, a related person of Taisho did not vote on this content.

B.4.4

Does the company have policies on loans 
to directors and commissioners either 
forbidding this practice or ensuring that 
they are being conducted at arm’s length 
basis and at market rates?

Regulated in Article 50 of the Company’s Charter.
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

Corporate Governance Confirmation Statement

D.2.8

Does the Annual Report contain a statement 
confirming the company’s full compliance 
with the code of corporate governance and 
where there is noncompliance, identify and 
explain reasons for each such issue?

Stated in Annual Reports - corporate governance report section.

D.3 Disclosure of related party transactions (RPT)

D.3.1
Does the company disclose its policy 
covering the review and approval of 
material RPTs?

Specifically stated in Annual Reports and financial statements

D.3.2
Does the company disclose the name, 
relationship, nature and value for each 
material RPTs?

  D.4 Directors and commissioners dealings in shares of the company

D.4.1 Does the company disclose trading in the 
company’s shares by related persons?

Related persons disclosed information 3 days before the date of trading shares. 
Annual Reports also stated this content

D.5 External auditor and Auditor Report

D.5.1 Are the audit and non-audit fees disclosed? The Company disclosed information on auditing contracts with auditors but the 
Company has not disclosed audit fees.

D.5.2 Does the non-audit fee exceed the audit 
fees? The Company does not have any non-audit fee.

D.6 Medium of communications

Does the company use the following modes of communication?

D.6.1 Quarterly reporting
Quarterly financial statements of the Company were disclosed on the website and 
mass media in accordance with the period of information disclosure.

Other information is regularly updated on the Company’s website and the media.

D.6.2 Company website The Company has its website translated into English. The majority of disclosed 
information was translated into English.

D.6.3 Analyst’s briefing Quarterly, the Company organized a shareholder/investor meeting to update the 
Company’s business results.

D.6.4 Media briefings/press conferences The Company regularly posts articles updating the business situation and 
promoting the Company’s images on the media.

D.7 Timely filing/release of annual/financial reports

D.7.1
Are the audited annual financial report/
statement released within 120 days from the 
financial year end?

Audited financial statements of the Company were disclosed within 10 days from 
the date of auditing the financial statements and no later than 90 days after the 
end of the financial year.

D.7.2 Is the annual report released within 120 days 
from the financial year end?

The Company’s Annual Reports were disclosed within 20 days from the publication 
of audited financial statements.

D.7.3

Is the true and fairness/fair representation 
of the annual financial statement/reports 
affirmed by the board of directors/
commissioners and/or the relevant officers 
of the company?

Audited financial statements contained reports of the BOM stating this content.

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

C.4 Stakeholders including individual employee and their representative bodies, should be able to freely communicate their concerns about 
illegal or unethical practices to the board and their rights should not be compromised for doing this.

C.4.1

Does the company have a whistleblowing 
policy which includes procedures for 
complaints by employees and other 
stakeholders concerning alleged illegal 
(including corruption) and unethical 
behaviour and provide contact details via 
the company’s website or annual report?

his content was defined in the cultural identity, the regulation of exercising 
democracy, the regulation of dialogue at the Company. The Company is considering 
to post “Cultural Identity of DHG Pharma” on the Company’s website.

Consideration should be given to developing a specific process and policy for the 
protection of whistleblowers.

C.4.2

Does the company have a policy or 
procedures to protect an employee/
person who reveals alleged illegal/unethical 
behaviour from retaliation?

D. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

D.1 Transparent ownership structure

D.1.1
Does the information on shareholdings 
reveal the identity of beneficial owners, 
holding 5% shareholding or more?

Specifically stated in Annual Reports and 6-month/ annual corporate governance 
reports.

D.1.2
Does the company disclose the direct and 
indirect (deemed) shareholdings of major 
and/or substantial shareholders?

D.1.3
Does the company disclose the direct and 
indirect (deemed) shareholdings of directors 
(commissioners)?

D.1.4
Does the company disclose the direct and 
indirect (deemed) shareholdings of the 
board of management?

D.1.5

Does the company disclose details of the 
parent/holding company, subsidiaries, 
affiliates, joint ventures and special purpose 
enterprises/vehicles (SPEs)/ (SPVs)?

Annual Reports specifically stated this content. 

D.2 Quality of Annual Report

Does the company’s annual report disclose the following items:

D.2.1 Corporate objectives

Each section was specifically stated in Annual Reports.

D.2.2 Financial performance indicators

D.2.3 Non-financial performance indicators

D.2.4 Dividend policy

D.2.5

Biographical details (at least age, 
academic qualifications, date of first 
appointment, relevant experience, and any 
other directorships of listed companies) of 
all directors/commissioners

D.2.6

Attendance details of each director/
commissioner in all directors/
commissioners meetings held during the 
year

D.2.7 Total remuneration of each member of the 
board of directors
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

E.2.3
Does the company have a process to 
implement and monitor compliance with 
the code/s of ethics or conduct?

This content is stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.

Board Structure & Composition

E.2.4
Do independent directors/commissioners 
make up at least 50% of the board of 
directors/commissioners?

Independent BOD members are 2/7 members.

E.2.5
Does the company have a term limit of nine 
years or less or 2 terms of five years each for 
its independent directors?

The Company’s charter specifically regulates the term of no more than 5 years 
for a BOD member. At the same time, the criteria and conditions for being an 
independent BOD member are not the same person who has served as a member 
of the BOD or BOS of DHG Pharma for at least five (05) consecutive years.

E.2.6
Has the company set a limit of five board 
seats that an individual independent/non-
executive director may hold simultaneously?

The Company’s Charter stipulates that “a BOD member may concurrently be a 
BOD member of another company but must not be a BOD member of more than 
five (05) other companies since 01 Aug 2019”.

E.2.7

Does the company have any executive 
directors who serve on more than two 
boards of listed companies outside of the 
group?

Executive BOD member only holds the position of DHG Pharma’s Interim General 
Director.

Nominating Committee

E.2.8 Does the company have a Nominating 
Committee? The Company has a Nomination and Remuneration Committee under the BOD.

E.2.9 Is the Nominating Committee comprised of 
a majority of independent directors? DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well. 

E.2.10 Is the chairman of the Nominating 
Committee an independent director?

An independent BOD member is the head of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

E.2.11
Does the company disclose the terms of 
reference/governance structure/charter of 
the Nominating Committee?

Annual Reports clearly specified this content.

E.2.12

Is the meeting attendance of the 
Nominating Committee disclosed and if 
so, did the Nominating Committee meet at 
least twice during the year?

Quarterly, members of Nomination and Remuneration Committee meet and 
submit reports to the BOD. This content was stated in Annual Reports.

Remuneration Committee/ Compensation 
Committee

E.2.13 Does the company have a Remuneration 
Committee? The Nomination and Remuneration Committee in charge.

E.2.14 Is the Remuneration Committee comprised 
of a majority of independent directors? Similar to section E.2.9.

E.2.15 Is the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee an independent director? Similar to section E.2.10.

E.2.16
Does the company disclose the terms of 
reference/governance structure/charter of 
the Remuneration Committee?

Similar to section E.2.11.

E.2.17

Is the meeting attendance of the 
Remuneration Committee disclosed and, if 
so, did the Remuneration Committee meet 
at least twice during the year?

Similar to section E.2.12.

Audit Committee

E.2.18 Does the company have an Audit 
Committee/BOS?

The corporate governance model has a 
BOS.

It is expected to submit to the AGM 
2018 on the change of organizational 
structure, management and control of 
DHG Pharma from the BOS model to the 
Audit Committee model under the BOD 
applied in 2019.

The corporate governance model has 
a BOS.

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

D.8 Company website

Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information on the following:

D.8.1 Financial statements/reports (latest 
quarterly)

These types of information are fully provided and regularly updated.

D.8.2 Materials provided in briefings to analysts 
and media

D.8.3 Downloadable annual report

D.8.4 Notice of AGM and/or EGM

D.8.5 Minutes of AGM and/or EGM

D.8.6 Downloadable company’s charter

D.9 Investor relations

D.9.1

Does the company disclose the contact 
details (e.g. telephone, fax, and email) of 
the officer/office responsible for investor 
relations?

The Company’s website has contact section and inquiry section. Besides,  
DHG Pharma also disclosed the contact information of the IR Team on Annual 
Reports, Sustainable Development Reports and quarterly IR newsletters.

E. BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

E.1 Board Members Duties and Responsibilities

Clearly defined board responsibilities and corporate governance policy

E.1.1 Does the company disclose its corporate 
governance policy/board charter?

The Company’s website discloses Internal regulations on corporate governance in 
Vietnamese and English.

E.1.2 Are the types of decisions requiring board of 
directors approval disclosed?

BOD Resolutions/Decisions were disclosed in accordance with Circular 155/2015/
TT-BTC and were stated in corporate governance reports and Annual Reports.

E.1.3 Are the roles and responsibilities of the board 
of directors clearly stated?

The Charter and Internal Regulations on Corporate Governance clearly 
demonstrate the roles and responsibilities of the BOD. At the same time, this 
content was specifically stated in the Annual Reports and Corporate Governance 
Reports.

Corporate Vision/Mission

E.1.4 Does the company have an updated vision 
and mission statement?

DHG Pharma had specifically disclosed these contents in Annual Reports, 
Sustainable Development Reports and the Company’s website.

E.1.5

Does the board of directors play a leading 
role in the process of developing and 
reviewing the company’s strategy at least 
annually?

Annually, the BOD reviewed and developed the Company’s strategy which was 
presented in Annual Reports and the AGM’s documents.

E.1.6
Does the board of directors have a 
process to review, monitor and oversee the 
implementation of the corporate strategy?

Quarterly, the Strategic Committee reports quarterly implementation of strategies 
to the BOD and recommends adjustments in accordance with the Company’s 
situation.

E.2 Board structure

Code of Ethics or Conduct

E.2.1 Are the details of the code of ethics or 
conduct disclosed?

The Company’s website clearly explains in details the meaning of 07 core values 
in terms of code of ethics and conduct with related parties. At the same time, the 
Company has a handbook known as “Cultural identity of DHG Pharma”.

The Company will consider posting “Cultural identity of DHG Pharma” on the 
Company’s website.

E.2.2
Are all directors, senior management and 
employees required to comply with the 
code/s?

The Company disclosed its compliance with the code of conduct to the BOD, 
Executive Board, managerial staffs and employees.
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

E.3.11

Are all directors/commissioners subject to 
reelection every 3 years; or 5 years for listed 
companies in countries whose legislation 
prescribes a term of 5 years?

The term of office of the BOD at DHG Pharma is 5 years.

Remuneration Matters

E.3.12
Does the company disclose its remuneration 
policy/practices for its executive directors 
and CEO? Annual Reports specifically stated this content.

E.3.13 Is there disclosure of the fee structure for 
non-executive directors?

E.3.14

Do the shareholders or the Board of 
Directors approve the remuneration of 
the executive directors and/or the senior 
executives?

The remuneration of the BOD is approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders 
annually. The BOD approved the salary scale of the Executive Board.

E.3.15

Does the company have measurable 
standards to align the performance-based 
remuneration of the executive directors and 
senior executives with long-term interests of 
the company, such as claw back provision 
and deferred bonuses?

The Company will consider to supplement this benchmark in the coming years.

Internal Audit

E.3.16 Does the company have a separate 
internal audit function? 

DHG Pharma has the Audit and Risk Management Committee under the BOD and 
the Internal Control Department under the BOM.

E.3.17
Is the head of internal audit identified or, if 
outsourced, is the name of the external firm 
disclosed?

The decision on appointment of Head of Internal Audit Committee has been 
disclosed. The Company is consolidating the Internal Audit Committee after 
changing the model.

E.3.18
Does the appointment and removal of the 
internal auditor require the approval of the 
Audit Committee?

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

Risk Oversight

E.3.19

Does the company establish a sound internal 
control procedures/ risk management 
framework and periodically review the 
effectiveness of that framework?

Annual Reports specifically stated these contents.

E.3.20

Does the Annual Report disclose that the 
board of directors has conducted a review 
of the company’s material controls and risk 
management systems?

E.3.21 Does the company disclose the key risks?

E.3.22

Does the Annual Report contain a statement 
from the board of directors or Audit 
Committee commenting on the adequacy 
of the company’s internal controls/ risk 
management systems?

E.4 BOARD PERSONNEL

Board Chairman

E.4.1 Do different persons assume the roles of 
chairman and CEO? DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

E.4.2 Is the chairman an independent director/
commissioner? The chairman is a non-executive BOD member.

E.4.3 Is any of the directors a former CEO of the 
company in the past 2 years? 01 member of the BOD is the former General Director.

E.4.4 Are the roles and responsibilities of the 
chairman disclosed? The Charter and corporate regulations specifically stated this content.

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

E.2.19

Is the Audit Committee/BOS comprised 
entirely of non-executive directors/
commissioners with a majority of 
independent directors/commissioners? BOS members are independent members, not BOD members. It is expected that 

the model transformation in 2019 will meet this requirement.

E.2.20 Is the chairman of the Audit Committee an 
independent director/commissioner?

E.2.21
Does the company disclose the terms of 
reference/governance structure/charter of 
the Audit Committee?

The Charter and Internal regulations on corporate governance specifically 
regulated these contents.

E.2.22

Does at least one of the independent 
directors/commissioners of the committee 
have accounting expertise (accounting 
qualification or experience)?

Head of the BOS is a person who is professionally qualified in accounting and is 
working full time in the Company.

E.2.23

Is the meeting attendance of the Audit 
Committee disclosed and, if so, did the 
Audit Committee meet at least four times 
during the year?

Annual Reports specifically stated this content.

E.2.24

Does the Audit Committee have primary 
responsibility for recommendation on the 
appointment, and removal of the external 
auditor?

E.3 Board Processes

Board meetings and attendance

E.3.1 Are the board of directors meeting 
scheduled before the start of financial year?

Annually, DHG Pharma makes plans for 4 periodic BOD meetings per year before 
the start of a financial year.

E.3.2 Does the board of directors meet at least six 
times during the year?

In 2018, DHG Pharma organized 06 
face-to-face meetings and 13 meetings 
via email which were specifically stated 
in corporate governance report 2018.

In 2017, DHG Pharma organized 8 face-
to-face meetings and 10 meetings via 
email which were specifically stated in 
the Annual Report.

E.3.3
Has each of the directors/commissioners 
attended at least 75% of all the board 
meetings held during the year?

Annual Reports specifically stated the attendance rate of each BOD member. 
Each BOD member attended over 75% of the meetings.

E.3.4 Does the company require a minimum 
quorum of at least 2/3 for board decisions?

Voting percentage for BOD decisions follows the approval of the majority of 
BOD members present (over 50%) in accordance with the Enterprise Law and 
the Company’s charter. However, in fact, most of the BOD decisions came from 
agreements of 7/7 BOD members.

E.3.5

Did the non-executive directors/
commissioners of the company meet 
separately at least once during the year 
without any executives present?

DHG Pharma has not implemented this benchmark and will consider to implement 
in the coming years.

Access to information

E.3.6

Are board papers for board of directors/
commissioners meetings provided to the 
board at least five business days in advance 
of the board meeting?

For the quarterly BOD meeting, the meeting notices and related documents will 
be sent to the BOD prior to 07 days of meetings.

For extraordinary meetings, meeting notices and related documents will be sent 
to the BOD prior to 03 days of meetings to ensure the information to be disclosed 
to shareholders as soon as possible, ensure shareholder’s rights as well as tasks 
related to executive are quickly implemented.

E.3.7
Does the company secretary play a 
significant role in supporting the board in 
discharging its responsibilities?

The BOD Secretary plays an important role in supporting the BOD to fulfill their 
duties. Responsibilities of the Secretary were stated in the Company’s Charter.

E.3.8

Is the company secretary trained in legal, 
accountancy or company secretarial 
practices and has kept abreast on relevant 
developments?

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

Board Appointments and Re-Election

E.3.9 Does the company disclose the criteria used 
in selecting new directors?

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

E.3.10 Did the company describe the process 
followed in appointing new directors?
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QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

Lead Independent Director

E.4.5

If the Chairman is not independent, has 
the Board appointed a Lead/ Senior 
Independent Director and has his/her role 
been defined?

There are 02 independent members of the BOD:
1.  01 member in the Strategic Committee, Marketing and Market Section;
2. 01 member is the Head of Nomination Committee.

Skills and Competencies

E.4.6

Does at least one non-executive director/
commissioner have prior working experience 
in the major sector that the company is 
operating in?

1/7 of independent BOD member and 2/7 of non-executive BOD members have 
experience in the pharmaceutical industry.

E.5 BOARD PERFORMANCE

Directors Development

E.5.1 Does the company have orientation 
programmes for new directors?

Annual performances of the BOD/General Director were shown in detail in sections 
of Annual Reports. However, the orientation program for new BOD members was 
unclear.

E.5.2

Does the company have a policy that 
encourages directors to attend on-going 
or continuous professional education 
programmes?

At the end of the year, the BOD conducts an assessment on performances of the 
BOD, General Director and the BOD’s Committees during the year and disclose 
them in Annual Reports.

The assessment process and criteria for each member should be considered and 
supplemented in the coming years.

CEO/Executive Management Appointments and Performance

E.5.3

Does the company disclose the process on 
how the board of directors plans for the 
succession of the CEO/Managing Director/
President and key management?

DHG Pharma has established a successor team, however this team has not been 
publicly disclosed.

E.5.4
Does the board of directors conduct an 
annual performance assessment of the 
CEO/Board Chairman?

Annual Reports stated an assessment on the performance of General Director. 
An assessment on the performance of the BOD Chairman has not been stated.

Board Appraisal

E.5.5

Did the company conduct an annual 
performance assessment of the board of 
directors and disclose the criteria and process 
followed for the assessment?

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

Director Appraisal

E.5.6

Did the company conduct an annual 
performance assessment of the individual 
directors/commissioners and disclose 
the criteria and process followed for the 
assessment?

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

E.5.7

Did the company conduct an annual 
performance assessment of the board 
committees and disclose the criteria and 
process followed for the assessment?

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

BONUS SCORECARD

QUES-
TIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

(B) A. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

(B) A.1 Basic Shareholder Rights

(B) A.1.1
Does the company practice secure 
electronic voting in absentia at the general 
meetings of shareholders?

The Charter and internal regulation in terms of corporate governance 
include absentee voting form, however DHG Pharma has not implemented 
at the previous general meetings due to not satisfying necessary criteria. The 
Company shall consider the implementation of this form at the next general 
meetings.

(B) B. EQUITABLE TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS

(B) B.1 Notice of AGM

(B) B.1.1

Does the company issue a notice of AGM 
(detailed report and explanation notice), as 
notices sent to HOSE at least 28 days prior 
to the date of the meeting?

The Company disclosed the notice of AGM 15 days prior to the meeting.

(B) C. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS

(B) C.1 The rights of stakeholders that are established by law or through mutual agreements are to be respected.

(B) C.1.1

Does the company adopt an internationally 
recognized reporting framework for 
sustainability (i.e. GRI, Integrated 
Reporting, SASB)?

DHG Pharma’s sustainable development reports were prepared in accordance 
with GRI standard.

(B) D. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

(B) D.1 Quality of Annual Report

(B) D.1.1
Are the audited annual financial report /
statement released within 60 days from the 
financial year end?

Annual audited financial statements were disclosed within 10 days since 
the date the financial statements were signed in accordance with Circular 
TT155/2015/TT-BCTC.

(B) D.1.2 Does the company disclose details of 
remuneration of the CEO? Fully stated in Annual Reports.

(B) E. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

(B) E.1 Board Competencies and Diversity

(B) E.1.1 Does the company have at least one female 
independent director/commissioner? 2/7 non-executive BOD members are female.

(B) E.1.2

Does the company have a policy and 
disclose measurable objectives for 
implementing its board diversity and report 
on progress in achieving its objectives?

DHG Pharma has not implemented this regulation well.

(B) E.2 Board Structure

(B) E.2.1
Is the Nominating Committee comprise 
entirely of independent directors/
commissioners?

Nomination and Remuneration Committee has 01 member. This member 
is both Head of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and an 
independent BOD member.

(B) E.2.2

Does the Nominating Committee 
undertake the process of identifying 
the quality of directors aligned with the 
company’s strategic directions?

DHG Pharma has not implemented this benchmark well. 

(B)  E.3 Board Appointments and Re-Election

(B) E.3.1

Does the company use professional 
search firms or other external sources of 
candidates (such as director databases set 
up by director or shareholder bodies) when 
searching for candidates to the board of 
directors/commissioners?

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

(B)  E.4 Board structure & composition

(B) E.4.1

Do independent non-executive directors/
commissioners make up more than 50% of 
the board of directors/commissioners for a 
company with independent chairman?

Non-executive BOD members account for over 50% of the BOD members at 
the Company. However, the Chairman is not an independent member.

(B)  E.5 Risk oversight

(B) E.5.1 Does the board describe its governance 
process around IT issues including 
disruption, cybersecurity, disaster recovery, 
to ensure that all key risks are identified, 
managed and reported to the board?

Specified in “DHG Pharma Cultural Identity” and the Company’s regulations. 
Quarterly, the Audit and Risk Management Committee reports to the BOD on 
the identified key risks.
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PENALTY SCORECARD

QUES-
TIONS QUESTION CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

(P) A. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

(P) A.1 Basic Shareholder Rights

(P)  A.1.1
Did the company fail or neglect to offer 
equal treatment for share repurchases to 
all shareholders?

DHG Pharma did not record any cases. The Charter and internal regulation 
on corporate governance specifically regulated for equal treatment of share 
repurchases for all shareholders.

(P)  A.2 Shareholders, including institutional shareholders, should be allowed to consult with each other on issues concerning their basic 
shareholder rights as defined in the Principles, subject to exceptions to prevent abuse.

(P)  A.2.1
Is there evidence of barriers that prevent 
shareholders from communicating or 
consulting with other shareholders?

DHG Pharma did not record any barriers. The Charter and internal regulation 
on corporate governance specifically regulated on the rights of shareholders 
to exchange, consult and update information.

(P) A.3 Right to participate effectively in and vote in general shareholders meeting and should be informed of the rules, including voting 
procedures, that govern general shareholders meeting.

(P) A.3.1
Did the company include any additional 
and unannounced agenda item into the 
notice of AGM/EGM?

The Company always informs shareholders in advance regarding the 
additional contents in the AGM/EGM.

(P) A.3.2
Did the Chairman of the Board, Audit 
Committee Chairman and CEO attend the 
most recent AGM?

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well. All the members of the 
BOD, Committees under the BOD and the BOM attended the AGMs.

(P) A.4 Capital structures and arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a degree of control disproportionate to their equity 
ownership should be disclosed.

(P) A.4.1 Did the company fail to disclose the 
existence of shareholders agreement? This agreement does not exist at DHG Pharma.

(P) A.4.2 Did the company fail to disclose the 
existence of voting cap?

The Company specifically regulates in Agendas and voting procedures at the 
AGM.

(P) A.4.3 Did the company fail to disclose the 
existence of multiple voting rights? The company does not have shares with multiple voting rights.

(P) A.5 Capital structures and arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a degree of control disproportionate to their equity 
ownership should be disclosed.

(P) A.5.1 Is a pyramid ownership structure and/or 
cross holding structure apparent?

The Company does not record any pyramid ownership structure or cross 
holding structure.

(P) B. EQUITABLE TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS

(P) B.1 Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited. 

(P) B.1.1

Has there been any conviction of insider 
trading involving directors/commissioners, 
management and employees in the past 
three years?

The company has not recorded any convictions.

(P) B.2 Protecting minority shareholders from abusive action

(P)  B.2.1

Has there been any cases of  
non-compliance  with the laws, rules and 
regulations pertaining to material related 
party transactions in the past three years?

The Company did not record any violations in 2017 and 2018.

(P)  B.2.2

Were there any related party transactions 
that can be classified as financial assistance 
(i.e not conducted at arms length) to 
entities other than wholly-owned subsidiary 
companies?

This content was regulated in the Company’s Charter and internal regulation 
on corporate governance

QUES-
TIONS QUESTION CONTENTS ASSESS-

MENT

BASIS OF EVALUATION

PERFORMANCES IN 2018 PERFORMANCES IN 2017

(P) C. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS

(P) C.1 The rights of stakeholders that are established by law or through mutual agreements are to be respected.

(P)  C.1.1

Have there been any violations of any 
laws pertaining to labour/employment/ 
consumer/ inso lvency/commerc ia l /
competition or environmental issues?

The Company did not record any violations in 2017 and 2018.

(P) C.2 Where stakeholders participate in the corporate governance process, they should have access to relevant, sufficient and reliable 
information on a timely and regular basis.

(P)  C.2.1

Has the company faced any sanctions 
by regulators for failure to make 
announcements within the requisite time 
period for material events?

DHG Pharma has implemented 
nearly 80 times of information 
disclosure and has not recorded 
any violations.

DHG Pharma has implemented 50 
times of information disclosure and 
has not recorded any violations.

(P) D. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

(P) D.1 Sanctions from regulator on financial reports

(P)  D.1.1 Did the company receive a “qualified 
opinion” in its external audit report?

An unmodified opinion in Independent auditor’s report in 2017, 2018.(P) D.1.2 Did the company receive an “adverse 
opinion” in its external audit report?

(P) D.1.3 Did the company receive a “disclaimer 
opinion” in its external audit report?

(P) D.1.4
Has the company in the past year revised 
its financial statements for reasons other 
than changes in accounting policies?

DHG Pharma has not revised its financial statements.

(P) E. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

(P) E.1 Compliance with listing rules, regulations and applicable laws

(P)  E.1.1

Is there any evidence that the company 
has not complied with any listing rules and 
regulations over the past year apart from 
disclosure rules?

DHG Pharma has not recorded any violations.

(P)  E.1.2

Have there been any instances where 
non-executive directors/commissioner 
have resigned and raised any issues of 
governance-related concerns? 

DHG Pharma has not recorded any instances.

(P)  E.2 Board structure

(P)  E.2.1

Does the Company have any independent 
directors/commissioners who have served 
for more than nine years or two terms of 
five years each in the same capacity?

Nil. DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

(P)  E.2.2 Did the company fail to identify who are the 
independent director(s)/commissioner(s)? Annual reports specifically stated this content.

(P) E.2.3

Does the company have any independent 
directors/non-executive/commissioners 
who serve on a total of more than five 
boards of publicly-listed companies?

Nil. DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

(P) E.3 External Audit

(P)  E.3.1

Is any of the directors or senior 
management a former employee or 
partner of the current external auditor (in 
the past 2 years)?

Nil. DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

(P) E.4 Board structure and composition

(P)  E.4.1 Has the Chairman been the Company CEO 
in the last three years?

The Chairman did not concurrently hold the position of the General Director of 
the Company for the past 3 years.

(P)  E.4.2
Do independent non-executive directors/
commissioners receive options, performance 
shares or bonuses?

DHG Pharma has implemented this 
benchmark well.
In 2018, DHG Pharma had a share 
distribution program - preferred 
shares for employees from the BOM 
and under, as well as executive BOD 
members. 

There is no cases in DHG Pharma.
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FROM THE SYMBOL OF HUMANITY
Building a corporate culture promoting the motto “Our Pride is  
DHG Pharma’s Culture and Identity” has become a noble humanistic 
symbol. DHG Pharma views this a decisive goal that determines the 
longevity in its mission to implement and achieve sustainable development. 
DHG Pharma’s cultural identity has become a bridge connecting all its 
members in the same roof, connecting with its business partners as well as 

with communities for a benevolent and prosperous society.



OVERVIEW OF THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT REPORT 

IN THE PERIOD 2016 - 2020, DHG PHARMA DETERMINES THAT “MAXIMIZING 
THE ENTERPRISE VALUE AND INCREASING BENEFITS OF STAKEHOLDERS” 
IS ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT OBJECTIVES TO SUSTAINABLY DEVELOP 
THE ENTERPRISE. WITH THE AFOREMENTIONED OBJECTIVES, DHG PHARMA 
IS WILLING TO AND ALWAYS LISTEN TO SUGGESTIONS, OPINIONS AND 
INTERESTS FROM THE RELATED PARTIES IN TERMS OF THE COMPANY’S 
ACTIVITIES IN ORDER TO SYNCHRONOUSLY IMPLEMENT SOLUTIONS,  
AIMING TO CONTINUE EFFECTIVE OPERATION, SUPPLY HIGH QUALITY 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES TO CUSTOMERS, CREATE MORE JOBS FOR 
LOCAL PEOPLE, MAXIMIZE HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT AND 

INCREASE BENEFITS OF RELATED PARTIES.

METHODS OF DEFINING 
REPORT CONTENTS

In 2018, DHG Pharma develops 
the sustainable development 
report based on the latest 
standard - GRI Sustainability 
Reporting Standards of Global 
Report Initiative (GRI). The report 
is presented specifically for 
each area of the Economic - 
Environmental - Social category.  
Simultaneously, we further 
refer to the Guidebook for 
Environmental and Social 
Information Disclosure 
conducted by the State 
Securities Commission 
(SSC) in collaboration with 
IFC (International Finance 
Corporation). In addition, 
the Company’s development 
strategy is also triangulated 
with the National Action Plan 
in the Agenda 2030 adopted 
by the United Nations General 
Assembly in Sept 2015 with 17 
sustainable development goals. 

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

Reporting period: The sustainable development report 2018 is 
prepared in accordance with the accounting year, starting from 01 
Jan to 31 Dec.

Reporting cycle: Every year

Scope of the report: This report was prepared within the scope 
of operation of DHG Pharma in Vietnam’s territory in the field of 
pharmaceutical production and trading. It is made up of DHG Plant 
under the parent company, DHG Pharmaceutical Plant Branch in 
Hau Giang, and subsidiaries/branches in provinces and cities across 
the country. The report excludes Vinh Hao Algae Processing Affiliate 
(DHG Pharma owned 31.36%) and Fuji Medic subsidiary (DHG Pharma 
owned 51%).

CONTACT INFORMATION

DHG Pharma is making efforts to satisfy the expectations of 
stakeholders in terms of information transparency and sustainable 
growth in business, and demonstrating corporate responsibilities to 
the community. As a result, we look forward to receiving your sincere 
comments. If arising any comments and questions related to the issue 
of sustainable development, please kindly send to the below address:

Website: www.dhgpharma.com.vn (Contact section)

Tel: 02923 891 433 (Ext: 242), contact Finance Department

Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung (hongnhung@dhgpharma.com.vn)  
Finance Director, the Company’s Secretary, person in charge of the 
Company’s corporate governance

Ms. Duong Kim Loan (duongloan@dhgpharma.com.vn)  
Head of Investor Relations Team - Finance Department

17 MỤC TIÊU
PHÁT TRIỂN BỀN VỮNG CỦA LIÊN HỢP QUỐC

SOCIAL
DEVELOPMENT

ECONOMIC
GROWTH

ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION
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ORIENTATION AND STRATEGY 
FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MODEL

The sustainable development model of DHG Pharma is targeted to create positive effects  
for 3 groups: Company - Market - Society

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO 
THE MARKET

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO
THE SOCIETY

• Stable business growth.

• Offering promotions and benefits to employees.

• Positively investing in human resources development.

• Risk management and compliance monitoring.

• Information transparency.

• Optimizing the values for shareholders, customers, 
and investors.

• Contributing to the development of the Vietnamese 
pharmaceutical market.

• Strengthening performances of capital mobilization 
and domestic/foreign distribution channels.

• Promoting local economic development in 
particular and society in general.

• Fulfilling tax obligations with competent authorities.

• Joining hands in contributing to the community.

• Compliance with laws on environmental protection.

The sustainable development program is applied in the Company’s practice through the following 
governance model:

General guidance and issuance of strategies and orientations on issues 
related to the Company’s sustainable development.

Approving objectives and action plans for the implementation of 
sustainable development strategies.

Preparing and submitting the objectives and action plans to the BOD 
for DHG Pharma’s sustainable development.

Orientating and sharing strategies, goals, and plans for sustainable 
development throughout the Company.

Making sure sustainable development plans meet targeted objectives.

Following up and supervising the implementations of relevant entities.

Implementing and actualizing sustainable development plans directed 
by the General Director and Executive Board.

Performing specific daily tasks related to the Company’s sustainable 
development goals.

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO
THE COMPANY

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

GENERAL 
DIRECTOR

& EXECUTIVE 
BOARD

FUNCTIONAL 
SECTORS &  

DEPARTMENTS

EMPLOYEES

Under the direction of the BOD, DHG Pharma regularly reviews its operational 
procedures related to sustainable development through proactive communication 
with stakeholders. The process of proactive dialogues between DHG Pharma and its 
stakeholders ensures that implementations are effective and consistent with sustainable 
development strategies and orientations.
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THE UNITED NATIONS’ GOALS DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION UNTIL 2020 REFERENCE IN ACTIVITIES

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
No Poverty

 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Zero Hunger

 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Good Health  

and Well-being 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Quality Education

 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Industry, Innovation, and 

Infrastructure 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Gender Equality 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS 
Reduced Inequality

• Maintaining and improving the quality of the 
healthcare, lifestyle activities and programs 
for employees.

• Ensuring the quality of life for employees and 
their families which are above the average 
level to those in the same industry, location, 
and social status.

• Training in cultural identity and an increasing 
sense of community sharing.

• Providing disease prevention knowledge, 
how to use the product safely and effectively 
through the media (programs: Family Doctor, 
Medicine Seminar, Health Bridge, etc.) and 
Call Center.

• Promoting the application of information 
technology in management.

• Training human resources with expertise, 
skills, adapting to changes in science and 
technology.

• Employment.

• Occupational health and safety.

• Training and education.

• Diversity and equal opportunity.

• Freedom of Association &  
Collective Bargaining.

• Child labor.

• Local communities.

• Customer health safety.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS IN 2018

Ending poverty in all its forms everywhere. Ending hunger, achieving food security and improving nutrition 
and promoting sustainable agriculture

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

  

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONSEnsuring healthy lives and promote well-being at all ages

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONSEnsuring inclusive and equitable quality education and promoting lifelong learning opportunities for all

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS
Building resilient infrastructure, promoting inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONSAchieving gender equality and empower all women and girls

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONSReducing inequality within and among countries

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

ORIENTATION AND STRATEGY 
FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

PURSUANT TO 17 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
OF THE UNITED NATIONS, DHG PHARMA ANALYZED AND 
SELECTED GOALS TO BE INCLUDED IN THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION OF THE COMPANY UNTIL 
2020, AS FOLLOWS:

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

100 % 
OF EMPLOYEES RECEIVED A 

PERIODIC MEDICAL EXAMINATION

18.9 
VND MILLION/PERSON/MONTH

AVERAGE INCOME

1,294 EMPLOYEES
BEING TRAINED IN FOOD HYGIENE & 

SAFETY AND LABOR PROTECTION

600 VND MILLION 
SUPPORTING FOR THE POOR PATIENTS 

FUND IN CANTHO CITY AND HAU GIANG

> 3,000 
EMPLOYEES

> 25,000 PEOPLE  
WITH 51 PROGRAMS OF FREE MEDICAL 

EXAMINATIONS AND MEDICINE

THE UNITED NATIONS’ GOALS DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION UNTIL 2020 REFERENCE IN ACTIVITIES

ECONOMIC GROWTH

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Decent Work and Economic 

Growth

 
17

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS 

Responsible Consumption  
and Production

• Improving brand value, maintaining Top 
50 most valuable brands in Vietnam

• Promoting research and development to 
increase revenue from new products.

• Promoting innovations, efficiency 
savings, and waste reduction.

• Training across the country and abroad 
to improve professional qualifications 
and to meet development needs.

• Economic performance.

• Indirect economic impact.

• Anti-corruption.

• Anti-competitive behavior.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS IN 2018

Promoting sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment and 
decent work for all

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

Ensuring sustainable consumption and production patterns

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

3,882  
VND BILLION 
NET REVENUE

651  
VND BILLION 

PROFIT AFTER TAX

292.1  
VND BILLION 

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STATE BUDGET

457.6   
VND BILLION 

DIVIDENDS IN 2018

318  
PRODUCTS 

GRANTED NATIONAL 
REGISTRATION NUMBERS

286  
BRANDS  

GRANTED TRADEMARK 
PROTECTION

14  
NEW PRODUCTS 

PRODUCED 
DURING THE YEAR 

37  
PRODUCTS 
ACHIEVED 

BIOEQUIVALENCE

4 %  
RESEARCH  

BUDGET/PAT  
IN 2018

68 
TRAINING COURSES

28,970 
TURNS OF PARTICIPANTS

205,596  
TRAINING HOURS

2.7VND BILLION
TRAINING BUDGET

2 
PRODUCTION LINES REACHING HIGH 

STANDARDS (PIC/S - GMP, JAPAN - GMP)

100 % 
OF INFRASTRUCTURE IS ANNUALLY 

ASSESSED AND CHECKED

233 
IDEAS AND 

INNOVATIONS

40 % 
THE PROPORTION OF FEMALE EMPLOYEES

100 % 
BENEFITS, REGIMES FOR MATERNITY, 
WOMEN RAISING CHILDREN UNDER  

12 MONTHS OLD, ETC ARE GUARANTEED

21 % 
THE PROPORTION OF FEMALE EMPLOYEES IN 
CHARGE OF MANAGERIAL POSITIONS/TOTAL 

NUMBER OF MANAGERS

273 VND MILLION 
SUPPORTING FOR VIETNAMESE HEROIC MOTHERS, 

AGENT ORANGE VICTIMS, THE ELDERLY,  
ORPHANS, ETC.

1,227  
FEMALE EMPLOYEES 

CREATING EQUALITY, PROMOTION 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR FEMALE EMPLOYEES

11.4 
VND BILLION 

CONTRIBUTION TO THE 
COMMUNITY
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ORIENTATION AND STRATEGY 
FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

IN THE PERIOD 2016 - 2020, DHG PHARMA DETERMINES THAT “MAXIMIZING THE ENTERPRISE 
VALUE AND INCREASING BENEFITS OF STAKEHOLDERS” IS ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT 
OBJECTIVES TO SUSTAINABLY DEVELOP THE ENTERPRISE. WITH ABOVE OBJECTIVES, DHG 
PHARMA IS WILLING AND ALWAYS LISTEN TO THE INTERESTS OF THE RELATED PARTIES IN 
TERMS OF THE COMPANY’S ACTIVITIES IN ORDER TO SYNCHRONOUSLY IMPLEMENT SOLUTIONS, 
WHICH ARE TO CONTINUE EFFECTIVE OPERATION, SUPPLYING HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS AND 
SERVICES TO CUSTOMERS, CREATING MORE JOBS FOR LOCAL PEOPLE, MAXIMIZING HUMAN 

RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT AND INCREASING BENEFITS OF RELATED PARTIES.

DIVIDEND 305.1 392.2 457.6 
SHAREHOLDERS

CONTRIBUTING TO 
THE STATE BUDGET 241.6 306.6 292.1 

THE STATE

INCOME  
OF EMPLOYEES

VND MILLION/ 
MONTH/PERSON

21.8 
VND MILLION/ 

MONTH/PERSON

17.8 
VND MILLION/ 

MONTH/PERSON

18.9
EMPLOYEES

TOTAL VALUE OF 
TRANSACTIONS DURING 

THE YEAR
6,293 8,179 6,603 

SUPPLIERS AND 
PARTNERS

NET REVENUE

VND BILLION

VND BILLION VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION VND BILLION
3,783 4,063 3,882 

CUSTOMERS

CONTRIBUTING TO 
THE COMMUNITY AND 

SOCIETY
5.6 6.1 

COMMUNITY

Stakeholders Content 2016 2017 2018

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY OF RELATED PARTIES 

THE UNITED NATIONS’ GOALS DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION UNTIL 2020 REFERENCE IN ACTIVITIES 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Clean Water and Sanitation

 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
Affordable and Clean Energy 

 
 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS 
Climate Action

• The Company’s activities are always 
associated with environmental protection, 
raw materials savings, clean-technology 
machinery and equipment.

• Ensuring safety in production: Compliance 
with labor safety rules; occupational safety 
training as planned; Testing, evaluating 
the effectiveness of training and workers’ 
awareness.

• Efficient energy use at factories.

• Periodic evaluation of waste disposal in 
order to take timely measures and minimize 
environmental pollution.

• Raw materials management.

• Energy.

• Water.

• Emissions, effluents, and waste.

• Environmental compliance.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS IN 2018

Ensuring availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all
Ensuring access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all
Taking urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

 
17

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

11.4
INCLUDING SPECIAL  

WHITE BLOUSE MISSION

6.7% 
RATIO OF WASTEWATER RECYCLE

4 TIMES/YEAR
PERIODICALLY COLLECTING SAMPLES OF WASTEWATER TREATMENT SYSTEMS

>2  
VND BILLION/YEAR 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT  
COSTS

4  
TIMES/YEAR 

PERIODIC SAMPLING  
OF EMISSIONS MONITORING

REDUCING 9.34 %  

OVER THE SAME PERIOD  
THE INTENSITY OF
ELECTRICITY USE
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Pursuant to the oriented development strategies in the period of 2016 - 2020, DHG Pharma will implement 
the dividend payment policy in cash with a minimum of 30% of par value per year to allocate a part of the 
profit to reinvest in business development and to increase the accumulated value for shareholders.

The BOD expects to submit to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2018 dividends 2018 of 35% of 
par value. It is 5% higher than the original plan.

Paying taxes is the rights and obligations of an enterprise. In 2018, DHG Pharma strictly complied with tax 
payments in accordance with the provisions of law and the State. The total contribution to the State budget in 
2018 was VND 292.1 billion. In particular, the contribution to the State budget in Can Tho City and Hau Giang 
province is VND 176.7 billion and VND 17.9 billion, respectively.

DIVIDEND PAYMENT POLICY

CONTRIBUTION TO THE STATE BUDGET

BUSINESS 
RESULT  
IN 2018

ECONOMIC  
GROWTH

HUMAN RESOURCE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

OVERVIEW OF THE WORKFORCE

At DHG Pharma, we highly 
appreciate the values created by 
employees and their contributions 
to the overall success of the 
Company. DHG Pharma 
determines that employees are 
the main resources and decisive 
factor for the sustainable 
development of the Company. 
Therefore, when developing the 
Company’s development strategy, 
DHG Pharma always focuses 
on building and developing 
professional and highly qualified 
staff through remuneration and 
welfare policies associated with 
its core values and culture.

THE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BETWEEN 2014 AND 2018 (FIGURES IN: EMPLOYEE)

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

3,054

2018

3,205

2017

2,944

2016

2,876

2015

2,964

2014

EMPLOYEES (31 DEC 2018)

3,054

REVENUE IN 2018  
INCREASES BY 8.6 TIMES 

COMPARED TO 2004

VND BILLION

VND BILLIONVND BILLION

VND BILLION

VND BILLION

3,882 

CHARTER CAPITAL IN 2018  
INCREASES BY 16.3 TIMES 

COMPARED TO 2004

1,307 
TOTAL ASSETS IN 2018

INCREASES BY 19.2 TIMES  
COMPARED TO 2004

4,206 
PROFIT BEFORE TAX IN 2018  

INCREASES BY 22.4 TIMES  
COMPARED TO 2004

732 

PROFIT AFTER TAX IN 2018 
INCREASES BY 27.6 TIMES  

COMPARED TO 2004

651 

STRUCTURE  
BY GENDER

40.2%

59.8%

 Male    Female

STRUCTURE  
BY AGE

3.5%

60.1%

36.4%

 Under 30 years old    31 - 50 years old    Over 50 years old

Dividends of DHG Pharma over the years:

TARGET FIGURES IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Dividend per share VND 3,000 3,500 3,500 3,000 3,500 (*)

Total value of dividends VND billion 261.5 304.3 305.1 392.2 457.6

% dividend/PAT % 49.0 51.3 44.3 61.1 70.3

EPS VND/share 5,169 5,748 4,485 4,378 4,445

(*) Dividend 2018 is expected to be submitted to the AGM 2018 
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RECRUITMENT POLICY

Recruitment plan: Every year, pursuant to 
the work needs, the operation plan, short-
term and long-term objectives, the Company 
prepares a plan to recruit personnel.

Recruitment notice: The Company’s 
recruitment requirements are disclosed on 
the Company’s Website.

Recruitment principles: Openness - Fairness 
- Equality

Recruitment requirements: Detailed 
information about the application and 
admission criteria are specifically disclosed on 
the Company’s website.

The Company attracts and welcomes all 
candidates who have the desire and ability 
to work in a dynamic, speedy, creative and 
effective environment.

The recruitment process is fair and in accordance 
with capacity and contribution ability.

The Company creates a professional and modern working 
environment, harmoniously combining the interests of the 
enterprise with the benefits of employees. 

Labor contract: Pursuant to the needs and nature of the 
work, the Company will consider signing labor contracts 
with employees in one of the following forms:

a  Seasonal labor contract or contract for certain jobs 
with a term of shorter than 12 months.

b  Labor contracts with a definite term from 12 months 
to 36 months.

c  Indefinite - term labor contract.

Working time: The working time is 08 hours per day, no 
more than 48 hours per week for the Back-office Sector.  
In accordance with the work of the units and the 
characteristics of the units/locality, employees of the 
Sales Sector will have reasonable days off so that the 
volume and quality of work are ensured as; yet employees 
can take a rest. Employees are entitled to the regime of 
holiday leave, annual leave, and personal leave which is 
paid in compliance with the provisions of the Labor Law.

Insurance policy: Every month, the Company pays Social 
Insurance (SI), Health Insurance (HI), Unemployment 
Insurance (UI) for employees.

RECRUITMENT POLICY  
AND SALARY POLICY

Human resources is one of 
the most decisive factors for the 
success and sustainable 
development of the enterprise.  
In order to retain excellent, 
dedicated and devoted employees 
of the Company, DHG Pharma 
always pays attention to the salary, 
bonus, remuneration, training 
policies, etc. to promote employees’ 
enthusiasm, passion, creativity, 
commitment, wholehearted 
contribution to the sustainable 
development of DHG Pharma so 
that life of each employee and each 
family is more sufficient and happier.

Salary policy and allowances

The Company, working with consultancy 
companies, has constructed the new salary system 
based on positions and evaluation of duties which 
helps identify the complexity of the work in each 
position. Salary, as such, is paid in accordance 
with the roles, responsibility, the extent of devotion 
and working ability. In particular, DHG Pharma has 
implemented the following steps for the new work 
management system:

• Updating the KPI list for the remaining positions 
in the Company, after EY has reviewed the KPI list 
for the BOM and the functional director.

• Allocating KPI proportions and establishing KPI 
targets.

• Keeping track of the statistics periodically and 
supporting staff to achieve the set objectives.

• Collecting feedback and information relevant to 
the working process and outcomes of each staff 
member.

• Evaluating each staff’s working effectiveness. 
Returning to step 1 - adjusting the KPI for 
appropriateness and step 2 - allocating the 
proportion and set objectives for the next 
evaluation round.

The salary by position (fixed salary) of employees 
is ensured at a competitive level compared to the 
labour market. This contributes to job stability and 
ensures long-term benefits for employees such as 
pensions, insurance.

Allowances: Responsibility allowances, food 
allowances, living-away-from-home allowance, 
toxic allowances, and other allowances.

HUMAN RESOURCE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

Welfare policy

At DHG Pharma, Trade Unions and other 
Company’s Unions carefully take care of their 
employees and regularly organize picnics, 
entertainment activities, health talk shows, 

cultural activities, and sports competitions.  
These activities collectively promote unity and 
solidary among the Company’s employees and 
their loyalty to the Company.

Sports competition held at the Company’s pool
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Family Festival of DHG Pharma

DHG Pharma fulfilled all social insurance, health insurance 
and unemployment insurance for employees. Moreover, 
the Company also purchased accident, sickness and 
hospitalization insurance for staff, and premium medical 
insurance scheme for senior management and excellent 
employees.

With the desire to educate and inspire employees to keep 
in mind the gratitude to their parents, on the occasion of 
Vu Lan season, the Company financially supported all 
employees to buy gifts for their parents.

The Company organized the Spring Festival 
2018 with the theme “Vietnamese Tet 2018” to 
create opportunities for family reunion among  
DHG Pharma’s families. The Spring Festival enabled 
the Company’s employees to buy a number of 
reputable regional specialties (Northern, Central 
and Southern region) at reasonable prices.

The Company successfully organized Tet Program for 
employees of the sales sector and year-end party for 
more than 2,500 employees right at the Company. One 
special part of the cultural program with the theme 
“Loving Spring 2018” is the cultural performance of 
youth union members of back-office, production and 
sales clusters.

To celebrate the 88th anniversary of Vietnamese 
Women’s Day (20 Oct 1930 to 20 Oct 2018),  
the Company organized the contest  
“Miss and Mister DHG Pharma 2018” to create a 
healthy and useful playground for the Company’s 
employees to exchange, learn, and develop themselves; 
thereby, motivating employees to improve themselves 
in all aspects and building a beautiful image of  
DHG Pharma’s personnel.

Labor Union proactively collaborated with employers to 
implement the regulations on food safety and hygiene, 
health care, and meal for shift workers.

The Company supported staff with loans when 
repairing, building houses, purchasing household items 

or confronting difficulties. In addition, the Company’s 
Poor Patients Fund supports staff and their families 
when hospitalized with surgery and suffering from long-
term treatment.

The Company also supports part of renting cost 
and childcare cost as a way to improve employees’ 
concentration at work.

The Company also paid close attention to sales 
employees working away from home and supports 
them typical southern Vietnam foods that remind them 
of their homeland.

At the end of the year, the Company paid visits and 
presented gifts to 53 retired employees as a way 
of showing gratitude to previous generations who 
significantly contributed to the development of the 
Company and timely supporting when necessary.

The Company organized annual meetings where 
employees’ children who passed the entrance 
examination and achieved excellent or good merits at 
school were honored and rewarded. 

The Company took care of the employees’ children on 
the International Children’s Day, in the summer vacation 
and Mid-autumn Festival in 2018:

• On the occasion of International Children’s Day, the 
Youth Union sent gifts to employees’ children.

• On the occasion of summer 2018, the Youth Union 
organized useful and fun summer programs for 
employees’ children.

• Employees’ children also enjoyed “Experiencing 
Summer” at the sports hall, Da Lat.

• Going to Saigon Zoo and Botanical Garden and 
watching the play “Once upon a time” in Ho Chi 
Minh City on 23 June 2018.

• Having fun at Funny Land on 30 June and 01 July 2018.

• The Company also gave each child a set of moon cake.

Welfare for employees

Caring activities for employees and their families

HUMAN RESOURCE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

An annual meeting with retired employees Moment of the competition “Miss and Mister DHG Pharma 2018”Spring Festival of DHG Pharma

A swimming pool and soccer field to create a 
playground that also serves that goal of training 
physical health for employees.

Dormitories or residential accommodation for 
employees who are still renting houses and have 
no stable accommodation.

Kindergartens to take care of children so that 
parents can concentrate on their work, especially 
shift workers.

A sports hall, a bio-zone with spacious green 
space and a hall which can be used as a resort 
for relaxation, staff training, meetings, and event 
organizing.

A shared kitchen to provide breakfasts, lunches and 
shift-break meals to all employees. The meals are 
always nutritious and ensure food hygiene and safety.

Arranged transportations for employees to  
commute to work daily at Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Plant (Tan Phu Thanh IZ,  
Hau Giang province).

With a desire to create a cool and clean space 
for employees to gather and relax after work, the 
Company has improved the service quality of its 
canteen and built a learning corner for employees.

Activities celebrated on the occasion of the  
Lunar New Year has become a typical activity of 
DHG Pharma. Every year, on the 25th and 28th of 
the lunar December, the Company organizes the 
year-end ceremony, the Labor Conference, and the 
year-end celebration to report year-end summary 
and organize a discussion between the leaders 
and employees. Besides, the Company organizes 
cultural and entertainment activities, sports 
competitions to provide chance for employees to 
relax after a hard-working year and enjoy a happy 
Tet holiday.

On this occasion, the Company also visits and gives 
gifts to retired employees, showing the Company’s 
gratitude to those who contributed to the growth 
of DHG Pharma.
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EDUCATION AND TRAINING

At DHG Pharma, education and training are developed in accordance with the 
competencies of employees (skills, training, knowledge and values). The Company always 
tries to build an organization that regularly shares knowledge and experience in effective 
teamwork. The training programs are constantly innovated, but it still retains DHG Pharma’s 
Cultural Identity in order to build employees’ loyalty with the spirit of enthusiasm, 
commitment, acceptance, and adaptation to suit with changes.

In order to improve education and 
training, the Company continued 
to conduct knowledge checking 
on App Mirror for employees 
in the sales sector. In 2018, a 
survey, conducted via Google 
Form and online-survey, focused 
on salary, bonus, remuneration 
policies, working environment, 
recruitment, education - training, 
KPI evaluation, the leadership 
style of the direct managers, the 

• To help employees understand the new points 
of the Labor Law, Social Insurance and Health 
Insurance applied in 2018, DHG Pharma 
organized a course on rights, regimes, policies 
when participating in Social Insurance and 
Health Insurance for a total of 1,800 employees 
at the Company.

• The Company also carried out training on safety 
and labor protection for 1,294 employees of 
production plants, Packaging & Printing Plant, 
Raw Material Warehouse, Finished-Product 
Warehouse, Mechanical & Electrical Department, 
Quality Control Department, and Research & 
Development Department. 

• To continue building the working spirit of the sales 
team, the Company organized a training program 
with the theme “Keeping the Flame of Heroes”  
for sales staff from all over the country. 100% of 
sales staff is trained and checked on Company’s 
cultural identity and regulations through the 
game “Ringing the Golden Bell”.

• With the same theme, to help new staff understand 
the provisions/regulations of the Company and 
DHG Pharma’s Cultural Identity and the Code 
of Conduct, and to build teamwork spirit and 
deserving life, on 10 Nov 2018, an orientation 
program entitled “Integrating Training 2018” was 
organized for 150 employees at the production 

plants and the back-office departments under the 
direct guidance and transmission of enthusiasm 
of Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga - BOD members, 
Strategic advisors of the Company.

• With the aim to help intermediate management 
staff update modern management tools and 
skills in the new era of the industrial revolution 4.0 
as well as arouse each individual’s full potentials 
to overcome their own limits and achieve 
development goals in leadership, the Company 
organized the courses “Management Capacity 
for Intermediate Management”, “Management 
Capacity for Sales Management”, 
“Governance Capacity for Production and  
Back-office Managers” for Head, Deputy Head 
of units, Team Leaders, Sales Directors, Pharmacy 
Channel/ Hospital Channel, Branch Directors, 
Regional Directors and Back-office.

• 193 employees in the production sectors of the 
Company also participated in the knowledge 
inspection and evaluation and received the 
certificates of food safety issued by the Food 
Safety and Hygiene Department of Can Tho City.

• 45 employees from the BOM, Functional Directors, 
Head & Deputy Head to Team leaders of 
different units participated in the training course  
“Raising awareness of risk management”.

In 2018, some outstanding training programs organized at the Company are as follows:

• Practicing to efficiently apply GMP - EU;

• Circular 11/2018/TT-BYT and documents on 
quality management of pharmaceuticals;

• Business law consultancy;

• Intensive training on M&A strategy, takeover and 
anti-takeover, evaluation and decision on buying 
and selling businesses.

• HR management for leaders;

• C&B specialists;

• Personnel planning;

• Cross-platform mobile programming with 
Xamarin;

• Comprehensive IT management skills;

• Updating the latest regulations on tax and 
invoices that are currently effective.

In addition to courses at the Company, leaders and experts at units participated in external courses to 
improve their professional skills.

To help students gain practical experience and be confident when entering the working environment,  
DHG Pharma regularly admits Pharmacy students from universities such as Can Tho University of Medicine 
and Pharmacy and Can Tho Medical College for their apprenticeship at the production plants.

HUMAN RESOURCE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

satisfaction level of the sales 
staff on education and staff’s 
working motivation.

In 2018, DHG Pharma continues 
to effectively promote its 
education and training programs 
for its employees. The total 
actual costs for education and 
training in 2018 reached VND 2.7 
billion. 

The total number of training 
hours for leaders, key personnel 
and employees are 205,596 hours 
(averagely 67.87 hours/person/
year). Training provided to sales 
teams accounted for 79,128 
hours (averagely 60.87 hours/
person/year). Training provided 
to new employees accounted 
for 37,608 hours (averagely 85.5 
hours/person).
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  
INVESTMENT

OVER HALF OF THE PAST CENTURY, DHG PHARMA 
DEVELOPED AND LAUNCHED MORE THAN 300 PRODUCTS INTO 
THE MARKET, CREATED JOBS FOR OVER 3,000 WORKERS, 
PROVIDED FREE MEDICAL EXAMINATION AND MEDICINE FOR 
OVER 600,000 POOR PEOPLE, AND SUPPORTED BILLIONS OF 
MEDICAL EQUIPMENT FOR UNDER-DEVELOPED PLACES.

IN ADDITION TO THE LIST OF 300 HIGH-QUALITY PRODUCTS AT REASONABLE PRICES, DHG PHARMA 
HAS OBTAINED ITS CURRENT SUSTAINABLE BRAND THANKS TO ITS RELENTLESS STRIVING FOR THE 
SAKE OF THE COMMUNITY. IN DHG PHARMA, ALL EMPLOYEES AND LEADERS ARE DEDICATED TO 

DEVOTION ON THE BASIS OF 3 CORE CRITERIA

ADVANCED 
SCIENCE

DHG Pharma regularly updates the latest and the 
most modern technologies to apply in its production 
lines to develop high quality products with specialized 
and exclusive formulas. 

Naturenz: is developed from a scientific research project conducted 
by the Institute of Biotechnology. Naturenz contains enzyme 
extracting from natural vegetable ingredients such as papaya latex, 
bitter melon, parsnip, red melon (Momordica cochinchinensis), 
lucuma and garlic that function as detoxifications and strengthening 
liver functions. Naturenz is produced at a reasonable price, enable 
any person suffering from liver problems to adapt treatment and 
prevention. The product creates a chain linking four parties, which 
are: the State - Researchers - Manufacturers and Farmers, creating 
economic and social benefits.

NattoEnzym: is produced from Japanese raw material sources 
exclusively certified by Japan NattoKinase Association (JNKA) 
 in Vietnam that dissolve blood clots and prevent cerebrovascular 
accidents or stroke. At DHG Pharma, deciding to import high-quality 
Nattokinase raw materials from JBSL and launching NattoEnzym 
- help prevent cerebrovascular accidents or stroke certified 
by Japanese standards are considered a “handshake” for the 
Vietnamese community. DHG Pharma has provided NattoEnzym 
- a product that surpasses the strict standards of JNKA. JNKA is 
a non-profit organization in Japan, whose mission is to provide 
scientifically validated and certified facilities as well as the safety 
of products containing nattokinase stroke prevention. NattoEnzym, 
which is highly rated by the scientific community and its safety 
and effectiveness are considered as a “natto” food, helping reduce 
the risk of stroke and become an effective treatment of diseases. 
NattoEnzym will be a priority choice to protect the health of the 
Vietnamese.

Strategic cooperation

With Taisho: DHG Pharma successfully cooperated with its 
strategic shareholder, Taisho, to upgrade the production lines 
of the effervescent tablets, effervescent powder to reach  
PIC/s - GMP standard and to upgrade the tablet production line of 
Non-Betalactam factory to meet Japan - GMP standard. This was 
the first step for the Company to continue taking further steps to 
upgrade the factory to reach high standards in compliance with the 
development trend of the world.

With Vinamilk: The cooperation between DHG Pharma and 
Vinamilk marked an important turning point in the development 
strategies of the two leading pharmaceutical and nutritional 
enterprises of Vietnam. This collaboration created new value 
chains and product lines suitable for health care needs, which, in 
turn, improves nutrition and physical health for everyone as well as 
increases the advantages of DHG Pharma’s competitive edge in 
the market. 

ADVANCED 
SCIENCE

LOVING AND 
SHARING

CONSIDERATE 
CARE 
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT  
INVESTMENT

CONSIDERATE CARE

LOVING AND SHARING

In order to provide good care to customers, 
DHG Pharma established a nationwide service 
system with warehouses reaching GDP standard 
to distribute goods to districts, communes, and 
hamlets. Nearly 1,500 employees in the sales sector 
have currently contacted and directly carried out 
transactions with more than 27,000 customers who 
are pharmacies, private enterprises, hospitals, and 
health centers.

At DHG Pharma, customer care is not merely after-
sales policies. Customers are also motivated to 
participate in all activities of the enterprise such as 

of Health whose leader is Dr. Le Thanh Lap,  
in collaboration with Provincial Committee of 
Can Tho. The journey lasted for 17 years, passing 
on to numerous generations and the youth with 
countless beautiful and proud memories! Until now,  
we - DHG Pharma who proposed the 
establishment, funded and organized, always 
consider these team members as ‘red bricks’,  
who made significant contribution to the building 
of a solid position of DHG Pharma in the hearts of 
consumers and society.

With the trust and support from customers; guidance 
and facilitation of the people’s Committee and 
Health Department of Can Tho City, the People’s 
Committee and Health Department of Hau Giang 
Province, relevant authorities and departments; 
along with the commitment of all employees,  
DHG Pharma is determined to carry out meaningful 
and humanistic activities for the community.

The story about Can Tho voluntary doctors started  
on 27 Feb 2002, under the direction of the Department 

joining hands to donate to the Poor Patients Fund 
every year, providing free medical examination 
and medicine, and donating blood to save lives.  
DHG Pharma helps customers understand that 
customers are not merely drug sellers but also 
companions in the journey to take care of human health.

Besides, the Company has also focused on 
improving the capacity of customers. Every year, 
DHG Pharma organizes a number of professional 
trainings with the participation of leading experts 
to update knowledge about new active ingredients 
and new products for pharmacies and doctors.

In 2018, DHG Pharma carried out 51 programs of 
free medical examination and treatment for over 
25,000 patients nationwide with a total expense 
of nearly VND 1.7 billion. In Hau Giang province,  
in particularly, the Company has sponsored  
4 medical examinations to support 1,100 people 
with a total amount of VND 56.6 million.

The Company’s Labor Union has promoted social 
and charity activities, during the year, DHG Pharma’s 
employees donated:

• VND 100,000,000 to the “Fund for the Poor” of 
Vietnam Fatherland Front Central Committee of 
Can Tho City.

• VND 180,720,000 to the “Golden hearts fund of 
Can Tho Union”.

Staff also participated in the act of raising money 
for the piggy bank to contribute to Poor Patients 
Fund of the Company.

• Made a VND 300 million contribution to the 
Association of Poor Patients of Can Tho City;

• Donated VND 300 million to the Association of 
Poor Patients of Hau Giang Province.

• The Company also paid for hospitalized cases 
including its staff, their relatives and locally 
disadvantaged people as well as those who are 
from other provinces. During the year, 84 cases 
were supported, totally valued VND 467,133,492.

The Company deducted half of a day salary to 
donate VND 100 million to “Fund for the Poor” of 
Vietnam Fatherland Front Central Committee of 
Can Tho City.

DHG Pharma also played a key role in building 
a beautiful image of the health sector: for 3 
consecutive years, DHG Pharma has coordinated 
to produce the program “Special White Blouse 
Mission”, this game show has built a beautiful 
image of health workers in white blouses; depicted 
these health workers’ daily-life activities, which 
promoted the public’s understanding of doctors 
and improved the image of doctors and the health 
sectors’ in people’s hearts.

Walking and donating Piggy bank for the Poor were organized annually Free medical examinations and medicine for poor patients Offered gifts to the elderly and orphans
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
INVESTMENT

Propagating health-care knowledge for people 
through:

• Propagating dengue fever, Zika Virus for 100 
Primary schools in Can Tho.

• 36 stroke prevention workshops organized 
for more than 6,000 consumers. Through 
these workshops, fund was also raised among 
customers in Ho Chi Minh City to support medical 
examination and treatment for 5 stroke patients 
at 115 Hospital.

• Health counseling programs through channels: 
online, health and wellness newspaper, alobacsi, 
webtretho, Can Tho television, VOV traffic, etc.

In addition to healthcare programs, direct counseling, 
skills training for customers and their employees, 
DHG Pharma also organized special programs for 
these customers’ family members as follows:

• 1,170 students who are customers’ children 
participated in a summer program named  
“Steel warriors - I am brave” organized by  
DHG Pharma aiming to help them grow maturely 
and confidently;

• A Customer conference Series named  
“Cheerful Party” was organized in 21 provinces 
and cities with more than 13,058 customers 
participating;

• A program called meeting for discussing strategies 
that was highly appreciated by customers was 
conducted with a participation of 388 customers 
in Thailand where 16 customers were honored 
with the VIP Award;

• 26 health-care workshops were organized for 
more than 5,500 customers’ parents;

• DHG Pharma also planned to build a program 
“Raising Dreams” for elementary school 
children in Ninh Kieu district, sponsor topics 
in the broadcasting contest, develop ideas to 
enhance the image of the health and education 
sectors of Can Tho City, and implement medical 
sponsorships in cultural programs, etc.

With the desire to help children in remote areas, on 
4 Aug 2018, the Executive Board of the Company’s 
Youth Union collaborated with voluntary doctors 
and the Executive Board of the Company’s Trade 

Union donated 200 gifts worth VND 24 million 
offered to disadvantaged students in Truong Xuan 
A Commune, Chau Thanh District, Hau Giang 
Province. Simultaneously, free medical examinations 
and medicine were also provided to 300 turns of the 
poor and families of fallen combatants, with a total 
value of nearly VND 25 million.

With the purpose of taking great care of 
Vietnamese Heroic Mothers, and helping victims of 
agent orange in Can Tho City, the Executive Board 
of the Company’s Youth Union, in collaboration 
with Veterans Association and Executive Board of 
departments’ Youth Union, visited and presented 
gifts to 6 Vietnamese Heroic Mothers and 9 victims 
of agent orange on a regular quarterly basis and on 
Lunar New Year 2018. DHG Pharma supported VND 
85 million in 2018. On 21 July 2018, the Executive 
Board of the Company’s Youth Union visited and 
organized the groundbreaking ceremony for the 
construction of house of affection for Vietnamese 
Heroic Mother Nguyen Thi Tam, Truong Xuan 
Commune, Thoi Lai District, Can Tho City. The 
house has been completed and handed over to 
Vietnamese Heroic Mother Nguyen Thi Tam on 
the occasion of Mid-Autumn Festival in 2018, DHG 
Pharma contributed VND 54 million to this house 
construction.

The Company also established Club of Blood 
Donation with over 500 members willing to 
donate blood to save lives and store at Can Tho 
City Hematology Center. In 2018, 3 times of blood 
donations were organized with 322 blood donors 
and a total of 421 blood units stored at Can Tho 
City Hematology Center.

The Company’s Labor Union also organized 
monthly visits and cared to the elderly at Binh Thuy 
Nursing Home and provided each with a nutritious 
portion. Weekly, the Company prepared nutritious 
porridge for children at Can Tho City Homeless 
Children Center and the homeless, psychotic 
patients at Social Protection Center in Can Tho City. 
Furthermore, the Union visited and donated gifts for 
these three centers on the occasion of the Lunar 
New Year with the total value of VND 123,812,000.

Aiming to build up the image of a sustainable 
development brand with great responsibility to the 
community, DHG Pharma will never cease to make 
efforts in its journey to improve the public’s health 
“For a more beautiful and healthier life”. 
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RAW MATERIALS MANAGEMENT

Product quality is a crucial component in DHG Pharma’s strategy in building 
customers’ trust. The Company always proactively seeks best quality sources of raw 
material with the most competitive prices from reputable suppliers in the world and in 
Vietnam in order to produce finished products with guaranteed quality and reasonable 
price for Vietnamese consumers.

1,598 tons of aluminum, aluminum blister foil, PVC; 
11 million boxes & tubes; 5,674 kg of shrink film, other 
packaging and 191 million paper of all kinds.

In 2018, the number of materials used 
by DHG Pharma was as follows: 3,660 
tons of raw materials and adjuvant; 876 
million empty capsules of various kinds;  

ENVIRONMENTAL  
PROTECTION

ENERGY
Energy consumption for production and daily living

ENERGY CONSUMPTION FIGURES IN 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Productivity Millions of units/year         4,813   4,156   4,414   3,948   4,548   

Electricity consumption Kwh/year 21,970,000    19,746,658   23,147,168   25,156,034   26,275,665   

Intensity Kwh/Millions of units         4,565   4,751   5,244   6,372   5,777   

Total electricity bills VND Billion/year 32.37 32.02 36.80 40.66 41.67

Gas consumption Kg        41,470   27,265   22,960   19,556   18,398   

Total gas bills VND million/year 916 387 296 314 330

(The electricity and gas consumption are measured in accordance with total monthly electricity and gas bills).

“Energy efficiency is the key to sustainable 
development” has always been considered 
the Company’s top prioritized objective 
during the production and operation process. 
The Company always balances its energy 
usage in an economical and reasonable 
way to reduce the intensity in electricity 
consumption, yet still meet the Company’s 
production and business demands.

Guided by this objective, the intensity 
in electricity consumption in 2018 of  
DHG Pharma reached 5,777 Kwh/millions of 
units, decreasing by 9.34% compared to 2017, 
while productivity in 2018 grew by 15.21% 
compared to 2017. This was accomplished 
since DHG Pharma continued to perform 
electricity saving solutions in conjunction 
with improving energy efficiency through 
investment in modern production machinery 
and equipment.

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION & INTENSITY
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ENVIRONMENTAL  
PROTECTION

WATER RESOURCES

RECYCLED AND REUSED WATER

Water is an indispensable element of human life, an essential component in the 
production process and daily operation of the Company. Meeting water demands in both 
quality and quantity is a prerequisite in DHG Pharma’s sustainable development strategy.

Preserving water resources has always been a major concern in all areas of 
production and social life. Along with the growth of urbanization, climate change has 
become more complicated, causing great impacts on water resources, depleting clean 
water resources.

Currently, DHG Pharma still uses the clean water 
source of Water Supply and Sewerage Company 
in Cantho City and Hau Giang Water Supply and 
Sewerage Projects Urban Joint Stock Company. This 

CONTENTS FIGURES IN 2016 2017 2018

Productivity Millions of units/year 4,414 3,948 4,548

Water usage m3/year 211,046 240,568 215,746

Intensity m3/Millions of units 48 61 47

Total water bills VND billion/year 1.7 2.1 1.8

% water recycle/total waste water % 5.98 6.15 6.72

Assessment method: the water consumption is measured in accordance with monthly water bills  
and monthly detailed productivities.

water source is used for the purpose of production 
(RO water use, distilled water for eye drops, cleaning 
machines and factories) and daily living (cooking, 
cleaning, watering plants, etc).

In such a context, measures to 
save water resources, to reuse/
recycle water are extremely 
necessary. In recognition of 
challenges for water resources, 
DHG Pharma has been oriented 

In 2018, although DHG Pharma’s 
productivity increased, water 
consumption and the rate of 
water consumption per product 
unit declined compared to 2017. 
In particular, the amount of 
water used fell by 10.3% and 
the rate of water consumption 
per unit of product witnessed 
a decrease of 22.2% over the 
same period. This reduction 

was achieved thanks to the fact 
that DHG Pharma has actively 
acknowledged and implemented 
water-saving solutions to save 
water in production activities 
from employees. These initiatives 
are all recognized and rewarded 
by the Science and Technology 
Committee to commend 
employees’ capabilities, 
encourage creativity and spirit 

of contribution and improvement 
for the Company’s activities. 
Especially, M&E Department at 
DHG Pharmaceutical Plant Branch 
in Hau Giang has adjusted chiller 
operations such as changing the 
pump and fan frequencies over 
time in order to reduce water 
consumption at factories.

to save water resources through 
the recovery and reuse of 
wastewater after treatment to 
meet the prescribed standards. 
Wastewater after treatment for 
reuse is stored in the reservoir 

of the wastewater treatment 
system. Furthermore, the 
Company also reserves more 
rainwater to irrigate green trees 
and landscapes instead of tap 
water.

WATER-SAVING SOLUTION IN 2018

In order to use and save water efficiently, DHG Pharma standardized its water pipes, installed 
new water meters certified by the City Water Suppliers at all units using water. Monthly statistics 
are supervised, switching on/off in using water for the right purpose is reminded and water 
conservation awareness is educated.

The Company is on track to set norms for water uses on each production line and factory.

In the coming years, the Company shall continue to arrange a production plan in a logical manner, 
a batch size expansion and a continuous production plan. It is projected to reduce cleaning 
time, water consumption and sanitary waste-water as well as to increase labor productivity, 
which shall result in a reduction in water consumption/units of product. Simultaneously,  
DHG Pharma uses water efficiently by designing a complete water supply system and ensuring 
no leakage, easy control and easy repair in case of incidents.

1

2

3
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ENVIRONMENTAL  
PROTECTION

COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL  
PROTECTION LAWS
Economic growth and environmental protection 
and improvement are always the two dovetailed 
objectives of DHG Pharma throughout its operation 
and development process. Right from the first 
days of business, building a strong connection 
between these two objectives to serve the goal of 
sustainable development and the construction of 
a leading and environmentally friendly enterprise 
has been closely directed by DHG Pharma.

The Environment and Labor Safety Department 
of DHG Pharma is assigned with the task of 
inspecting and supervising the implementation 
of environmental protection activities within the 
Company and its subordinate units. All employees 
of DHG Pharma are regularly trained and 
propagated on how to protect the environment 
from such simple daily tasks as sorting waste for 
recycling, saving energy, electricity, water, turning 
off power and water when not in use, limiting the 
use of plastic bags, planting and caring of trees, etc.  

The actions and tasks, though appearing to be 
simple, make important contributions to creating 
a positive lifestyle and help spread out the 
message “For a more beautiful and healthier life”  
of DHG Pharma.

All factories at DHG Pharma conduct 
environmental impact assessments and 
commitments to protect the environment before 
going into operation. In the process of operation, 
the factories strictly comply with environmental 
laws, conduct environmental measurements 
and monitoring as well as report to relevant 
competent authorities every quarter.

In 2018, the Company did not record any violations 
on environmental laws:

• Number of fines: 0 time.
• Amount of fines: VND 0.

IMPROVEMENTS TO MINIMIZE  
THE IMPACT ON THE ENVIRONMENT

Operation and regular inspection of wastewater treatment 
systems to ensure that wastewater meets QCVN 40:2011/BTNMT  
standard.

Enhancing the implementation of industrial sanitation in the 
manufacturing sector and means of transport. Sanitary areas 
of finished products, internal roads and regular sprinkling of 
water in dusty areas.

Providing labor protection equipment and supervising the 
environmental protection of employees.

Good handling of solid waste by proper collection and treatment.

Regular implementation of environmental monitoring programs 
periodically.

Planting trees around the premise for landscape and fresh air.

Using environmentally friendly paper bags instead of plastic bags.7

6
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EMISSIONS, EFFLUENTS AND WASTE

During the operation and production process, 
DHG Pharma complies with regulations on anti-
pollution in accordance with ISO 9001:2008 
and GMP, GLP, GSP-WHO standards. Measures 
to prevent environmental pollution have been 
actively implemented by DHG Pharma through 
the guidance of local environmental agencies 

such as: Environmental impact assessments 
and commitments to comply with regulations. 
Annually, the Company conducts environmental 
monitoring 4 times. Environmental monitoring 
results are evaluated in accordance with current 
Vietnamese standards (QCVN).
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FROM A SOLID FOUNDATION

With the desire to reach far, DHG Pharma is constantly striving for 
sustainable growth. The journey to conquer its set objectives and 
target numbers will be a great challenge; yet with the unanimous 
determination of all employees, DHG Pharma firmly believes to 
create outstanding values and strong breakthroughs in the future 

that, in turn, bring added values to all of its relevant parties. 



The Board of General Directors is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept, which disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy at any time, the consolidated financial position of the Group and that the consolidated financial 
statements comply with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, accounting regime for enterprises and legal regulations 
relating to financial reporting. The Board of General Directors is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of frauds and other irregularities.

The Board of General Directors confirms that the Group has complied with the above requirements in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of General Directors, 

The Board of General Directors of DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as the “Group”) presents this report together with the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, BOARD OF GENERAL DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORY BOARD

The members of the Board of Management, Supervisory Board and Board of General Directors of the Company who 
held office during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Board of Management  
Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh Chairman
Ms. Pham Thi Viet Nga Member
Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong Member
Mr. Tran Chi Liem Member
Mr. Jun Kuroda Member
Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha Member 
Mr. Phan Minh Tien Member (appointed on 28 March 2018)
 
Supervisory Board 
Mr. Tran Quoc Hung Head of the Board
Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao Member
Mr. Dinh Duc Minh Member (resigned on 28 March 2018)
Mr. Tran Trung Kien Member (appointed on 28 March 2018)
 
Board of General Directors 
Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong  Interim General Director
Mr. Le Chanh Dao Deputy General Director
Ms. Nguyen Ngoc Diep Deputy General Director 
Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata Deputy General Director 

BOARD OF GENERAL DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of General Directors is responsible for preparing the consolidated financial statements which give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, 
accounting regime for enterprises and legal regulations relating to financial reporting. In preparing these consolidated 
financial statements, the Board of General Directors is required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• State whether applicable accounting principles have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the consolidated financial statements; 

• Prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Group will continue in business; and

• Design and implement an effective internal control system for the purpose of properly preparing and presenting the 

consolidated financial statements so as to minimize errors and frauds.

_________________________     
Le Chanh Dao
Deputy General Director
18 March 2019

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF GENERAL DIRECTORS
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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No.: 414/VN1A-HC-BC

To:  The shareholders 

 The Board of Management, Supervisory Board and Board of General Directors of

 DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as the “Group”), prepared on 

18 March 2019 as set out from page 186 to page 221, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 

2018, the consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Board of General Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of General Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, accounting regime for enterprises and legal 

regulations relating to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of General Directors determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

the Board of General Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

_________________________________________   _________________________________________
Vo Thai Hoa       Nguyen Thi Thu Sang
Audit Partner       Auditor 
Audit Practising Registration Certificate     Audit Practising Registration Certificate 
No. 0138-2018-001-1      No. 1144-2018-001-1
BRANCH OF DELOITTE VIETNAM  
COMPANY LIMITED
18 March 2019
Ho Chi Minh City, S.R. Vietnam

Auditors’ opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, accounting regime for enterprises 

and legal regulations relating to financial reporting.

Other matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 were audited by another 

audit firm whose independent auditors’ report issued on 12 March 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Deloitte Vietnam Company Limited
18th Floor, Times Square Building, 
57-69F Dong Khoi Street, Ben Nghe Ward,

District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Tel : +84 28 3910 0751

Fax : +84 28 3910 0750

www.deloitte.com/vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee 

(“DTTL”), its network of member firms, and their related etities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate 

and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see 

www.deloitte.com/about for a more detailed description of DTTL and  its member firms.
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Unit: VND

ASSETS Codes Notes Closing balance Opening balance

A. CURRENT ASSETS 100 3,147,636,450,849 2,939,184,938,924
I. Cash and cash equivalents 110 4 75,835,597,431 549,777,216,585
1. Cash 111  75,330,296,062  88,442,815,647 

2. Cash equivalents 112  505,301,369  461,334,400,938 

II. Short-term financial investments 120 5 1,459,722,000,000 930,615,143,091
1. Held-to-maturity investments 123  1,459,722,000,000  930,615,143,091 

III. Short-term receivables 130 669,787,225,237 799,556,214,859
1. Short-term trade receivables 131 6  618,503,855,955  739,281,053,856 

2. Short-term advances to suppliers 132  26,841,394,656  21,016,649,661 

3. Short-term loan receivables 135 12  3,395,400,976  16,239,970,057 

4. Other short-term receivables 136 7  55,618,287,897  44,731,373,224 

5. Provision for short-term doubtful debts 137 8  (34,571,714,247)  (21,712,831,939)

IV. Inventories 140 9 891,486,976,436 633,807,876,593
1. Inventories 141  892,301,302,668  636,264,032,772 

2. Provision for devaluation of inventories 149  (814,326,232)  (2,456,156,179)

V. Other short-term assets 150 50,804,651,745 25,428,487,796
1. Short-term prepayments 151 10  3,452,228,975  9,715,813,993 

2. Value added tax deductibles 152  32,191,908,956  7,972,889,195 

3. Taxes and other receivables from the State 
budget 153 11  15,160,513,814  7,739,784,608

B. NON-CURRENT ASSETS 200 1,058,328,035,945 1,148,295,051,933
I. Long-term receivables 210 1,560,000,000 3,509,997,935
1. Long-term loans receivable 215 12  1,330,000,000  3,449,997,935 

2. Other long-term receivables 216  230,000,000  60,000,000 

II. Fixed assets 220 976,618,370,054 1,026,999,503,625
1. Tangible fixed assets 221 13  741,098,658,417  785,209,377,724 

- Cost 222  1,347,704,245,077  1,377,975,628,774 
- Accumulated depreciation 223  (606,605,586,660)  (592,766,251,050)

2. Intangible assets 227 14  235,519,711,637  241,790,125,901 

- Cost 228  269,077,826,514  269,846,865,042 
- Accumulated amortisation 229  (33,558,114,877)  (28,056,739,141)

III. Investment property 230 15 247,880,293
- Cost 231  1,249,521,792  - 
- Accumulated depreciation 232  (1,001,641,499)  - 

IV. Long-term assets in progress 240 14,087,991,804 36,307,709,778
1. Long-term construction in progress 242 16  14,087,991,804  36,307,709,778 

V. Long-term financial investments 250 25,219,928,995 14,537,718,549
1. Investments in joint-ventures, associates 252 5  3,042,620,558  3,129,548,349 

2. Equity investments in other entities 253 5  27,908,170,200  27,908,170,200 

3.
Provision for impairment of long-term  
financial investments

254 5  (5,730,861,763)  (16,500,000,000)

VI. Other long-term assets 260 40,593,864,799 66,940,122,046
1. Long-term prepayments 261 10  30,170,914,891  31,156,425,691

2. Deferred tax assets 262 17  10,422,949,908  35,783,696,355

TOTAL ASSETS (270=100+200) 270 4,205,964,486,794 4,087,479,990,857

Unit: VND

RESOURCES Codes Notes Closing balance Opening balance

C. LIABILITIES 300 1,061,702,377,563 1,328,385,577,037

I. Current liabilities 310 1,001,487,737,988 1,264,936,829,442

1. Short-term trade payables 311 18  145,750,476,107  262,986,735,355 

2. Short-term advances from customers 312  9,728,206,186  10,627,043,023 

3.
Taxes and amounts payable to the State 
budget

313 11  13,641,750,175  23,613,683,701 

4. Payables to employees 314  180,019,655,715  170,969,066,081 

5. Short-term accrued expenses 315 19  40,052,115,726  50,418,119,261 

6. Short-term unearned revenue 318 20  9,030,131,533  9,479,895,138 

7. Other current payables 319 21  2,004,193,753  204,083,490,483 

8.
Short-term loans and obligations under 
finance leases

320 22  557,901,327,419  469,800,000,000 

9. Bonus and welfare funds 322 23  43,359,881,374  62,958,796,400 

II. Long-term liabilities 330 60,214,639,575 63,448,747,595

1. Long-term provisions 342 24  39,753,692,402  38,386,466,419 

2. Scientific and technological development fund 343 25  20,460,947,173  25,062,281,176 

D. EQUITY 400 3,144,262,109,231 2,759,094,413,820

I. Owner’s equity 410 3,144,262,109,231 2,759,094,413,820

1. Owner’s contributed capital 411 26  1,307,460,710,000  1,307,460,710,000 

- Ordinary shares carrying voting rights 411a   1,307,460,710,000  1,307,460,710,000

2. Share premium 412 26  6,778,948,000  6,778,948,000 

3. Investment and development fund 418 26  1,270,235,596,228  1,112,177,317,110 

4. Retained earnings 421 26  550,252,659,422  321,006,296,742 

- Retained earnings accumulated to the prior 
year end

421a  28,072,641,016  21,204,089,359 

- Retained earnings of the current year 421b  522,180,018,406  299,802,207,383 

5. Non-controlling interests 429 27  9,534,195,581  11,671,141,968 

TOTAL RESOURCES (440=300+400) 440 4,205,964,486,794 4,087,479,990,857

_______________________  _____________________  ________________________
Tran Ngoc Hien    Ho Buu Huan   Le Chanh Dao
Preparer    Chief Accountant  Deputy General Director
         18 March 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
As at 31 December 2018
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 Unit: VND

ITEMS Codes Notes Current year Prior year

1.
Gross revenue from goods sold and services ren-
dered

01 30 4,421,559,894,432 4,569,014,010,206

2. Deductions 02 30  539,431,684,721  506,260,545,711

3.
Net revenue from goods sold and  services ren-
dered (10=01-02)

10 3,882,128,209,711 4,062,753,464,495

4. Cost of sales and services rendered 11 31  2,165,405,025,080  2,279,637,916,449

5.
Gross profit from goods sold and services ren-
dered (20=10-11)

20 1,716,723,184,631 1,783,115,548,046

6. Financial income 21 33  107,785,026,956  88,779,692,278

7. Financial expenses 22 34  96,053,992,493  97,684,683,909

- In which: Interest expense 23  28,523,706,808  24,541,141,037

8. Share of net losses from joint-ventures, associates 24  (86,927,791)  (1,206,432,702)

9. Selling expenses 25 35  724,884,959,648  732,085,284,498

10. General and administration expenses 26 35  285,637,232,611  318,385,523,755

11. Operating profit (30=20+(21-22)+24-(25+26)) 30 717,845,099,044 722,533,315,460

12. Other income 31 36  18,209,846,265  6,756,814,138

13. Other expenses 32 37  4,272,517,757  10,041,010,203

14. Profit/(loss) from other activities (40=31-32) 40 13,937,328,508  (3,284,196,065)

15. Accounting profit before tax (50=30+40) 50 731,782,427,552 719,249,119,395

16. Current corporate income tax expense 51 38  55,332,650,287  77,572,213,560

17. Deferred corporate tax expense/(income) 52 17  25,360,746,447  (712,405,929)

18.
Net profit after corporate income tax  
(60=50-51-52)

60 651,089,030,818 642,389,311,764

In which:

Profit after tax attributable to Parent Company 61  653,029,446,317  642,407,977,142

Losses after tax attributable to non-controlling 
shareholders

62  (1,940,415,499)  (18,665,378)

19. Basic earnings per share (VND/share) 70 39  4,445 4,378

_______________________  _____________________  ________________________
Tran Ngoc Hien    Ho Buu Huan   Le Chanh Dao
Preparer     Chief Accountant  Deputy General Director
         18 March 2019

 Unit: VND

ITEMS Codes Current year Prior year

I. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Profit before tax 01 731,782,427,552  719,249,119,395 
2. Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets and 
investment properties

02  88,607,459,577  92,010,389,406 

Provisions 03 3,326,854,111  16,053,758,031 
Foreign exchange gain arising from translating foreign 
currency items

04 (256,709,543) (464,083,555)

Gain from investing activities 05 (111,551,817,456)  (86,457,407,316)
Interest expense 06  28,523,706,808  24,541,141,037 
Other adjustments 07  -  8,705,231,445 

3. Operating profit before movements in working capital 08 740,431,921,049  773,638,148,443
Changes in receivables 09  102,583,668,709  (126,642,627,881)
Changes in inventories 10 (256,037,269,896)  98,293,050,507 
Changes in payables 11 (114,239,302,717)  (46,446,885,927)
Changes in prepaid expenses 12 9,533,005,655  (11,597,356,933)
Interest paid 14  (28,505,436,659)  (24,677,425,925)
Corporate income tax paid 15  (76,742,927,770)  (95,788,362,968)
Other cash outflows 17  (86,232,427,352)  (106,470,431,383)
Net cash generated by operating activities 20 290,791,231,019  460,308,107,933 

II. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Acquisition and construction of fixed assets 21  (40,845,253,595)  (63,484,311,476)
2. Proceeds from sale, disposal of fixed assets 22 9,906,521,326  20,184,454,559 
3. Cash outflow for lending and term deposit from bank 23  (2,795,800,810,202)  (1,523,238,571,667)
4. Cash recovered from lending and term deposit from bank 24 2,280,521,910,076 1,315,098,077,111 
5. Equity investments in other entities 25 (160,000,000)  (19,440,000,000)
6. Cash recovered from investments in other entities 26  -  9,000,000,000 
7. Interest earned, dividends and profits received 27  85,825,118,708  69,676,354,237 

Net cash used in investing activities 30  (460,552,513,687)  (192,203,997,236)
III. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
1. Proceeds from borrowings 33 2,851,557,133,423 2,516,213,007,337 
2. Repayment of borrowings 34 (2,763,455,806,004)  (2,401,178,435,800)
3. Dividends and profits paid 36 (392,238,213,000)  (436,556,226,000)

Net cash used in financing activities 40  (304,136,885,581)  (321,521,654,463)
Net decreases in cash (50=20+30+40) 50 (473,898,168,249)  (53,417,543,766)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 60 549,777,216,585  603,188,961,343 
Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 61  (43,450,905)  5,799,008 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
(70=50+60+61)

70  75,835,597,431  549,777,216,585 

_______________________  _____________________  ________________________
Tran Ngoc Hien    Ho Buu Huan   Le Chanh Dao
Preparer    Chief Accountant  Deputy General Director
         18 March 2019

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended 31 December 2018 are presented in Note 42.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Structure of ownership

On 2 September 2004, DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company (the “Company”) was equitized from Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical United Factory in accordance with Decision No.2405/QD-CT.UB dated 5 August 2004 issued by 
the People’s Committee of Can Tho City. The Company was officially incorporated as a joint stock company 
under the Business Registration Certificate No.5703000111 dated 15 September 2014 issued by the Department of 
Planning and Investment of Can Tho City with the initial charter capital of VND 80,000,000,000. 

In 2017, the Company increased its share capital to VND 1,307,460,710,000. The Company was granted the 23rd 

amended Business Registration Certificate dated 28 July 2017 for the increase in share capital.

The Company’s shares were listed on Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange with DHG code in accordance with Decision 
No. 93/UBCK-GPNY dated 1 December 2006 issued by the State Securities Commission of Vietnam.

The largest shareholder of the Company is the State Capital Investment Corporation (“SCIC”) which owned 
43.31% of share capital of the Company. SCIC is controlled by Commission for the Management of State Capital 
at Enterprises.

The Company’s head office is located at 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu Street, An Hoa Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Can Tho 
City, S.R. Vietnam.

The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December 2018 was 3,054 (as at 31 December 2018: 3,205).

Operating industry and principal activities

The operating industry of the Company and its subsidiaries are to manufacture and sell pharmaceutical products, 
provide travelling services and dental clinics services. 

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are to manufacture and trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical tools and supplies, medical equipment, dietary supplements and pharmaceutical cosmetics; provide 
travelling services and dental clinics services.

The Group’s structure

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s subsidiaries and associate were as follows: 

Name Principal activities
Business Registration 
Certificate

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting

power held

Closing 
balance

Opening 
balance

Subsidiaries

B&T Pharmaceutical 
One Member 
Limited Company (*)

Trading pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment, 
dietary supplements and 
pharmaceutical cosmetics

No.1300917335 issued by the 
Planning and Investment 
Department of Ben Tre 
Province on 05 October 2012

- 100%

DHG Travel One 
Member Limited 
Company (**)

Domestic travel services

No. 5704000134 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Can Tho City 
on 26 December 2007

- 100%

Song Hau 
Pharmaceutical One 
Member Limited 
Company (formerly 
known as Song Hau 
Pharmaceutical Joint 
Stock Company) (***)

Trading pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment, 
dietary supplements and 
pharmaceutical cosmetics

No. 6403000044 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang 
province on 20 July 2007

- 99.6%

Name Principal activities Business Registration 
Certificate

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power held

Closing 
balance

Opening 
balance

Subsidiaries

DHG 
Pharmaceutical 
One Member 
Limited 
Company (****)

Manufacturing and 
trading pharmaceuticals, 
medical tools and 
supplies, medical 
equipment, dietary 
supplements and 
pharmaceutical cosmetics

No. 6300124430 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang 
Province on 16 August 2010

- 100%

DHG Packaging 
and Printing 1 
One Member 
Limited 
Company (****)

Manufacturing and 
trading packaging, 
plastic, aluminum, paper 
for pharmaceutical 
industry; provide printing 
services

No. 6300215818 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang 
Province on 28 September 
2012

- 100%

Fuji Medic 
Limited Liability 
Company

Health care services

No. 1801472944 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Can Tho City 
on 27 July 2016

51% 51%

Associate

Vinh Hao Algae 
Processing Joint 
Stock Company

Manufacturing and 
trading spirulina algae

No. 4803000150 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Binh Thuan 
Province on 4 February 2008

31.36% 31.36%

On 3 October 2016, the Board of Management of the Company approved the change of subsidiaries’ operation 
form into branches under the parent company including:

• Approval of dissolution of subsidiaries.

• Approval of the establishment of branches under the parent company to receive the transfer of all activities of 
the subsidiaries after the dissolution.

• The converting date is 31 December 2016. From 1 January 2017, the subsidiaries will operate as branches under 
the parent company.

(*) The procedures for dissolution of B&T Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company have been completed 
on 28 June 2018.

(**) On 14 July 2017, the Board of Management approved the dissolution of DHG Travel One Member Limited 
Company. The procedures for dissolution of DHG Travel One Member Limited Company have been completed 
on 20 December 2018.

(***) On 10 May 2018, the Board of Management approved the dissolution of Song Hau Pharmaceutical Joint 
Stock Company into Song Hau Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company, and at the same time approved 
the dissolution of Song Hau Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company. The procedures for dissolution of 
Song Hau Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company have been completed on 27 December 2018.

(****) On 28 March 2018, the resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the merger of DHG 
Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company and DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited 
Company into the Company. According to the 25th amended Business Registration Certificate dated 12 June 
2018, the merger of DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company and DHG Pharmaceutical One 
Member Limited Company into the Company were completed. Liquidation procedures of DHG Packaging and 
Printing 1 One Member Limited Company and DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company have been 
completed on 2 August 2018 and 25 July 2018, respectively.

Normal production and business cycle

The Group’s normal production and business cycle is carried out for a time period of 12 months or less.

Disclosure of information comparability in the consolidated financial statements 

Comparative figures are the figures of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2017.

These notes are an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. ACCOUNTING CONVENTION AND FINANCIAL YEAR

Accounting convention

The consolidated financial statements, expressed in Vietnam Dong (VND), are prepared under the historical cost 
convention and in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, accounting regime for enterprises and 
legal regulations relating to financial reporting.

The consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries and 
jurisdictions other than Vietnam.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and enterprises 
controlled by the Group (its subsidiaries) up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income 
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used in line with those used by the Company.

Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those non-controlling interests at the date of the original 
business combination (see below) and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since the date 
of the combination. Losses in subsidiaries are respectively attributed to the non-controlling interests even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Financial year

The Company’s financial year begins on 1 January and ends on 31 December. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies, which have been adopted by the Group in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements, are as follows:

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, 
accounting regime for enterprises and legal regulations relating to financial reporting requires the Board of General 
Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the financial year. Although these accounting estimates are based on the Board of General Directors’ best 
knowledge, actual results may differ from those estimates.

Business combinations

Assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is credited to profit and loss in the year of acquisition.

The non-controlling interests are initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportion of the net fair 
value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized.

Investments in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 
in joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but not control or joint control over those policies. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting. Interests in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate. Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that 
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the 
associate) are not recognized. 

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Company, unrealized profits and losses are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in transit, demand deposits and short-term investments 
with maturity term not exceeding 3 months from the date of investment, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial investments 

Held-to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments comprise investments that the Board of General Directors has the positive intent 
or ability to hold to maturity.

Held-to-maturity investments include term deposits to earn periodic interest (except for term deposits presented 
in ”cash and cash equivalents” item). These investments are measured at cost less provision for impairment of 
financial investments. Interest income from term deposits is recognized in the income statement on accrual basis. 

Loan receivables

Loan receivables are measured at cost less provision for doubtful debts. Provision for doubtful debts relating to 
loan receivables is made in accordance with prevailing accounting regulations. 

Equity investments in other entities

Equity investments in other entities represent the Group’s investments in ordinary shares of the entities over which 
the Group has no control, joint control, or significant influence. 

Equity investments in other entities are carried at cost less provision for impairment. The provision for impairment 
of these investments is made when the entities made losses, except for loss that was anticipated in their business 
plan before the date of investment.

Receivables

Receivables represent the amounts recoverable from customers or other debtors and are stated at book value 
less provision for doubtful debts.

Provision for doubtful debts is made for receivables that are overdue for six months or more, or when the debtor 
is in dissolution, in bankruptcy, or is experiencing similar difficulties and so may be unable to repay the debt.

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises cost of purchases 
and other directly attributable expenses. In the case of manufactured products, cost comprises direct materials 
and where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realizable 
value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in 
marketing, selling and distribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

The evaluation of necessary provision for inventory obsolescence follows current prevailing accounting regulations 
which allow provisions to be made for obsolete, damaged, or sub-standard inventories and for those which have 
costs higher than net realizable values as at the balance sheet date.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

The costs of purchased tangible fixed assets comprise their purchase prices and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the assets to their working condition and location for their intended use. 

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years

Buildings and structures 3 - 50

Machinery and equipment 3 - 20

Motor vehicles 3 - 20

Office equipment 3 - 10

Gain or loss resulting from sales and disposals of tangible fixed assets is the difference between proceeds from 
sales or disposals of assets and their residual values and is recognized in the income statement.

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted 
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Intangible assets and amortization

Intangible assets represent the value of land use rights and computer software that are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortization. 

Definite land use rights are amortised using the straight-line method over the terms indicated in the land use right 
certificate. Indefinite land use rights are carried at cost and not amortized under prevailing regulations.

Computer software is amortized using the straight-line method over its useful life from 3 to 8 years.

Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings, or part of buildings or infrastructure or buildings and land held by the Company to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation. Investment properties held to earn rentals are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation while investment properties held for capital appreciation are stated at cost less impairment loss. The 
costs of purchased investment properties comprise their purchase prices and any directly attributable expenditures, 
such as professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes and other related transaction costs. The costs 
of self-constructed investment properties are the finally accounted construction or directly attributable costs of the 
properties. 

Investment properties held to earn rentals are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives from 10 to 16 years.

Construction in progress 

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for other purposes, 
are carried at cost. Cost includes costs that are necessary to form the assets in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets 
are ready for their intended use.

Prepayments

Prepayments are expenses which have already been paid but relate to results of operations of multiple accounting 
periods. Prepayments comprise leasehold improvement expenses, land rentals, costs of small tools, supplies and 
spare parts issued for consumption and other prepayment expenses.

Land rentals represent the prepaid land rentals. The prepaid land rentals are allocated to the consolidated income 
statement using the straight-line method over the lease term.

Others have been capitalized as prepayments, and are allocated to the consolidated income statement using the 
straight-line method in accordance with the current prevailing accounting regulations.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Board of General Directors’ 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation as at the consolidated balance sheet date.

Severance allowance payable

The severance allowance for employees is accrued at the end of each reporting year for all employees having 
worked at the Group for full 12 months and above. Working time serving as the basis for calculating severance 
allowance shall be the total actual working time subtracting the time when the employees have made 
unemployment insurance contributions as prescribed by law, and the working time when severance allowance 
has been paid to the employees. The allowance made for each year of service equals to a half of an average 
monthly salary under the Vietnamese Labour Code, Social Insurance Code and relevant guiding documents. The 
average monthly salary used for calculation of severance allowance shall be adjusted to be the average of the 
6 consecutive months nearest to the date of the financial statements. The increase or decrease in the accrued 
amount shall be recorded in the consolidated income statement.

Provision for dismantling and restoration costs

In accordance with Circular No.200/2014/TT-BTC issued by the Ministry of Finance, since 1 January 2015, the 
Group is required to provide for dismantling and restoration costs of the Group’s leased premises or land. The 
provision for dismantling and restoration costs is determined based on the estimated dismantling and restoration 
costs to be incurred at the time of returning the premises or land at the end of the lease term and recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the period from 1 January 2015 to the time of returning the premises or land.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue represents the fair value of goods and services provided to customers for free or at discount in 
the customer loyalty programs. Unearned revenue is recognized for the portion of obligation that the Group has 
not yet fulfilled to customers.

Revenue recognition 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all five (5) following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

(b) The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 
nor effective control over the goods sold;

(c) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e) The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue of a transaction involving the rendering of services is recognized when the outcome of such transactions 
can be measured reliably. Where a transaction involving the rendering of services is attributable to several 
periods, revenue is recognised in each period by reference to the percentage of completion of the transaction at 
the consolidated balance sheet date. The outcome of a transaction can be measured reliably when all four (4) 
following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;

(c) The percentage of completion of the transaction at the consolidated balance sheet date can be measured 
reliably; and

(d) The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the applicable interest rate.

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Sales deductions

Sales deductions include trade discounts, sales returns and allowances. Sales deductions incurred in the same 
year of sales of products, goods and services are recorded as deduction of revenue of that year.

Sales deductions for the products, goods or services which are sold in the previous years, incurred after the 
balance sheet date but before the issuance of the consolidated financial statements are recorded as deduction 
of revenue of the current reporting year.

Customer loyalty programs

Revenue is recognized at total consideration received less fair value of goods and services which are provided to 
customers for free or at discount. Fair value amounts of goods and services provided for free or at discount are 
recognized as unearned revenue. If customers do not meet the required conditions stated in the customer loyalty 
programs at the end of the programs and hence, are not entitled to the free or discounted goods and services, the 
unearned revenue is realized into the income statement.

When customers meet all the required conditions and the Group is the one providing the free or discounted goods and 
services to customers, the unearned revenue is realized into the Group’s income statement at the time that obligations 
to customers are fulfilled, which means goods are delivered and services are rendered to customers.

When customers meet all the required conditions and obligations of providing the free or discounted goods and 
services to customers are carried out by a third party. If the Group does not act as an agent of the third party, the 
unearned revenue is realized into the Group’s income statement at the time that third party provides the free or 
discounted goods and services to customers. If the Group acts as an agent of the third party, the Group recognizes 
revenue for the difference between the unearned revenue amount and the amount payable to the third party for 
providing such free or discounted goods and services to customers. The amount paid to the third party is treated as 
the payment of the liability.

Foreign currencies 

Transactions arising in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transaction date. The 
balances of monetary items denominated in foreign currencies as at the balance sheet date are retranslated at 
the exchange rates on the same date. Exchange differences arising from the translation of these accounts are 
recognised in the income statement. 

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognized in the income statement in the year when incurred unless they are capitalised in 
accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standard No. 16 “Borrowing costs”. Accordingly, borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on 
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 
the cost of those assets. For specific borrowings for the purpose of construction of fixed assets and investment 
properties, borrowing costs are capitalized even when the construction period is under 12 months.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as 
reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years (including loss carried forward, if any) and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is recognized on significant differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit 
and is accounted for using balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the 
asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The determination of the tax currently payable is based on the current interpretation of tax regulations. However, 
these regulations are subject to periodic variation and their ultimate determination depends on the results of the 
tax authorities’ examinations.

Other taxes are applied in accordance with the prevailing tax laws in Vietnam.

Segmental reporting

A segment is a distinct business segment of the Group that provides a single product or service or a group of 
related products and services (product segment), or provides products and services within a particular economic 
environment (geographical segment). Each segment is subject to risks and returns that are different from others. 
The basic reportable segment of the Group is business segment.

Segment reporting is prepared and presented in accordance with accounting policies applied to the preparation 
and presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in order to help users of consolidated financial 
statements to understand and evaluate the operations of the Group in a comprehensive way.

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Closing balance 
VND

Opening balance  
VND

Cash on hand  27,969,606,758  20,721,551,877 

Bank demand deposits  47,360,689,304  67,721,263,770 

Cash equivalent (*)  505,301,369  461,334,400,938 

75,835,597,431 549,777,216,585 

(*) Cash equivalents represent term deposits at banks with the original maturity terms not exceeding 3 months.

5. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments include term deposits with the remaining term within 12 months from the time of 
Reporting and exclude held-to-maturity investments presented in the item “cash equivalents” in Note 4.

At as 31 December 2018, term deposits with maturity term over 3 months of VND 296,200,000,000 were pledged 
as collaterals for the short-term loans from the banks (Note 22), (as at 31 December 2017: VND 246,000,000,000).

Investments in associate and equity investments in other entities

 

Closing balance Opening balance

Cost  
VND

 Provision  
 VND

 Cost  
VND

Provision   
VND

Investments in associates  3,042,620,558 -  3,129,548,349 - 

Investments in others entities  27,908,170,200  (5,730,861,763) 27,908,170,200  (16,500,000,000)

 30,950,790,758 (5,730,861,763) 31,037,718,549 (16,500,000,000)

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, fair values of long-term equity investments in other entities were 
not available as there is no reference price in the market, except Cuu Long Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company 
whose shares are listed in Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange since 2008. Fair value of the Company’s investment in Cuu 
Long Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 was VND 65,973,600 
and VND 162,288,000, respectively.

Movements in the investment in associate during the current year and prior year were as follows:

 

 

Current year Prior year

 VND  VND

Opening balance  3,129,548,349  4,335,981,051

Share of losses  (86,927,791)  (1,206,432,702)

Closing balance  3,042,620,558  3,129,548,349

Equity investments in other entities

 
Closing balance Opening balance

 VND  VND

ATP Packaging Joint Stock Company  20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000

Becamex Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  4,286,800,000  4,286,800,000

Tra Vinh Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  2,575,315,200  2,575,315,200

Ninh Thuan Pharmaceutical & Medical Equipment 
Joint Stock Company

 796,675,000  796,675,000

Tay Ninh Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  221,960,000  221,960,000

Cuu Long Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  27,420,000  27,420,000

  27,908,170,200  27,908,170,200 

Provision balance as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 represented the provision for impairment of 
the investment in ATP Packaging Joint Stock Company (formerly known as Vinh Tuong High-Tech Packaging 
Corporation).

6. SHORT-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, short-term trade receivables only included receivables from the 
third parties; and there were no single short-term trade receivables accounting for 10% or more of total trade 
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7. OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Prepaid trade discounts  -  243,590,918

Accruals of interest income  46,266,887,751  27,502,424,293

Receivable from employees  5,715,446,761  7,443,741,219

Other receivables  3,635,953,385  9,541,616,794

55,618,287,897  44,731,373,224 

8. BAD DEBTS

 

Closing balance

Cost 
VND

Provision 
VND

Recoverable amount 
VND

Total amount of receivables and loans past 
due or not past due but impaired

 205,852,717,492  (34,571,714,247)  171,281,003,245

Opening balance

Cost 
VND

Provision 
VND

Recoverable amount 
VND

Total amount of receivables and loans past 
due or not past due but impaired

195,352,900,453 (21,712,831,939) 173,640,068,514

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, there was no single receivable accounting for 10% or more of total 
receivables past due or not past due but impaired .

Movements in the provision for doubtful debts during the current year and prior year werefollows:

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Opening balance 21,712,831,939 13,492,082,101 

Additional provision  12,865,960,026 8,220,749,838 

Reversal (7,077,718) -

Closing balance  34,571,714,247 21,712,831,939 

9. INVENTORIES

    

Closing balance Opening balance

Cost 
VND

Provision 
VND

Cost 
VND

Provision 
VND

Goods in transit  66,470,323,130 -  41,560,218,649 -

Raw materials  376,766,969,549 -  285,333,766,326  (1,320,277,628)

Work in progress  54,189,946,414 -  54,916,072,790 -

Finished goods  346,534,828,838 (814,326,232)  209,547,370,635  (1,135,878,551)

Merchandise  48,339,234,737 -  44,906,604,372 -

892,301,302,668  (814,326,232) 636,264,032,772 (2,456,156,179)

As presented in Note 22, the inventories with a value of VND300,000,000,000 as at 31 December 2018 (As at 31 
December 2017:Nil ) were used as collateral to secure short-term loans at banks.

Movements in the provision for devaluation of inventories during the current year and prior year were as follows:

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Opening balance  2,456,156,179  1,696,412,765 

Additional provision  -  759,743,414 

Used provision  (1,320,277,628)  - 

Reversal  (321,552,319)  - 

Closing balance  814,326,232 2,456,156,179 

10. PREPAYMENTS

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

a. Current

 - Prepayment related to operating lease  101,800,010  39,409,097 

 - Others  3,350,428,965  9,676,404,896 

 3,452,228,975  9,715,813,993 

b. Non-current

 - Prepaid land rental  10,367,868,894  10,713,316,530 

 - Tools and supplies issued for consumption  11,828,145,326  12,535,021,407 

 - Leasehold improvements  77,295,492  167,682,780 

 - Others  7,897,605,179  7,740,404,974 

 30,170,914,891  31,156,425,691 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

11. TAXES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FROM/PAYABLES TO THE STATE BUDGET 

Opening  
balance

Payable 
during the year

Refund 
during the year

Other decreases 
 during the year

Paid 
during the year

Closing 
 balance

VND VND VND VND VND VND

a. Receivables

Output value added tax  26,076,408 -  26,076,408 -  - -

Import value added tax  - - - -  3,713,591,537 3,713,591,537

Export, import duty  1,536,214,509 22,022,645,486 - - 21,412,827,454  926,396,477

Corporate income tax  156,686,546  88,214,504  68,472,042 -  10,504,843,481  10,504,843,481

Land rental fee  15,682,319 5,697,508,164 - -  5,697,508,164  15,682,319

Personal income tax  6,005,124,826 5,608,366,368  427,955,364  31,196,906  - -

7,739,784,608 33,416,734,522 522,503,814 31,196,906 41,328,770,636  15,160,513,814

b. Payables

Output value added tax  12,034,687,525 106,670,999,571 - -  105,206,180,453  13,499,506,643

Import value added tax  3,461,540 44,955,284,419 - -  44,958,745,959 -

Corporate income tax  10,993,648,506 55,244,435,783 - -  66,238,084,289 -

Land rental fee, land tax  -  58,278  - -  58,278 -

Personal income tax  581,886,130 33,442,397,837 - -  33,882,040,435  142,243,532

Other taxes  -  444,510,235  - -  444,510,235 -

23,613,683,701 240,757,686,123 - - 250,729,619,649  13,641,750,175

12. LONG-TERM LOAN RECEIVABLES

Long-term loan receivable represents interest-free loans granted to customers in accordance with the refundable 
capital support policy of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Buildings and structures Machinery and equipment Motor vehicles Office equipment Total

VND VND VND VND VND

COST

Opening balance 521,977,060,519 607,883,977,430 175,520,721,573 72,593,869,252 1,377,975,628,774

Additions 356,000,000 9,769,678,931  - 214,000,000 10,339,678,931

Transferred from construction in progress  5,739,819,927 25,096,931,348  6,406,807,089 541,879,833  37,785,438,197 

Disposals  (2,499,207,818) (1,377,709,041) (10,987,505,872) (61,999,090) (14,926,421,821)

Reclassification  - 3,071,480,190  -  (3,071,480,190)  - 

Transfer to investment property  (1,249,521,792) -  -  - (1,249,521,792)

Written-off  (1,015,321,601) (52,990,134,556)  (8,168,520,165) (46,580,890) (62,220,557,212)

Closing balance 523,308,829,235 591,454,224,302 162,771,502,625 70,169,688,915 1,347,704,245,077

 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Opening balance 156,131,798,226 270,643,388,060 108,205,741,276 57,785,323,488 592,766,251,050

Charge for the year 29,539,478,125 45,261,724,801 11,641,158,641 4,189,107,170 90,631,468,737

Disposals  (1,436,868,475) (1,377,709,041) (10,774,460,427) (40,025,633) (13,629,063,576)

Reclassification  - 2,437,266,312  -  (2,437,266,312) -

Transfer to investment property (942,512,339) -  -  - (942,512,339)

Written-off  (1,015,321,601) (52,990,134,556)  (8,168,520,165) (46,580,890) (62,220,557,212)

Closing balance 182,276,573,936 263,974,535,576 100,903,919,325 59,450,557,823 606,605,586,660

 

NET BOOK VALUE

Opening balance 365,845,262,293 337,240,589,370 67,314,980,297 14,808,545,764 785,209,377,724

Closing balance 341,032,255,299 327,479,688,726 61,867,583,300 10,719,131,092 741,098,658,417

As at 31 December 2018, the cost of the tangible fixed assets included VND 206,527,246,637 (as at 31 December 2017: 
VND 180,764,578,209) of assets which were fully depreciated but are still in active use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

Land use rights 
with indefinite term

Land use rights 
with definite term

Computer software Total 

 VND VND VND VND

COST        

Opening balance 95,158,560,046  159,056,771,791  15,631,533,205  269,846,865,042

Purchases -  -  30,466,800  30,466,800

Transferred from 
construction in progress

- 
 

- 
 

786,031,200 
 

 786,031,200 

Disposals -  (1,560,000,000) -  (1,560,000,000)

Write-off    (25,536,528) -   (25,536,528)

Closing balance 95,158,560,046 157,471,235,263 16,448,031,205 269,077,826,514

        

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION      

Opening balance -  18,721,194,492  9,335,544,649  28,056,739,141

Charge for the year  -  3,331,050,228  2,195,862,036  5,526,912,264

Write-off  -   (25,536,528)  -  (25,536,528)

Closing balance  -  22,026,708,192 11,531,406,685 33,558,114,877

        

NET BOOK VALUE        

Opening balance  95,158,560,046  140,335,577,299  6,295,988,556  241,790,125,901 

        

Closing balance  95,158,560,046  135,444,527,071  4,916,624,520  235,519,711,637 

As at 31 December 2018, the cost of intangible assets included VND 6,007,417,805 (as at 31 December 2017: VND 
5,861,257,805) of assets which were fully amortized but are still in active use.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Buildings

VND

COST

Opening balance  - 

Transfer from tangible fixed assets  1,249,521,792 

Closing balance  1,249,521,792 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Opening balance  - 

Transfer from tangible fixed assets  942,512,339 

Charge for the year  59,129,160 

Closing balance  1,001,641,499 

NET BOOK VALUE

Opening balance -

Closing balance 247,880,293

16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Construction of Branch DHG Pharmaceutical Plant at Hau 
Giang province

 11,746,318,768  11,596,485,312 

Copyrights in technology transfer and product development  1,143,281,604  - 

Construction of Gia Lai branch offices  623,948,774  623,948,774 

Counterpain product technology transfer project  202,029,350  - 

Repairing warehouses  145,077,537  - 

Raw materials for testing new machines  144,235,771  - 

Construction of effervescent tablets plant stage 2  83,100,000  - 

Construction of effervescent tablets plant stage 1  -  16,658,486,842 

Construction of Bac Lieu branch office  -  71,643,034 

Construction of department office  -  4,000,000 

Machinery and equipment  -  7,353,145,816 

 14,087,991,804  36,307,709,778 

Movement of construction in progress in the year:

Curent year Prior year

VND VND

Opening balance  36,307,709,778  17,160,871,337 

Purchases  30,475,107,864  56,940,741,775 

Transfer to tangible fixed assets (Note 13)  (37,785,438,197)  (32,717,262,432)

Transfer to intangible assets (Note 14) (786,031,200)  (2,930,291,720)

Transfer to prepaid expenses  (2,283,909,837)  (2,146,349,182)

Transfer to expense in the year  (11,839,446,604)  - 

Closing balance  14,087,991,804  36,307,709,778 

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The deferred tax assets mainly arises from deductible temporary differences relating to provisions and unrealized 
profits of intra-group transactions when consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. SHORT-TERM TRADE PAYABLES

 

 

Closing balance  

 

Opening balance

Amount 
VND

Amount able to 
be paid off 

VND

Amount 
VND

Amount able to 
be paid off 

VND

a. Trade payables to third parties 
trade payables

145,750,476,107 145,750,476,107 262,982,235,355  262,982,235,355 

Dsm Sinochem Pharmaceuticals 
Spain S.A

 20,246,688,000  20,246,688,000  -  - 

Dsm Sinochem Pharmaceuticals 
India PVT Ltd

 18,987,080,000  18,987,080,000  -  - 

Roquette Freres  15,258,076,053  15,258,076,053  5,988,853,245  5,988,853,245 

Develing Trade BV  4,450,801,628  4,450,801,628  36,157,842,392  36,157,842,392 

Truong Tin Pharmaceutical Co. 
Ltd.

 -  -  35,135,876,027  35,135,876,027 

Mega Lifesciences Co., Ltd.  -  -  33,450,431,047  33,450,431,047 

Nomura Trading Co., Ltd.  -  -  25,762,165,250  25,762,165,250 

Others  86,807,830,426  86,807,830,426  126,487,067,394  126,487,067,394 

b.Trade payables to subsidiaries 
and associate (Note 41)

 -  -  4,500,000  4,500,000 

145,750,476,107 145,750,476,107 262,986,735,355  262,986,735,355 

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any short-term trade payables past due. 

19. SHORT-TERM ACCRUED EXPENSES

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Market research expenses  -  10,429,270,479 

Settlement discount expenses  6,553,611,056  8,261,692,934 

Marketing and customer care expenses  94,419,309  6,660,719,815 

Interest expense  471,120,010  452,849,861 

Other accruals  32,932,965,351  24,613,586,172 

 40,052,115,726  50,418,119,261 

20. SHORT-TERM UNEARNED REVENUE

Short-term unearned revenue represents the unearned revenue for customer loyalty programs (as presented in 
Note 3).

21. OTHER SHORT-TERM PAYABLES

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Insurance and union fee  638,977,697  800,645,116 

Dividends payable  -  196,119,106,500 

Others  1,365,216,056  7,163,738,867 

 2,004,193,753  204,083,490,483 

22. SHORT-TERM LOANS

Movements in the short-term loans during the current year were as follows:

Opening balance During the year Closing balance 

Amount 
VND

Increases  
VND

Decreases  
VND

Amount  
VND

Loans from banks  469,800,000,000  2,851,557,133,423 2,763,455,806,004  557,901,327,419 

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam  
- Can Tho Branch

 500,848,825,994  59,800,000,000

Sai Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank  
- Can Tho Branch

 30,000,000,000 -

Saigon Hanoi Commercial Joint Stock Bank  
- Can Tho Branch

 20,000,000,000 -

Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank 
 - Can Tho Branch

 7,052,501,425 -

Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Industry and Trade 
 - Can Tho Branch

-  410,000,000,000

  557,901,327,419  469,800,000,000

Short-term loans form the banks represent the loans from:

• Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam - Can Tho Branch with a maximum credit limit 
of VND 700,000,000,000. The loan can be drawn in Vietnam Dong and will expire on 28 February 2019. The 
duration for each withdrawal is from 3 months to 4 months from the effective day of the loan contract. The 
loan is secured by term deposits, as presented in Note 5.

• Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank - Can Tho Branch with a maximum credit limit of VND 300,000,000,000. 
The loan can be drawn in Vietnam Dong and will expire on 24 May 2019. The loans is secured by inventories, as 
presented in Note 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22. SHORT-TERM LOANS (continued)

• Saigon Hanoi Commercial Joint Stock Bank - Can Tho Branch with a maximum credit limit of VND 20,000,000,000. 
The loan can be drawn in Vietnam Dong and will expire on 3 March 2019. The loan is secured by term deposits, 
as presented in Note 5.

• Sai Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank - Can Tho Branch with a maximum credit limit of VND 
30,000,000,000. The loan can be drawn in Vietnam Dong and will expire on 27 February 2019. The loan is 
secured by term deposits, as presented in Note 5.

•  These loans bear interests at the rates ranging from 0.23% per month to 0.69% per month (as at 31 December 
2017: from 0.32% per month to 0.42% per month).

23. BONUS AND WELFARE FUNDS

The funds are established through appropriation from retained earnings upon approval of shareholders at the 
Company’s Annual General Meetings (“AGM”). Bonus and welfare funds of the subsidiaries are established from 
retained earnings upon decision from the Board of Management of the Company. The funds are used to pay 
bonus and welfare to the Group’s employees in accordance with the Group’s bonus and welfare policies and to 
pay bonus to the Board of Management in accordance with the Company’s AGM Resolution.

Movements of bonus and welfare funds during the year were as follows:

 

 Bonus and 
welfare fund 

 Bonus fund for 
Board of 

Management 

 Welfare fund in 
form of assets

 Total 

VND VND VND VND

Opening balance  34,770,345,726  7,902,745,368 20,285,705,306  62,958,796,400 

Appropriation to the funds 
(Note 26)

 63,169,294,111  6,472,934,796 - 69,642,228,907

    

Assets formed from funds (338,721,111)  -  338,721,111  - 

Depreciation of assets 
formed from funds

 -  -  (3,008,716,581)
 

(3,008,716,581)

Utilization of funds (79,840,399,626) (6,392,027,726) -  (86,232,427,352)

Closing balance  17,760,519,100 7,983,652,438 17,615,709,836  43,359,881,374 

24. LONG-TERM PROVISIONS

Provision for  
dismantling

and restoration 
costs

Severance  
allowance

Total 

VND VND VND

Opening balance  11,564,358,036 26,822,108,383  38,386,466,419 

Additional provision/ (reversal) for the year  3,970,878,725 (1,091,938,738)  2,878,939,987 

Utilisation of provisions - (1,511,714,004)  (1,511,714,004)

Closing balance  15,535,236,761  24,218,455,641  39,753,692,402 

 
25. SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT FUNDS 

In accordance with Circular No. 12/2016/TTLT-BKHCN-BTC dated 28 June 2016, enterprises are allowed to 
establish the scientific and technological development fund for research and development activities. Funds are 
utilized when disbursement are paid for research and development activities.

Movements of scientific and technological development funds during the year were as follows:

Scientific and technological
development fund in form of assets

VND

Opening balance  25,062,281,176 

Depreciation of assets formed from funds  (4,601,334,003)

Closing balance  20,460,947,173 
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26. OWNER’S EQUITY

Movement in owner’s equity 

Owner’s contributed 
capital

Share premium Investment and development fund Retained earnings Total

VND VND VND VND VND

Prior year’s opening balance  871,643,300,000  6,778,948,000  1,220,561,708,767  736,638,702,184  2,835,622,658,951 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  642,407,977,142  642,407,977,142 

Bonus share issued  435,817,410,000  -  (435,817,410,000)  -  - 

Dividends declared for 2016  -  -  -  (305,075,155,000)  (305,075,155,000)

First interim dividends declared for 2017 at 10%  -  -  -  (130,746,071,000)  (130,746,071,000)

Second interim dividends declared for 2017 at 15%  -  -  -  (196,119,106,500)  (196,119,106,500)

Appropriation to bonus fund for the Board of 
Management

 -  -  -  (14,660,275,620)  (14,660,275,620)

Fund distribution  -  -  310,436,650,781  (310,436,650,781)  - 

Appropriation to bonus and welfare funds
 
- 

 -  -  -  (85,678,223,316)  (85,678,223,316)

Changes in interest due to increase of its investment 
capital in Song Hau Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

 -  -  16,996,367,562  (15,324,900,367) 1,671,467,195 

Current year’s opening balance 1,307,460,710,000  6,778,948,000  1,112,177,317,110  321,006,296,742  2,747,423,271,852 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  653,029,446,317  653,029,446,317 

Dividends declared for 2017  -  -  -  (65,373,035,500)  (65,373,035,500)

First interim dividends advance for 2018  -  -  -  (130,746,071,000)  (130,746,071,000)

Fund distribution  -  -  157,918,391,319  (157,918,391,319)  - 

Appropriation to bonus fund for the Board of 
Management

 -  -  -  (6,472,934,796)  (6,472,934,796)

Appropriation to bonus and welfare funds  -  -  -  (63,169,294,111)  (63,169,294,111)

Changes in interest due to increase of its investment 
capital in Song Hau Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

 -  -  139,887,799  (103,356,911)  36,530,888 

Current year’s closing balance 1,307,460,710,000  6,778,948,000  1,270,235,596,228  550,252,659,422  3,134,727,913,650 
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26. OWNER’S EQUITY (continued)

Charter capital

According to the amended business registration certificate, the Company’s charter capital is VND 1,307,460,710,000. 
The value and number of shares of the Company are as follows:

Closing balance Opening balance

Number of shares  VND Number of shares  VND

Authorized and issued 
share capital

 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000

Ordinary shares 
currently in circulation

 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000  130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000

       
Movement in share capital during the year were as follows:      

Current year
 

Prior year

Number of shares  VND Number of shares  VND

Opening balance  130,746,071  1,307,460,710,000  87,164,330  871,643,300,000 

Bonus shares issued  -  - 43,581,741  435,817,410,000 

Closing balance 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000 

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND 10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at shareholders’ meetings. 
Shareholders are eligible to receive dividends declared by the Company. Ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard 
to the Company’s residual assets. 

Dividends

According to Resolution of the Company’s Annual General Meeting No. 001/2018/NQ-ĐHĐCĐ dated 28 March 2018, 
the shareholders of the Company approved declaration plan of dividends from profit after tax of 2017 of 30% in cash, 
equivalent to VND 392,238,213,000. In 2017, the Company made advance for the first time at 10% of par value with the 
total amount of VND 130,746,071,000. On 25 January 2018 and 9 May 2018, the Company paid remaining dividend with 
a total amount of VND 196,119,106,500 and VND 65,373,035,500, respectively.

According to Resolution of the Company’s Annual General Meeting No. 011/2018/NQ.HĐQT dated 14 July 2018, the 
advance was made for the first time in 2018 at 10% par value equivalent to VND 130,746,071,000 and was paid on 31 
August 2018.

27. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Opening balance  11,671,141,968  34,160,248,863 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests  (1,940,415,499)  (18,665,378)

Dividends paid  -  (735,000,000)

Appropriation to the bonus fund for
the Board of Management

 -  (176,198,933)

Appropriation to bonus and welfare funds  -  (447,775,389)

Changes in interests due to transferring investments  (196,530,888)  (21,111,467,195)

Closing balance  9,534,195,581  11,671,141,968 

28. OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following foreign currencies: 

Closing balance Opening balance

United states Dollar (USD)  239,703  651,982 

Euro (EUR)  34,833  5,646 

29. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The primary format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise assets and liabilities, financial income and expenses, selling 
expenses, general and administration expenses, other income or other expenses, and corporate income tax.

Business segments

In presenting information on the basis of product segments, segment revenue is disclosed for pharmaceutical 
products, functional foods and others.

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Net sales

Pharmaceutical products  3,313,372,658,190  3,343,577,175,377 

Functional foods  377,747,888,070  378,846,948,365 

Others  191,007,663,451  340,329,340,753 

 3,882,128,209,711 4,062,753,464,495 

Cost of goods sold and services rendered

Pharmaceutical products  (1,808,366,453,817)  (1,843,075,147,436)

Functional foods  (210,378,841,770)  (224,960,245,426)

Others  (146,659,729,493)  (211,602,523,587)

 (2,165,405,025,080)  (2,279,637,916,449)

Gross profit

Pharmaceutical products  1,505,006,204,373  1,500,502,027,941 

Functional foods  167,369,046,300  153,886,702,939 

Others  44,347,933,958  128,726,817,166 

 1,716,723,184,631  1,783,115,548,046 
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30. NET REVENUE OF GOODS SOLD AND SERVICES RENDERED

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Sales of merchandise and services

Sales of finished goods  3,697,829,058,032  3,533,519,681,783 

Sales of merchandise 704,779,329,679  977,679,844,675 

Others 18,951,506,721  57,814,483,748 

 4,421,559,894,432  4,569,014,010,206 

Deductions

Sales discounts  (532,732,767,227)  (493,892,478,558)

Sales returns (6,698,917,494)  (12,368,067,153)

 (539,431,684,721)  (506,260,545,711)

Net sales

In which:
Sales of finished goods  3,171,187,626,750  3,053,877,958,826 

Sales of merchandises  691,989,076,240  951,061,021,921 

Others  18,951,506,721  57,814,483,748 

 3,882,128,209,711  4,062,753,464,495 

31. COST OF GOODS SOLD AND SERVICES RENDERED

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Cost of finished goods sold  1,498,942,529,432  1,365,666,336,398 

Cost of merchandise sold 663,209,443,293  900,526,104,705 

Cost of services rendered 3,574,604,674  12,685,731,932 

Provision for inventory devaluation  (321,552,319)  759,743,414 

 2,165,405,025,080  2,279,637,916,449 

32. PRODUCTION AND OPERATING COSTS BY NATURE

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Raw materials and consumables  1,982,456,539,598  1,909,463,543,610 

Labour  852,365,897,180  855,075,780,980 

Depreciation and amortisation  87,857,894,079  91,343,474,099 

Out-sourced services  188,939,360,980  189,577,870,958 

Other monetary expenses  268,524,705,325  277,583,371,236 

 3,380,144,397,162 3,323,044,040,883 

33. FINANCIAL INCOME

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Bank and loan interest  104,266,241,086  81,400,481,744 

Interest from liquidation of investments in subsidiaries  -  3,992,308,108 

Dividends and profits received  323,341,080  189,730,364 

Foreign exchange gain 3,195,444,790  3,197,172,062 

 107,785,026,956  88,779,692,278 

34. FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Interest expense  28,523,706,808  24,541,141,037 

Settlement discount  70,935,042,222  68,749,374,613 

Foreign exchange loss  7,251,272,759  4,273,238,405 

Provision for impairment of investments  (10,769,138,237)  - 

Other financial expenses  113,108,941  120,929,854 

 96,053,992,493  97,684,683,909 

35. SELLING AND GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Current year Prior year

VND VND

a. Selling expenses

 - Advertising expenses  131,526,936,415  152,591,701,912 

 - Staff cost  376,492,304,101  355,449,954,624 

 - Others  216,865,719,132  224,043,627,962 

 724,884,959,648  732,085,284,498 

b. General and administration expenses 

 - Staff cost  202,608,495,908  244,848,095,072 

 - Others  83,028,736,703  73,537,428,683 

 285,637,232,611  318,385,523,755 

36. OTHER INCOME

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Sale, disposal of fixed assets 6,980,017,626  2,081,319,802 

Income from transferring product manufacturing technology 1,295,959,553  - 

Others 9,933,869,086  4,675,494,336 

 18,209,846,265  6,756,814,138 
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38. CURRENT CORPORATE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Profit before tax  731,782,427,552  719,249,119,395 

Tax calculated at a normal rate of 20%  146,356,485,510  143,849,823,879 

Adjustments for:

Non-assessable income (64,688,566)  (60,631,939)

Add back: non-deductible expenses  4,835,279,285  5,107,379,879 

Deferred income tax asset of provision  855,293,179  735,245,491 

Under provision of tax in the prior year  20,203,562  206,090,674 

Tax incentives  (100,873,547,384)  (164,038,711,079)

Adjustments for consolidation  12,312,032,058  (700,552,642)

Corporate income tax before applying the market profit 
margin on related party transactions

 63,441,057,644  (14,901,355,737)

Increase in corporate income tax by applying the market 
profit margin on related party transactions

 17,252,339,090  91,761,163,368 

Corporate income tax expense after adjustment  80,693,396,734  76,859,807,631 

Charge/(credit) to the income statement:

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Corporate income tax expense based on taxable income in 
the current year

 55,332,650,287  77,572,213,560

Adjustment of corporate income tax expense in the prior 
years to the corporate income tax expense in the current 
year

 25,360,746,447  (712,405,929)

Current corporate income tax expense  80,693,396,734  76,859,807,631

The corporate income tax expense for the year is estimated based on taxable income and is subject to adjustments 
upon review of the Tax Authority.

Applicable tax rates

According to Circular No. 78/2014/TT-BTC, the standard corporate income tax is 22% since 1 January 2014 and is 
decreased to 20% since 1 January 2018.

37. OTHER EXPENSES

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Fines and penalties as results of tax audit  -  6,310,525,691 

Others  4,272,517,757  3,730,484,512 

 4,272,517,757  10,041,010,203 

Except for DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company, DHG Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company which are entitled to tax incentives, the Company and other subsidiaries in the Group is obliged 
to pay corporate income tax at the rate of 20% (2017: 20%) of its taxable income.

DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company (“DHG Packaging and Printing 1”)

Pursuant to the investment certificate, DHG Packaging and Printing 1 is obliged to pay corporate income tax 
at the rate of 10% of taxable income from 2014 to 2028. Under terms in investment certificate granted to DHG 
Packaging and Printing 1, DHG Packaging and Printing 1 is entitled to corporate income tax exemption from 2014 
to 2017 and 50% reduction of corporate income tax from 2018 to 2026.

DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company (“DHG One Member Pharma”)

Pursuant to investment certificate No. 642041000005 issued by the Management Board of Hau Giang Industrial 
Zone, DHG One Member Pharma is obliged to pay corporate income tax at the rate of 10% of taxable income for 
15 years from the date of starting its operation. DHG One Member Pharma is entitled to the corporate income tax 
exemption for 4 years and 50% reduction for the following 9 years commencing from the first year of having taxable 
income. DHG One Member Pharma has registered to the tax department of Hau Giang province to apply the above 
tax incentives effective from the financial year 2015.

In the first quarter of 2018, DHG Packaging and Printing 1 and DHG One Member Pharma were still subsidiaries of 
the Company and received tax incentives. The Company calculated and adjusted additional corporate income 
tax for the first quarter based on profit margin of 8.17% on revenue during the time when DHG Packaging and 
Printing 1 and DHG One Member Pharma separately operate and have not merged into the Company.

39. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

a. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders after deducting the 
bonus and welfare funds by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding 
ordinary shares repurchased by the Group and held as treasury shares.

Current year
Prior year 
(Restated)

VND VND

Accounting profit after corporate income tax  653,029,446,317  642,407,977,142 

Appropriation to fund (*)  (71,834,018,091)  (70,050,228,907)

Profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders  581,195,428,226  572,357,748,235

Average ordinary shares in circulation for the year  130,746,071  130,746,071

Basic earnings per share  4,445  4,378 

(*) According to the Resolution of the Company’s Annual General Meeting No. 011/2018/NQ.HĐQT, the 
appropriation for bonus and welfare funds for 2018 based on planned appropriation rate for bonus and welfare 
funds is 10% 

b. Diluted earnings per share

The Group does not have potentially ordinary shares.
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40. COMMITMENTS

a. Operating lease commitment

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Minimum lease payment under operating leases recognized 
in the consolidated income statement for the year

 5,466,649,543  5,589,603,411 

At the consolidated balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Within one year  5,422,028,378  5,422,028,378 

In the second to fifth year inclusive  21,688,113,512  21,688,113,512 

After five years  110,234,387,865  115,731,722,192 

 137,344,529,755  142,841,864,082 

b. Capital commitment

Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements is as follows:

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Approved but not contracted  6,412,563,066  18,727,173,322 

Approved and contracted but not implemented  4,763,046,095  10,326,337,676 

 11,175,609,161  29,053,510,998 

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related party Relationship

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company Associate

The State Capital Investment Corporation ("SCIC") Major shareholder

Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Major shareholder

The largest shareholder of the Group is the State Capital Investment Corporation (“SCIC”) which owns 43.31% of 
the Company’s share capital. SCIC is controlled by the Government of S.R Vietnam.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Purchases

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company 650,406,800  2,443,371,600 

Dividend declared

SCIC  169,878,711,000  188,754,124,500 

Taisho Pharmaceutical Co.,Ltd  96,518,288,000  106,520,320,000 

Related party balances at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Closing balance Opening balance

VND VND

Short-term trade payables

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company  -  4,500,000 

Remuneration paid to the Company’s the Board of Management and the Board of General Directors during the 
year was as follows:

Current year Prior year

VND VND

Salary and benefits  21,158,862,663  17,749,263,439 

42. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Current year Prior year

VND VND

a. Non-cash transaction affecting the consolidated cash 
flow statement

Appropriation to reserves from profit  227,560,620,226  410,775,149,717 

Transfer from construction in progress 
to tangible fixed assets

 37,785,438,197  32,717,262,432

Transfer from construction in progress 
to intangible assets

 786,031,200  2,930,291,720

Transfer from construction in progress 
to prepaid expenses

 2,283,909,837  2,146,349,182

Interest earned and dividends which have not been received  46,266,887,751  27,502,424,293 

Other non-cash transactions  -  435,817,410,000 

b. Proceed from borrowings

Proceed from borrowings under normal contracts  2,851,557,133,423  2,516,213,007,337 

c. Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of borrowings under normal contract  2,763,455,806,004  2,401,178,435,800 

_______________________  _____________________  ________________________
Tran Ngoc Hien    Ho Buu Huan   Le Chanh Dao
Preparer     Chief Accountant   Deputy General Director
         18 March 2019
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NO. NAME ADDRESS TEL  FAX

1 Vi Thanh 82 Le Quy Don street, Area 1, 
Ward 3, Vi Thanh City, Hau Giang. 0293. 3876 409 0293.3580 432

2 Ca Mau 5 - 7 Street 14, Ward 5, Ca Mau City, Ca Mau 0290 3831 908 0290 3811 587

3 Kien Giang G08-G09 Huynh Thuc Khang str., 
Vinh Quang Ward, Rach Gia City, Kien Giang 0297. 3867 625 0297.3946 344

4 Dong Thap 14 Nguyen Van Troi str., Ward 2,  
Cao Lanh City, Dong Thap 0277. 3854 837 0277.3854 837

5 Soc Trang 649 Tran Hung Dao str., Cluster 8, Ward 3, 
Soc Trang City, Soc Trang 0299. 3625 151 0299.3625 150

6 An Giang 288 Pham Cu Luong str., Tan Phu Cluster, 
My Quy Ward, Long Xuyen City, An Giang 0296. 3841 438 0296.3944 664

7 Tien Giang 463A Nguyen Thi Thap str., 
Ward 6, My Tho City, Tien Giang 0273. 6255 177 0273.6255 176

8 Can Tho 13 Cach Mang Thang 8 str., An Thoi Ward, 
Binh Thuy Dist., Cantho City 0292. 6253 579 0292.6253 539

9 Bac Lieu 67 Nguyen Thi Dinh str., Cluster 10, Ward 1, 
Bac Lieu City. 0291. 3822 290 0291.3956 156

10 Ben Tre 34D, Street 3, My Tan Quarter, 
Ward 7, Ben Tre City, Ben Tre 0275. 381.8529 0275.381.8529

11 Vinh Long 327C/23 Phuoc Nguon A Hamlet, 
Phuoc Hau Village, Long Ho Dist., Vinh Long 0270.385.3179 0270.3853 179

12 Tra Vinh 77A Nguyen Dang str., Cluster 1, 
Ward 7, Tra Vinh City, Tra Vinh 0294. 3850 950 0294.3850 950

13 Ha Noi Apartment N2 - 10, 89 Nguyen Van Troi str., 
Phuong Liet Ward, Thanh Xuan Dist., Ha No 024. 36687 064 024.36648 272

14 Hai Phong 91B Mang str., An Dong, 
An Duong Dist., Hai Phong City. 0225. 391 3638 0225.391 3839

15 Hai Duong 229 Bui Thi Xuan str., Hai Tan Ward, 
Hai Duong City, Hai Duong 0220. 3550 079 0220.3550 039

16 Nam Dinh 123 - 125 Truong Han Sieu str., 
Hoa Vuong Quarter, Nam Dinh City, Nam Dinh 0228 3677 301 0228 3682 347

17 Thai Binh Lot 243 m2 Group 34, Tran Lam Ward, 
Thai Binh City, Thai Binh 0227. 3847 231 0227.3641 433

18 Bac Ninh 39 Ly Dao Thanh str., Ninh Xa Ward, 
Bac Ninh City, Bac Ninh 0222. 3812 281 0222.3812 281

NO. NAME ADDRESS TEL  FAX

19 Vinh Phuc 189 Phan Chu Trinh str., Khai Quang Ward, 
Vinh Yen City, Vinh Phuc. 0211. 3860 088 0211.3721 052

20 Ninh Binh Resettlement zone of Electric factory, Trung Son str., 
Bich Dao Ward, Ninh Binh City, Ninh Binh 0229. 3896 772 0229.3899 884

21 Thai Nguyen 91 - 93 Nguyen Thai Hoc str., Tuc Duyen Ward, 
Thai Nguyen City, Thai Nguyen. 0208. 3652 299 0208.3652 209

22 Thanh Hoa Lot 461 of Resettlement zone of Dong Tay avenue, 
Dong Ve Ward, Thanh Hoa City, Thanh Hoa 0237. 3853 120 0237.37222 213

23 Nghe An No. 06, 146B Hamlet, Nguyen Sy Sach str., 
Hung Phuc Ward, Vinh City, Nghe An 0238. 3843 015 0238.3523 363

24 Hue 153A Pham Van Dong str., Vy Da Ward, 
Hue City, Thua Thien Hue. 0234. 3813 479 0234.3816 084

25 Da Nang 36-38 Trinh Dinh Thao str., Khue Trung Ward, 
Cam Le District, Da Nang 0236. 2242 406 0236.6257 008

26 Quang Ngai 09 Le Thanh Ton str., Nghia Chanh Ward, 
Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai 0255. 3823 266 0255.3831 357

27 Binh Dinh Lot 1, Street 3, Bac Song Ha Thanh Area,  
Quy Nhon City, Binh Dinh 0256. 3793 768 0256.3791 768

28 Gia Lai 179B CMT8 str., Group 10, Hoa Lu Ward, 
Pleiku City, Gia Lai 0269 3887 071 0269 3887 080

29 DakLak 23A Cong Quynh str., Tan An Ward, 
Buon Ma Thuot City, DakLak 0262. 3851 175 0262.3843 084

30 Nha Trang 10A Me Linh str., Phuoc Tien Ward, 
Nha Trang City, Khanh Hoa 0258. 3513 137 0258.3513 217

31 Binh Thuan 103 Phu Khanh Hamlet, 
Ham Thuan Nam Village, Binh Thuan 0252. 2220 879 0252.3898 050

32 Dong Nai 73 - 78 Group 7, Vo Thi Sau str., 
Thong Nhat Ward, Bien Hoa City, Dong Nai 0251. 3825 167 0251.3819 161

33 Binh Duong Lot 32 - 33 D11 str., Chanh Nghia urban area, 
Chanh Nghia Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, Binh Duong 0274. 3897 316 0274.3842 351

34 Vung Tau 60 Nguyen Manh Ky str., Long Toan Ward, 
Ba Ria Town, Ba Ria - Vung Tau 0254. 3741 888 0254.3741 968

35 Tay Ninh D2 Street 01, Binh Hoa Hamlet, Thai Binh Ward, 
Chau Thanh Dist., Tay Ninh City 0276. 6272 057 0276.6272 075

36 Ho Chi Minh 37 Street 53, Quarter 2, Tan Quy Dong residential 
zone, Tan Phong Ward, District 7, Ho Chi Minh City 028. 3771 8799 028.3771 8779
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 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu Street, An Hoa Ward, 
 Ninh Kieu District, Cantho City

 (+84) (292) 3891 433
 (+84) (292) 3895 209
 dhgpharma@dhgpharma.com.vn
 www.dhgpharma.com.vn


